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Chief Executive Officer’s Statement
1T AR B

I am delighted to report that the financial performance of
Tai United Holdings Limited (“Company”), together with its
subsidiaries, (“Group”) improved significantly as the consolidated
net loss for the year ended 31 December 2019 reduced 55.4%
to HK$246.8 million, exceed management expectations amid
challenging market conditions during the year.

Following the rocky year of 2018, 2019 has been another tough
and difficult year, in terms of unpredictability and volatility, for
market participants in various investment markets across the
globe. Uncertainties faced by investors and entrepreneurs included
global politics ranged from the possible impeachment of the
president of the United States (“US"), economic conflicts between
the world’s two largest national economies, to Brexit delays and
another United Kingdom (“UK") general election. Continuing to
adopt a prudent investment approach in response to these global
uncertainties, the Group has suppressed the negative impacts of
the economic headwinds to a reasonable level and successfully
reshuffled the asset portfolio by disposing high risk assets to
prevent possible future substantial loss. The financial positions
of the Group are therefore maintained healthily with enhanced
corporate resilience to any unexpected downturn, while reserving
sufficient internal resources for future investment opportunities.

On behalf of the board of directors (“Board” or “Directors”)
of the Company, | would like to express gratitude to our staff
members, our management team and my fellow Directors for their
dedication and effort made to the Group throughout the year. |
also thank our shareholders, customers, suppliers and business
partners for their continuous support.

Kwong Kai Sing Benny
Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 27 March 2020
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Management Discussion and Analysis

B E W AT

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the revenue and the net
investment losses of the Group were approximately HK$26.5
million and HK$0.6million, down by 99.4% and 99.7% when
compared to approximately HK$4,314.2 million and approximately
HK$186.3 million for the last year respectively, as the management
of the Company (“Management”) has adopted a more prudent
approach in identifying investment opportunities and conducting
the Group’s business in light of the unfavourable macro-economic
environment.

Globally speaking, the economic growth has been, undeniably,
weakening and this has resulted in the Management adopting a
more prudent approach in identifying investment opportunities
since the financial year of 2018. In particular, the UK suffered
from the prolonged uncertainty over the actual Brexit timetable,
the mounting fears over the impact of no-deal Brexit undermined
investors’ confidence on the property market in the UK.
Meanwhile, financial performance of both the People’s Republic of
China (“PRC” or “China”) and Hong Kong was greatly affected
by the elevated US-Mainland trade tensions. The economy of
Hong Kong was further worsened abruptly and recorded sharp
contractions in the second half of 2019 by reason of the consistent
and prolonged social unrest. According to the statistics provided
by the Hong Kong government, Hong Kong's economy contracted
by 1.2% for 2019 as a whole, it was the first annual decline since
20009.

Under such circumstances, the Directors are of the view that
to maintain financially sound does not only offer a good buffer
against any potential crisis during the economic downturn but also
prepares the Group to take advantage of emerging opportunities.

Thanks to the adoption of defensive stance in our assets portfolio
positioning under trade friction and successful implementation of
cost reduction program which significantly reducing various costs
including employee benefits expenses, other operating expenses
and finance costs, the Group has recorded a substantial decrease
in loss attributable to owners of the Company from approximately
HK$553.2 million for the last year to approximately HK$246.4
million for the year under review. The Group’s basic loss per share
for the year ended 31 December 2019 was narrowed to 4.69 HK
cents (2018: loss per share of 10.54 HK cents).

Tai United Holdings Limited Annual Report 2019

MERR

BHE_Z—NAF+-_A=+—RHLFE X5E
Ml RIEEBEEFRENA2658 85T Kk06
BEBT PRlREFNNL3142BEBTRY
186.3 A BB TL 2 99.4% [ 99.7% » Itk JTh A AR
AREEE ([BEE]) ARTHERBLCEREM
FREMBESEAAYCRERBREAEAEER
ETEFE -

MBI BUOREERRRES  SHEEE
B N\FHBRFEERREMNBEITENY
BREKBE - LER REEXTERRBEBEK
HEROEMTEEE  AMYEGZERBRNE
BHRBERN B TREEHEBEEBEDS
MEL R REARKMBE (HE)) REE
MM B EELR I ZBEENEE S RERRBE MNE
MEE ARKETHNLEEE  FERKHEE
—SE2BBL YR =T NAETELELRZE
WiE - REBEEEBRFRENGBIE  EELE
EEEA_Z-NFURAET12%  RE-_ZZN
FURMNBERFETE -

EZEBAT EZRR/ERVBRETEAR
RERHRNEREEERERRFEE B
1B RS B AR AR RO # B T 1S 2B 25 M 4F 24 -

TERESERTAREEREAS EMNHEIUR
SF SR B IR T B e B AR B R AT B T oK e R A & 18
A (BERERMAY - &M RMEK
) AEBBEBAAREAEAREBEREEFS
BHSE32EER TARBRLEROEFENLY
06 45BET - AEBEREBEE_T—NF+=A
—t+-HLEFENEREABEBREZ4695
ZT—N\F : GIREIE10.541) o



Management Discussion and Analysis

EIE HTFIFFE& 1‘)?

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business segments of the Group are comprised of (i) financial
services and asset management; (ii) commodity and medical
equipment trading; (iii) property investment; and (iv) mining and
exploitation of natural resources.

(1) Financial Services and Asset Management

Financial Services

In late 2016, a subsidiary of the Company had invested
in a segregated portfolio of a fund portfolio company
(“Fund”). The major revenue contribution in financial services
business was the effective interest income from a loan note
investment by the Fund, which, for accounting purpose,
had been consolidated into the Group’s financial statements
over the last two years. Details of which were set out in the
Company’'s announcement dated 15 December 2016 and the
Company’s annual reports for the year ended 31 December
2017 and 2018.

Since such loan note receivable was fully redeemed in 2018,
no effective interest income was recorded as revenue during
the year ended 31 December 2019. The respective income
for the year ended 31 December 2018 was approximately
HK$130.6 million. Nevertheless, the Group recorded
approximately HK$23.6 million profit in this business, which
was attributed to a final redemption proceeds receiving from
the Fund for the year under review whereas approximately
HK$85.7 million profit was recorded for the last year.

As all the loan notes have been redeemed in full and there
is no more interest income receivable by the Company,
the Directors are currently considering to engage in money
lending business. During economic downturn, the demand
for loans/credit facility is expected to increase as individuals
and corporations would face increasing liquidity needs.
Various banks in Hong Kong have been offering liquidity
support amid coronavirus disease (“COVID-19") by allowing
mortgage borrowers and small businesses facing financial
burdens to pay only interest on their loans for up to a year.
To seize this opportunity, the Company intends to develop
the money lending business by providing the secured or
unsecured loans to both individual and corporate credit-
worthy clients. A money lender’s licence will be applied for,
hopefully the money lending business of the Group may
commence in 2020.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

(1) Financial Services and Asset Management

(Continued)
Distressed Debt Assets Management

The Group’s onshore professional team has been proactively
tapping into the value gap of distressed debt assets in the
PRC, building up various investment channels and acquired
quality distressed bank loan portfolio strategically through
public tenders, in a bid to maximise its overall revenues by
integrating features of individual debtor and collaterals for
different disposal methods.

In 2019, the distressed debt assets market has grown
significantly as outstanding non-performing loans of China’s
commercial banks reached RMB2.41 trillion by the end of
the fourth quarter of 2019, according to the China Banking
and Insurance Regulatory Commission. Besides the big four
asset management companies established in the 1990s to
participate in this growing market, considerable number
of provincial level licensed distressed asset management
companies were established in the last three years. Rapid
growth in the number of local asset management companies
has brought keen competition into this market, and thus
lower the profit margin. At the same time, the risk in the
distressed debt assets market has gradually increased as
China’s economy grew by 6.1 per cent in 2019, the lowest
annual growth rate for twenty nine years, according to the
National Bureau of Statistics. Under the impacts of decreasing
margin and increasing investment risk, potential distressed
assets projects sourcing by the professional team may not be
considered commercially viable.

Beginning in 2018, the Group has been reshuffling the
investment portfolios of and realised certain capital gain from
its various investments including distressed debt assets, with
a view to maximizing the returns to the shareholders of the
Company (“Shareholders”) and carrying out better risk
management. Since the commencement of the distressed
debt assets management business in April 2016, the Group
has recovered from the sale of distressed debt assets
investment in the aggregate of approximately HK$1,265.9
million for the nine months ended 31 December 2016 and
for the year ended 31 December 2017 and 2018 (" Previous
Three Financial Years”). Notwithstanding that the
performance of this business was satisfactory in the Previous
Three Financial Years, the macro-economic environment in
midst of the trade war has becoming increasingly uncertain.
Accordingly, the Board considers that such disposals of the
distressed debt assets offer a prime opportunity for the Group
to realise the value in those assets and restore the financial
position of the Group in a timely and appropriate manner.

Tai United Holdings Limited Annual Report 2019
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BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

(1) Financial Services and Asset Management

(Continued)

Distressed Debt Assets Management (Continued)

Against the backdrop of increasing competition in the
distressed debt asset management industry and uncertain
market conditions as a result of the continuous trade dispute
between the PRC and the US, the Group has disposed of
all of its distressed debt assets held as at 31 December
2018 in the year of 2019 and held no distressed debt assets
measured at fair value as at 31 December 2019, as compared
to approximately HK$10.2 million at the end of last year. It
was the result of the continuous execution of the investment
strategy adopted in last year amid trade dispute between US
and the PRC, with an aim to maximising the returns to the
Shareholders and carrying out better risk management, by
reshuffling the investment portfolios of and realised capital
gain from its various investments or mitigating risks attached
to certain specific type of asset.

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group recorded
no net investment gain or loss in this business, comparing to
net investment loss of approximately HK$13.3 million for the
last year ended, which was attributed to the distressed debt
assets were disposed of at their respective carrying values.
As a result, the business incurred a loss of approximately
HK$5.3million for this year, mainly representing the
overhead costs of the business operation, whereas the loss of
approximately HK$31.2 million for the last year.

Looking ahead, the decreasing profit margin and increasing
risk of defaults as a result of the slowdown in economic
growth in the PRC do cast doubt on the prospect of
distressed debts assets market. The Directors will continue
to assess whether the Group should continue to engage in
distressed debts assets investment and if so, the timing for
such investment. Arguably, there may be deep discounts on
credit during an economic downturn and the Group may
be able to seize the chance and provide good return to the
Shareholders. However, more evidence of a downturn is
needed before making any move as investing too early, at the
wrong entry point, bears considerable downside risk.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEEHHRAN

BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

(1) Financial Services and Asset Management

(Continued)

Securities Investment

Leveraging on the strategic geographical location of Hong
Kong and the development of the PRC investment market,
the Group carried out securities investment business in
secondary market with its internal funds. With listed shares
of large-scale and quality companies as primary investment
targets, the Group aims to pursue capital appreciation and
stable dividend income.

During 2019, the Group scaled down the size of the
investment portfolio in this business due to the volatile
financial and investment markets caused by US-China trade
dispute. Also, the volatile financial and investment market
has been reinforced by on-going large-scale protests in
Hong Kong since the summertime. Such factors have been
driven the Directors to take a defensive stance in identifying
investment opportunities particularly in the Hong Kong
stock market, in order to bolster corporate resilience against
any possible issues and threats arising from international or
region crisis. As at 31 December 2019, the carrying value of
the listed securities investment was approximately HK$10.1
million, whereas no listed securities investment was held as
of the year ended 31 December 2018. Such listed securities
investment held by the Group was all listed equity securities
in Hong Kong, which none of them was with a carrying value
of 5% or more of the total assets of the Group. The Directors
believe that the holding of such investments portfolio is in
line with the Directors’ prudent investment strategy in view of
the prevailing investment environment in the region.

Benefit from the prudent investment approach, the Group
recorded 99.6% decrease in the net investment loss arising
from the change in fair value of securities investment
of approximately HK$173.0 million for the last year to
approximately HK$0.6 million for this year. As a result,
this business recorded approximately HK$8.8 million loss,
representing a decrease of 96.3% as compared to the loss of
approximately HK$238.3 million for the last year ended.

Looking ahead, as the securities’ market is getting more
volatile in 2020, the Directors will timely assess their
investment decisions regarding the Group’s investment
portfolio.

For the financial year ending 31 December 2020 (“FY2020"),
the Directors consider that the financial services will remain as
one of the core-business activities of the Group.

Tai United Holdings Limited Annual Report 2019

¥EEEE @)
(1) ERHBREREEETE @®)

XEREANBEUEZ RTHBEKREMGHN R
B AKEMNRAEAEESRN _AMERESE
FREXRL HIRBEAEBELERE
NESERBERBENRBRAREBR

REZZE—NF ARFPEEFESI NS R
MEEMHEE  AEBBEHEBRLEESH
REEEGHEE o BEEBEFTHENS
BRAEBERREBS SR IEEM S EE M
Bl - 25 AEZEBREESNYERIEREKS (L
HEHEBRM) BHEIVRSTRE - ANED
EME (T A LM RE R B Rt & B AT
HRBE - R_ZE—NE+-A=+—80"
T EFRENERELNAI01BEET
MBE-_Z—N\t+_-_A=t—HBItFEELE
BETMNLETEFRE ASERENER
FTRAFRENAES EMBRAES  ME
BREEH T ERAAEEBEEMNS% A L -
EERA ERNZMEMNRITRERE &
EZEREAEFEESHINE AR LR o

TEREBENRESE AEBESEFEE
FREQAABEHMEENIRE FEBER
199.6%  BEFWMHI73.08 BB TR D
ERFEMNHOEERT - At » LEKE
SEENSSEES T REZEXFEHEY
2383EBEEBILFL96.3% °

RERK BEESFTHE_T_TFEE
FNEHE EEHIEFHEBARAEER
BHAMKREREK -

EERA BE_Z-_ZE+_-_A=1+—8
VB FE((ZE_Z2FHREE]) ' &/
RIS EE AR LB LER 2 — -



Management Discussion and Analysis

BT DT

¥EEEE @
Q2 EmRhEERREES

BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

(2) Commodity and Medical Equipment

Trading

Commodity Trading

Price of crude oil and petroleum product in 2019 has been
considered by industry experts as virtually impossible to
confidently forecast by market participants, as it was affected
by a number of risk factors in connection with international
relations, geopolitical and military affairs. Oil price has soared
since the start of 2019, due to various factors such as OPEC-
led (Organization of the Petroleum Exporting Countries)
supply cuts, US sanctions on oil exporters Iran and Venezuela
and escalating fighting in Libya. On the other hand, alongside
with concerns over the health of the global economy, surging
US crude inventories appeared to have capped further gains.
Several months later in September 2019, oil price experienced
their largest single-day price increase since 2008, due to an
attack on key energy installations in Saudi Arabia. Such price
increase was short lived as Saudi Arabia’s ability to bring
production back online within weeks of the attack and global
concerns about demand growth. Oil price was volatile and
majority of the market participants might not be reasonably
expected to predict the timing and extent of these military
actions and rivalries in world politics.

As the extreme volatility of oil price would, to a large extent,
adversely affect the terms of supply of oil and/or other
petroleum products granted to the Group by its suppliers,
rendering the commodity trading business in this segment
hardly commercially attractive, the Management hence was
not active in engaging in any such trading activities in the
year of 2019. As a result, the Group recorded no revenue
generated from commodity trading for the year ended 31
December 2019, as compared to last year of approximately
HK$4,045.5 million. The commodity trading business
therefore recorded a loss of approximately HK$7.2 million,
comparing to a loss of approximately HK$11.2 million for the
last year.

Looking ahead, oil price suffered a drastic plummet in 2020,
with West Texas Intermediate crude oil price dropped to
as low as US$20.09 and Brent (Europe) oil price as low as
US$19.07, as demand for oil continued to evaporate due to
the global outbreak of COVID-19 and lockdown of majority
countries while Saudi Arabia and other OPEC+ nations
prepared to ramp up productions resulting in excessive
supply. In light of the heightened unpredictability of oil price
coupled with unprecedented decrease in demand for oil and
petroleum products, the Directors consider that engaging
in trading of oil and other commodities is risky yet with a
decreasing rate of return, greater caution will be exercised in
making any investment decisions in this regard. Depending
on the development of the investment environment and a
further study of the risk and rate of return, the Directors will
cautiously re-assess the feasibility of this business activity in
FY2020.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

(2)

(3)

Commodity and Medical Equipment
Trading (Continued)

Medical Equipment Trading

The Group carries out medical equipment trading business
in China for which majority customers are hospitals. The
revenue of the business for the year ended 31 December
2019 decreased by 49.7% to approximately HK$20.0 million,
as compared to approximately HK$39.8 million of last year.
Such decrease was primarily attributable to high competition
in this low end market, because the selling products of
the business are mostly general medical equipment and
consumable goods. As a result, the loss of the business was
increased from approximately HK$0.1 million for the last year
to approximately HK$ 1.6 million for the current year.

Looking ahead, in view of the serious shortage of medical
equipment supplies in the PRC as a result of COVID-19,
the Group is currently considering to further develop the
medical equipment trading business by leveraging its existing
procurements and sales networks to source and sell diversified
medical products to meet the various demands of the hospitals
and clinics in PRC.

Property Investment

The Group operates the property investment business in
Hangzhou, the PRC and London, the United Kingdom, in
order to seize the market development opportunities of real
estate in major developed regions both onshore and offshore.
The Group has been pursuing to maintain high quality
property management services of its investment properties
and will continue to enhance the quality of the property
management services in order to increase rental income
and saleable value of its investment properties. In addition,
the Group is actively looking for property investment and
development opportunities to strengthen the revenue stream
of this segment.

The revenue generated from property investment for
the year ended 31 December 2019 decreased 93.1 % to
approximately HK$6.6 million, as compared to approximately
HK$95.4 million of last year. Such decrease was mainly
attributable to the absence of the rental income contribution
from the Hangzhou Property (as defined below) amounting
to approximately HK$64.7 million since 1 January 2019, due
to the disposal of a subsidiary holding the Hanzhou Property.
The loss of approximately HK$72.5 million arising from the
changes in fair value of investment properties recognized
during the year, and led to an overall loss of the segment
amounting to approximately HK$107.1 million, as compared
to a loss of approximately HK$112.7 million for the last year.

Tai United Holdings Limited Annual Report 2019

¥ O EE @)

(2)

(3)

AmEkERERREES @)

BEREES

AEERTESEBRERBEIER  H
TRZEEFPRER REBE_ZT-NF
TZA=1T—BLFE HEHOWRERRD
497% E#)2008 BB T 0 MEF 47398
BEEL ZBLETEBRRNMERH S HF
AR RARLFEBENHEEERASN
RREFERERMEEER - Bt - %
BOEEBEFOHN0IBAEETENER
FEMNNI6AEBT

REARK ERHFUETRASEHTEER
RiEHEHRERR  AEERKEEEEB
MAERENRBRESHEERE-TER
BRRBEIXBURBEREESTIENE
BERARETEERRZANZREER -

MERE

AEFBEPEMMEREBRBIELEEMER
BER MEEBRRNIITEZEHENE I
EMSEREE AEE-—BERIHEFER
EMENBEYEEBRS - LSEERA
MEEERBHNER  WIENEREMEN
HEeWARATHEEE- o AEBEIER
BERMERERBEREE - LIRS E
HY UL AR

REE-_Z—hAF+_A=1+—"HILFE -
MEREEENRZRPIB1%EL66H
BB MEFHNAGABE BT ZE D
FERHREEFENMMNYE (EERTX)
M—EERARBREE —E— L F—HA—H
BEBRIOMMNDENHS WA TR B64TE
EELB -AFERRARKEMELAALE
FEMELENT2S5EEELEE B8t S
HMEBEBENIIIEES L MEFEE
HB12TEBET -



Management Discussion and Analysis

BT DT

¥EEEE @
(3) MERE (&)

BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

(3) Property Investment (Continued)

On 31 August 2018, Hangzhou Tai Rong Asset Management
Co., Ltd.* (“Hangzhou Tai Rong"”), an indirect wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company, which is holding an investment
property located at No. 555 Fengqi Road, Hangzhou City,
Zhejiang Province, the PRC (“Hangzhou Property”) entered
into a sale and purchase agreement (“SPA") in associated
with other parties. Pursuant to which, the issued shares of
Hangzhou Tai Rong and the entire shareholder’s loan owing
by Hangzhou Tai Rong to its owner was to be disposed at
the consideration of RMB1,550 million (“Consideration”).
Since then, the Hangzhou Property was reclassified under the
item of “Assets classified as held-for-sale” in the consolidated
statement of financial position. On 25 August 2019, a
supplemental agreement to SPA (“Supplemental SPA") was
entered among the parties. Pursuant of which, the parties
have mutually agreed to amend certain terms of the SPA. For
the year ended 31 December 2019, the disposal of Hangzhou
Tai Rong has generated an one-off gain on disposal before
taxation of approximately HK$168.1 million.

Details of the disposal of Hangzhou Tai Rong are set out in
the paragraph headed “Material Disposal” and note 43(a) to
the consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

Looking ahead, the Directors are in the course of identifying
suitable targets for acquisition, primarily commercial or
residential properties in the PRC and Hong Kong, with an aim
to generate stable cash flow to the Group as well as to be
benefited from the capital appreciation.

* The English name is for identification purposes only.
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EEEHHRAN

BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

(4) Mining and Exploitation of Natural

Resources

Currently, the Group holds four mining right licences
(“Mining Rights”) of three tungsten projects (“Tungsten
Projects”) in Mongolia.

The Group completed the acquisition of the Mining Rights
on 31 December 2009 by way of acquiring the entire
issued share capital of the ultimate holding companies of
the Mining Rights, namely, Prolific Rich Limited and Grand
Shining Limited at an aggregate acquisition cost of HK$940
million. The acquisition cost was satisfied by (i) cash payment
of HK$102 million; (ii) the issue of the promissory notes in
the principal amount of HK$23 million; and (iii) issue of the
2,716,666,666 convertible preference shares of the Company
in the principal amount of HK$815 million. Details of which
were set out in the Company’s announcements dated 5
June 2009, 23 July 2009 and 29 September 2009 and the
Company'’s circular dated 31 October 2009.

To assist the Company to conduct the impairment testing
on the Mining Rights in 2019, the Management engaged an
independent qualified mineral technical adviser, to prepare a
second phase of updated resource estimation technical report
under the Australasian Code for Reporting of Exploration
Results, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves (“JORC Code”)
("Second Phase Updated Estimation Technical Report”),
riding on the last resource estimation technical report dated
in February 2019 (”First Phase Updated Estimation
Technical Report”). The Second Phase Updated Estimation
Technical Report was made available to the Management in
February 2020.

Based on the findings of the Second Phase Updated
Estimation Technical Report, the Group engaged a PRC
professional firm to update the feasibility study report
and also engaged an independent international qualified
professional valuer, to perform the valuation related to the
Mining Rights at 31 December 2019 based on the Second
Phase Updated Estimation Technical Report and the latest
feasibility study report.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

(4) Mining and Exploitation of Natural

Resources (Continued)

The valuation of the Mining Rights for the year ended 31
December 2019 was mainly affected by the following factors:
(i) the updated estimation of average grades (which were
prepared in accordance with JORC Code) of the Mining
Rights drops in the Second Phase Updated Estimation
Technical Reports, as compared to the First Phase Updated
Estimation Technical Report; and (ii) the market price of
tungsten in 2019 has dropped and the valuer forecasted the
future market price of tungsten will have a lower growth
rates, which resulted in a lower valuation of the Mining
Rights. With reference to the valuation of the Mining
Rights performed by the valuer (details of which are shown
below) and the information available to the Group up to
the date of this annual report, the Directors were of the
view that impairment losses of the Mining Rights amounting
to approximately HK$170.8 million (2018: approximately
HK$109.7 million) for the year ended 31 December 2019
need to be recognised for the cash-generating unit that
holds the Mining Rights (“Mining CGU") in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
as the recoverable amount of the Mining CGU was lower
than (2018: lower than) its carrying amount.

Further details of the impairment losses on the Mining CGU
are set out in note 21 to the consolidated financial statements
contained in this annual report.

Details of the valuation of Mining Rights

Valuation Method

There is no change in the valuation method adopted for the
valuations as at 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018

as both were conducted by discounted cash flow method
under income approach.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

(4) Mining and Exploitation of Natural
Resources (Continued)

Details of the valuation of Mining Rights (Continued)
Key Inputs

Average grades of the Mining Rights

The following is a comparison table in respect of the average
grades of the Mining Rights from the Second Phase Updated

Estimation Technical Report and the First Phase Update
Estimation Technical Report:

¥EEEE @)
4) FERBEXRARER &)

FRERZIEEFE (F)
FEHAHE
RigtE 2 FHIER

TIREBE_MENEERSRE K
RS AREE 2 FHE RO L ERE

Average Grades

FHER

As at 31 December 2019 As at 31 December 2018

RZB-RAFE+ZA=+—H RZZ-N\F+ZA=+—H

(which is based on the (which is based on the

Second Phase Updated First Phase Updated

Estimation Technical Report) Estimation Technical Report)
Mining License (BRE=HRFH (ERE R
PR R 5 A 1EE B & EH) 1 E BN EEL)
MV-5518 & MV-11027 1.1% 1.1%
MV-11863 1.6% 7.5%
MV-3506 0.6% 0.6%
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BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

(4) Mining and Exploitation of Natural
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Resources (Continued)

Details of the valuation of Mining Rights (Continued)
Other key assumptions in the valuation

The other key inputs in the valuation include commodity
price, price growth and discount rate. There is no significant
change in the basis of determining these inputs and the
valuer merely updated these inputs based on the market
changes. The following is a comparison table in respect of the
aforementioned inputs applied in the valuation of the Mining

FRERZIEEFE (F)
1B EHRAZ EE ZRR

REMKAZECEIEGAREEEARE
BBRERRFAE -BEZFHARE
LEEVEEXEFHRAEMEERTHE
BEHZSTRABIE - N A GERERR
JER 2 Ealld A BRI LB ¢

Rights:
Parameter Input  Basis
2 WARE EE

As at 31 December 2019
R=ZB-7F+=A=+-H

Input  Basis
BAHE HE*%

As at 31 December 2018
RZZE-NF+=ZA=+—H

Adopted price on 65%
tungsten concentrate

.65% $H R IR A H B A%

Price growth (%)

BRI R (%)

Discount rate (%)

PR E (%)

US$12,494  With reference to the

per ton market price in 2019
FH12494 BB-E-AEHE
E Y

0.3% Compound annual growth
rate of the market price
from 2007

03% HBHI-ZTLEEWHERZ
EEFHERE

20.6% Based on weighted average
cost of capital

206% ERESZMEFHREAE

US$14,030  With reference to the market
per ton price in 2018
§ME14,030 BT \FWE
ETT

0.6%  Compound annual growth
rate of the market price
from 2006

0.6% BEERFEMGERZ
EEFERE

22.0% Based on weighted average
cost of capital

220% ERESZIEFHRA

Given that the Tungsten Projects are still in the phase of the
exploration work, the Mining Rights have not generated any
revenue for the Group during the year of 2019. It is the aim
of the Group that actual mining operations and productions
will only be carried out until the revenue/cost margins of the
projects have been proved to be robust and commercially
attractive.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

(4) Mining and Exploitation of Natural
Resources (Continued)

Meanwhile, the Group actively searches for potential investors
and/or strategic mining partnerships with trustworthy explorer
worldwide, in order to minimise any possible exploration
risks. During the year of 2019, over fifteen corporations with
mining expertise across the globe have been approached by
our appointed agent for the discussion of possible exploration
partnership. Short-listed potential business partners have been
provided with selected data and information of the Tungsten
Projects obtaining from the updated technical reports. Up to
the date of this annual report, no agreement of exploration
partnership has been reached. The Group is also considering
to engage the mineral technical adviser to prepare the third
phase of updated resources estimation technical report for
the purpose of assessing the recoverable reserves, resources,
exploration potential and the tungsten grades of the mining
rights. Upon obtaining of such report, the Directors can then
assess the revenue/cost margins for the projects and whether
it is robust and commercially attractive to commence actual
mining operations and productions. The Company will keep
the Shareholders and potential investors informed of any
further material developments in connection with the matter
by way of further announcement(s) as and when appropriate.

Material Disposals

Disposal of Hangzhou Tai Rong

On 15 June 2018, the Company entered into a memorandum
of understanding (“MOU") with an independent third party
(“Proposed Purchaser”), pursuant to which, it was proposed
that the Company would sell its all indirect interest in the issued
shares of Hangzhou Tai Rong and the entire shareholder’s loan
owing by Hangzhou Tai Rong to its owner, which also an indirect
wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, Xizang Hongrong Asset
Management Co., Ltd.* (“Xizang Hongrong"”), to the Proposed
Purchaser. Hangzhou Tai Rong is a property holding company
and holding the Hangzhou Property under the MOU. SPA was
signed between Xizang Hongrong, Hongrong Investment Holdings
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd.*, Hangzhou Tai Rong and another third
party purchaser, which is a nominee of the Purposed Purchaser
("Hangzhou Property Purchaser”) on 31 August 2018 at the
Consideration for such disposal (“Tai Rong Disposal”). Given
that the Tai Rong Disposal constituted a major transaction under
Chapter 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
("Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
("Stock Exchange”), it would be subjected to the reporting,
announcement and shareholders’ approval requirements. On the
same date of signing SPA, the Company’s substantial shareholders
had given their written consents on approving the Tai Rong
Disposal, no special general meeting of the Company was
convened.

*  The English name is for identification purposes only.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)
Material Disposals (Continued)

Disposal of Hangzhou Tai Rong (Continued)

In order to allow greater flexibility to the Hangzhou Property
Purchaser for settlement of the Consideration and the interest and
security arrangement seek to protect the interest of the Group
and incentivise the Hangzhou Property Purchaser to settle the
remaining Consideration as soon as possible, the parties entered
into Supplemental SPA on 25 August 2019 to amend certain terms
of the SPA.

The registration of the transfer of the issued shares of Hangzhou
Tai Rong with the local administration for Industry and commerce
bureau was completed on 31 October 2019.

Details of the Tai Rong Disposal were set out in the Company’s
announcements dated 15 June 2018, 28 August 2018, 31 August
2018 and 25 August 2019, and the Company’s circular dated 26
October 2018.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Capital structure

As at 31 December 2019, the Group’s consolidated net asset
was approximately HK$2,068.9 million, representing a decrease
of approximately HK$1,304.1 million as compared to that of
approximately HK$3,373.0 million as at 31 December 2018.

There is no shares movement since the last year ended. As at
31 December 2019, the Company has 5,250,019,852 shares of
HK$0.05 each in issue and the total equity attributable to owners
of the Company was approximately HK$2,066.2 million (as at 31
December 2018: approximately HK$3,370.0 million).

Liquidity and financial resources

As at 31 December 2019, the Group’s bank balances and cash
was approximately HK$560.2 million (as at 31 December 2018:
approximately HK$1,168.0 million), current assets of approximately
HK$1,638.1 million (as at 31 December 2018: approximately
HK$3,140.3 million), current liabilities of approximately HK$549.1
million (as at 31 December 2018: approximately HK$934.0 million).
The current ratio was 2.98 times ™« " (as at 31 December 2018:
3.36 times). As at the end of this year, the net current assets of the
Group were approximately HK$1,089.0 million (as at 31 December
2018: approximately HK$2,206.3 million).
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)
Liquidity and financial resources (Continued)

As at 31 December 2019, the total debt financing of the Group
was approximately HK$281.5 million (as at 31 December 2018:
approximately HK$426.6 million), which was the current debt
financing (as at 31 December 2018: approximately HK$426.6
million), and no non-current debt financing for the reporting year
(as at 31 December 2018: nil).

The negative net debt ™2 of the Group was approximately
HK$157.8 million (as at 31 December 2018: negative net debt
of approximately HK$617.8 million) and the total equity was
approximately HK$2,068.9 million (as at 31 December 2018:
approximately HK$3,373.0 million). Therefore, the gearing
ratio ™ot as at the end of the period was 0.14 (as at 31 December
2018: 0.13).

Note 1: Current ratio = Current assets/Current liabilities
Note 2: Net debt = Borrowings + Other loan — Bank Balances and cash

Note 3: Gearing ratio = Total interest-bearing borrowing/Total equity

The objective of the Group’s funding and treasury management
activities is to ensure a sufficient liquidity to meet operation needs
and various investment plans.

Capital commitments

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had no material capital
commitments and was not engaged in any future plans concerning
major investment or acquisition of capital assets (as at 31
December 2018: nil).

Charges on group assets

As at 31 December 2019, the Group’s bank borrowings of
approximately HK$281.5 million were secured by an investment
property (as at 31 December 2018: approximately HK$426.6
million), with the carrying value of approximately HK$807.0 million
(as at 31 December 2018: approximately HK$856.5 million).

Contingent liabilities

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had no material contingent
liabilities (as at 31 December 2018: nil).
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)
Foreign exchange exposure

The Group’s financial statements are denominated in Hong Kong
dollars (“HKD"), while the Group is conducting business mainly in
HKD, United States dollars (“USD"), Great British Pound (“GBP")
and Renminbi (“RMB"). Since exchange rates of HKD is pegged
to USD, there is no material exchange risk in respect of USD assets
and transactions. However, the assets, liabilities and transactions
of the United Kingdom and the PRC subsidiaries of the Group
are mainly denominated in GBP and RMB respectively, there were
exchange risks during financial settlement at the end of reporting
period in this regard.

The Group has implemented policies and guidelines in relation to
foreign exchange risk management. Meanwhile, the subsidiaries
in the United Kingdom and the PRC are able to generate sufficient
income to deal with their local currency expenses; therefore, the
Management considered that the Group’s exposure to the potential
foreign currency risk was relatively limited.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION
POLICIES

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had 41 (as at 31 December
2018: 69) employees, of whom approximately 68.3% (as at 31
December 2018: 44.9%) were located in Hong Kong and the rest
were located in the PRC and overseas.

The Group recognises the employees as the key element that
contributes to the Group’s success. The Group’s remuneration
policies are formulated based on the individual performance and
the salaries trends in various regions, which will be reviewed
annually.

Apart from making contributions to mandatory retirement benefit
schemes for the Group’s employees and providing medical
insurance, the Company has adopted a share option scheme
under which share options may also award to the Directors and
eligible employees as an incentive with reference to the assessment
of individual performance. The Board believes that the Group
maintains an admirable relationship with the employees.

DIVIDENDS

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend
for the year ended 31 December 2019 (2018: nil).

On 10 June 2019, a second special dividend in respect of the
financial year ended 31 December 2018 of 20 HK cents per
share of the Company (“Second Special Dividend”), totaling
approximately HK$1,050.0 million in cash was paid.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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DIVIDENDS (Continued)

Details of the Second Special Dividend were set out in the
Company’s announcement of final results and annual report for
the year ended 31 December 2018 dated 26 March 2019, the
Company’'s announcement dated 10 May 2019 and the Company'’s
circular dated 23 April 2019.

PROSPECTS

The economic outlook of the year 2020 seems to be dominated
by various downside risks, while the International Monetary
Fund lowered global economic growth forecast in 2020 by a
0.1 percentage point to 3.3 percent in its January update to the
World Economic Outlook. During the first few weeks of 2020,
certain risks, whether identified by market participants or not,
have been materialized as Iran launched missiles US military bases,
following by the global outbreak of COVID-19 causing more
than 170 countries and territories reported cases of COVID-19
and governments launched unprecedented public-health and
economic responses. It is expected that year 2020 will be an even
more challenging year ahead. While the Directors are committed
to enhance the financial performance of the Group in 2020, it
is needed to stay vigilant and continuously monitor the changes
in the macro-economy, especially to timely assess the impact on
the economy brought by COVID-19 and to adjust business or
investment plan accordingly. Management of the Group will closely
monitor changes in the macro-economy, include but not limit to,
the impact on the economy brought by COVID-19, US president
election, global trade disputes, trade negotiation between UK and
European Union (“EU"), power distribution in EU after Brexit, and
global climate change, as well as government policies addressing
those risks, and their effects on the valuation of different classes of
assets so as to adjust business or investment plan accordingly.

These risks could damage global economic growth this year and
hence the valuation of certain assets in different markets and
regions, but a sharp and rapid economic rebound could follow
with the support of fiscal and monetary policy. The Management
is in the course of exploring possible investment opportunities
and other business models or other forms of investment that the
Group, on the one hand, can generate income and, on the other
hand, can reduce/control the risk exposure of the Group.

The Group will seize market opportunities brought by these risks
and challenges, and continue to consolidate the development
results of each business segment. With professional management
expertise, an insightful business strategy, stable and conservative
financial position, the Group is well-positioned for sustainable and
healthy growth in the chosen market segments in which it operates
and strives to reward its shareholders with fruitful returns.
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Biographical Details of Directors
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Dr. KWONG Kai Sing Benny (“Dr. Kwong"”), aged 61, was
appointed as the executive Director and authorised representative
of the Company on 19 April 2018 and 7 September 2018
respectively. He was further appointed as the chief executive officer
("CEO") of the Company on 30 October 2019. He also serves as
the director of certain subsidiaries of the Group currently.

Dr. Kwong holds a Bachelor Degree in Arts from Simon Fraser
University in British Columbia, Canada and was awarded the Honor
Degree of Doctor of Commerce by The University of West Alabama
in 2007. Dr. Kwong held senior positions with major international
banks in Hong Kong in respective lending departments and China
department for many years. For the past years, he has served as
executive director of over ten publicly listed companies both in
Hong Kong, Canada and the United Kingdom. Dr. Kwong has
extensive knowledge in corporate finance and banking.

Dr. Kwong was a director of the Tung Wah Group of Hospitals
from 2008 to 2010 and was a member of the Campaign
Committee of The Community Chest from 2006 to 2010. Dr.
Kwong was an appointed member of the China People’s Political
Consultative Conference of the Hubei Province and Zhaoging
City of the Guangdong Province. He is the Hospital Governing
Committee member of Tai Po Hospital since 2012 and the audit
committee member of Tung Wah College since 2013. Dr. Kwong
was appointed as an independent non-executive director of
Planetree International Development Limited (formerly known
as Yugang International Limited) (Stock Code: 613) on 30 April
2019. He was an independent non-executive director of Imagi
International Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 585) from January
2016 to May 2017 and an executive director of GT Group Holdings
Limited (Stock code: 263) from September 2017 to April 2018, all
of which are listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange.
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Biographical Details of Directors
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)
Executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. CHEN Weisong (“Mr. Chen"), aged 40, is executive Director
since 27 October 2017. He also serves as senior vice president of
the Company and the director of certain subsidiaries of the Group.
He was the executive Director from 22 June 2016 to 25 April
2017, the chief financial officer of the Company from 15 February
2016 to 25 April 2017 and the CEO from 27 October 2017 to 29
October 2019.

Mr. Chen has over ten years of experience in asset management
industry. He worked for CCB International Asset Management
Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of China Construction Bank
Corporation, from April 2008 to February 2016. He was a non-
executive director of Universal Medical Financial & Technical
Advisory Services Company Limited (stock code: 2666, a company
listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange) from 6 March
2015 to 13 April 2016.

Mr. Chen received a Master of Philosophy degree from the
University of Hong Kong in December 2005. Mr. Chen holds
the qualification as a Chartered Financial Analyst from the CFA
Institute. He is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants, and was licensed as a responsible officer for
Type 9 (asset management), Type 1 (dealing in securities) and Type
4 (advising on securities) regulated activities of the Securities and
Futures Commission.

Mr. Chen was appointed as a committee member of Nanshan
District Shenzhen Committee of the Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference, the People’s Republic of China with
effect from October 2016.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)
Executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. CHOW Chi Wah Vincent (“Mr. Chow"), aged 51, was
appointed as the executive Director on 30 October 2019.

Mr. Chow is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants and an associate member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He obtained a
Master's degree in Professional Accounting from the Hong Kong
Polytechnic University. Mr. Chow has over twenty years’ experience
in the finance and accounting fields in Hong Kong. Mr. Chow was
appointed as an executive director and the managing director of
Code Agriculture (Holdings) Limited (Stock Code: 8153, a company
listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange) from 25 June 2019. Mr.
Chow was appointed as an independent non-executive director
of Celebrate International Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 8212,
a company listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange) since 31
August 2018. Mr. Chow was the executive director of Oshidori
International Holdings Limited (“Oshidori”) (Stock Code: 622)
since 1 June 2016 and the company secretary of Oshidori since 12
July 2016. He was appointed as the managing director of Oshidori
since 5 April 2017. He resigned all the positions from Oshidori on
29 October 2019. Mr. Chow was an independent non-executive
director of Imagi International Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 585)
for the period from 28 January 2016 to 10 April 2017. Mr. Chow
was an executive director of Mascotte Holdings Limited, now
renamed HengTen Networks Group Limited (Stock Code: 136) for
the period from 3 November 2014 to 26 October 2015, which the
above three companies are listed on the main board of the Stock
Exchange.

Independent non-executive Directors

Dr. GAO Bin (“Dr. Gao"), age 57, is the independent non-
executive Director. Dr. Gao has extensive knowledge and rich
experience in foreign exchange, fixed income, equity and
commodity investment. He holds a Bachelor Degree in Space
Physics from University of Science and Technology of China, an
MA from Princeton University in Astrophysics and a PhD Degree in
Finance from New York University.

Dr. Gao currently serves as chief executive officer of Kaifeng
Investment Management (Hong Kong) Limited. He has been
serving as a special term professor at School of Economics and
Management and PBC School of Finance of Tsinghua University
since 2002. He served as a senior vice president of Lehman
Brothers from 2004 to 2005. He served as a managing director of
Merrill Lynch from 2005 to 2014, in charge of interest strategies
in Asia Pacific. He was a tenured associate professor of the finance
department at University of North Carolina-Business School, USA
before joining this industry.
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Biographical Details of Directors
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)
Independent non-executive Directors (Continued)

Ms. LIU Yan (“Ms. Liu”), aged 49, is the independent non-
executive Director. Ms. Liu has over twenty years of solid
experience in auditing, financial management, taxation and fund
management. She holds a Bachelor Degree in Economics from the
Central University of Finance & Economics and a Master Degree
in Business Administration from University of Rochester. She is a
member of Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants (CICPA)
and passed all tests for Chartered Financial Analyst (CFA) program.

Ms. Liu has worked for PricewaterhouseCoopers (Guangzhou,
China), Barclays Capital (New York City), Angelo Gordon Asia
Limited (Hong Kong and New York), China Everbright Limited
(Hong Kong) and Brilliance Group Holdings Limited (Shanghai).
Ms. Liu was appointed as an independent non-executive director
of Haitong International Securities Group Limited (Stock Code:
665) and Great Wall Pan Asia Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 583)
on 19 June 2018 and 26 November 2018 respectively, she was an
independent non-executive director of U Banquet Group Holding
Ltd (stock code: 1483) from 1 November 2016 to 27 September
2018, all of which are listed on the main board of the Stock
Exchange.

Mr. TANG King Shing, GBS, PDSM (“Mr. Tang”), aged 65, is the
independent non-executive Director. Mr. Tang holds a Master’s
Degree in International and Public Affairs from The University of
Hong Kong. In March 2013, Mr. Tang was appointed as a member
of the National Committee of the Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference of the People’s Republic of China. In June
2013, he was appointed as a director of the Hong Kong News-
Expo. In September 2017, he was appointed as the Chairman of
the Country and Marine Parks Board of the Agriculture, Fisheries
and Conservation Department for a term of two years and he is an
honorary advisor of Hong Kong Strategy.

Mr. Tang took office (until retirement) as Commissioner of Hong
Kong Police from January 2007 to January 2011. He served as
vice chairman and executive director of the board of Hong Kong
Airlines from 28 September 2016 to 17 December 2018. He also
served as an independent non-executive director of Kingboard
Chemical Holdings Limited (stock code: 148) and as a non-
executive director of Hong Kong International Construction
Investment Management Group Co., Limited (stock code: 687)
from 1 August 2013 to 1 November 2016 and from 15 July 2017
to 3 May 2019 respectively, all of which are listed on the main
board of the Stock Exchange.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
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Tai United Holdings Limited, together with its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as (the “Group” or “We")) adheres to
the concept of sustainable development for its corporate planning
and operation and strives to create long-term value for the
Group's stakeholders. We prepares the Environmental, Social and
Governance Report (the “ESG Report”) in accordance with the
Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide (“ESG
Guide"”), set out in Appendix 27 to the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (”Stock
Exchange”), to inform all stakeholders about our ESG policies,
measures and performance.

This ESG Report mainly covers the Group’s business segments from
1 January 2019 to 31 December 2019 (the “Reporting Period” or
“FY2019"), which are comprised of (i) financial services and asset
management; (i) commodity and medical equipment trading; (iii)
property investment; and (iv) mining and exploitation of natural
resources. All management and staff with primary responsibilities
participated in the preparation of this Report to assist the Group’s
operation in reviewing and identifying relevant ESG matters, as well
as assessing the related matters that are material to our business
and every stakeholder. A summary of the ESG matters material to
the Group contained in this ESG Report is set out in the following
table:

ESG Guide Summary
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Significant ESG Matters

ESGIESIRE EKRESGEH

A. Environmental
RIR

A1. Emissions o Waste Treatment and Carbon Emission
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A2. Use of Resources ° Energy and Water Consumption
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A3. The Environment and Natural Resources o Environmental Implication Management
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B. Social
HE

B1. Employment o Employee Benefits and Equal Opportunities Policies
U EEFBRTEREHER

B2. Health and Safety o Occupational Health and Safety
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B3. Development and Training o Employee Trammg Plan
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B4. Labour Standards o Prevention of Child Labour or Forced Labour
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B5. Supply Chain Management o Sustainable Supply Chain
HEEER AR R ALEE

B6. Product Responsibility o Customer Service, Marketing and Customer Privacy
EmEMF Security
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B7. Anti-corruption o Prevention of Corruption and Fraud
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B8. Community Investment o Contributions to Society
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE - LB REBHRE

A. ENVIRONMENTAL

A1. Emissions

The Group is always holding sustainable development
and enterprise social responsibility as its mission. The
Group commits to carrying out monitoring and emission
reduction measures in every process management,
energy and resource management in its day-to-day
operation to prevent any unnecessary contamination
and reduce the adverse impact on the environment.
Except for the mining and exploitation of natural
resources business discussed below, the Group’s existing
businesses are mainly investing and trading in nature,
which have not directly generated any exhaust gas and
sewage emission during daily commercial operation.

In term of mining and exploitation of natural resources
business, the Group holds four mining right licences
(the “Mining Rights”) of its three tungsten projects
in Mongolia. These tungsten projects are still at the
exploration stage and no active mining operation has
taken place during the Reporting Period, thus the
emissions of waste gas, sewage and wastes during the
mining process are not applicable during the Reporting
Period. Measures complying with all applicable
environmental laws, regulations, and prescribed
standards shall be established in the future when
relevant mining operation plans are decided to begin,
with an aim to exemplify best contemporary practice
for the minimization and, where feasible, elimination of
adverse environmental effects.
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A. ENVIRONMENTAL (Continued)

A1. Emissions (Continued)

Waste Treatment

During FY2019 under review, the total amount of
waste generated from the day-to-day operation of the
Group was only 0.373 tonne, of which it included non-
hazardous waste (paper and disposable office supplies)
of 0.368 tonne, and hazardous waste (waste tube,
detergent and other chemical materials) of 0.005 tonne.

The Group initiates vigorously green office, pushes
to implement various environmental protection
policies to achieve waste source reduction during the
Reporting Period. As regard to daily office work, the
Group implements the environmental protection policy
(including reducing the use of paper cups) to promote
the paperless practice and electronic documentation.
Staff is encouraged to apply both side printing and
copying to reduce wasting papers. At the same time,
the Group purchases and choose environmentally
friendly and certified papers to reduce damage to
natural forest and help mitigate global warming. A total
of approximately 0.17 tonne of papers was saved in
FY2019.

The Group recognises the equal importance of waste
recycling on environmental protection in addition to
waste source reduction, therefore, the Group also
proactively promoted various environmental recycling
policies during the last financial year. As regard to waste
treatment, the Group categorizes all wastes in the office
into three types (paper/plastic/non-recyclable) according
to requirements and uniformly collects and disposes
of all types of waste. Moreover, we also donate old
furniture to the Red Cross. The Group particularly
provides recyclable tableware and cups in our tearooms
to encourage staff to reduce using disposable tableware.
During the Reporting Period, 0.02 tonne of papers was
recycled due to our successful implementation of the
above environmental protection policies.
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A. ENVIRONMENTAL (Continued)

A1. Emissions (Continued)

Carbon Emission

In FY2019, the total carbon emission of the Group was
53.42 tonne, the carbon emission density per square
meter of office space was 0.063 tonne of carbon
dioxide ™" The above carbon emission was mainly
generated from the usage of various energy sources
by the Group, including electric power, gasoline and
natural gas. Please refer to A2 Use of Resources —
Energy consumption €2 in this ESG Report regarding
the usage and consumption of relevant energy.

To promote staff's awareness of emphasizing
environmental protection, the Group purchased
additional video conferencing equipment simultaneously
in our offices in Hong Kong, Singapore, Shenzhen and
Hangzhou, the PRC to reduce greenhouse gas emissions
generated from attending the meeting by airplane. The
Group has also reduced paper consumption through
the application of computer technology (e.g. written
communication by email, use Dingtalk office software
as an instant messaging platform and approval process
management) and increased work efficiency.

Note 1: The above calculation of carbon emission is referenced
to the “2019 Government GHG Conversion Factors For
Company Reporting” issued by BEIS (H Bl % « LR
K = 3 5 BE E6), Emission Factor of Mongolia” issued
by Joint Credit Mechanism of Japan, “Environmental
Key Performance Index Reporting Guide” issued by the
Stock Exchange and “the China Regional Grid Baseline
Emission Factor” issued by National Development and
Reform Commission of China.

Note 2: The above calculation of carbon emission covers the
emission activities under range one and two in the
“Environmental Key Performance Index Reporting
Guide"” issued by the Stock Exchange.

All the departments of the Group have strictly complied
with the internal management system related to
environmental protection of the Group. There was no
occurrence of any non-compliance issues with relevant
laws and regulations in relation to the emission of waste
gas and greenhouse gases, discharges into water and
land, generation of hazardous and harmless waste.
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A. ENVIRONMENTAL (Continued)

A2. Use of Resources

The Group emphasizes saving resources and
environmental protection, committed to minimize
possible risks of impact on the environment arising from
business development by utilizing resources effectively
and advocating commercial acts accountability to the
environment. During the Reporting Period, the Group
achieved various energy-saving targets and successfully
implemented green energy policies, and actively
participated in office energy-saving and environmental
protection activities promoted by property management
company of the building where it locates, for instance,
resources recycling activity, with a view to improve
staff's awareness in energy conservation and emission
reduction.

Energy Consumption

To implement energy saving policy, the Group
proactively carried out various energy saving policies
and measurement which helped us saving a total of
5.7% energy consumption during the Reporting Period.
The Group's office has fully installed the energy efficient
fluorescent tube and other electronic equipment with
high energy efficiency, set and conduct modulated
temperature and timing control on air-conditioners.
Moreover, the Group also added the slogan “Electrical
Energy Saving” at light switches and requires staff to
turn off office equipment, computers and lightings
when not in use or after working hours to reduce
electricity consumption.
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Energy Consumption (Continued) BEIRH #E (#8)

A. ENVIRONMENTAL (Continued)

A2. Use of Resources (Continued)

LATR 2 7R 52 B A 2019 BF B 4F E M BE R
BREERBREREE

Set out below is the Group’s total energy consumption
and total energy intensity in FY2019:

Consumption Total Energy Intensity
Energy category (daily office work) (office space per unit)
2 BREREE
RRESE (BE#HA) (BENRAESE)
Electricity 37,254 kWh 44.19 kWh/sg.m.
(3 37,254 TRL# 4419 FRLBs /F 5K
Gasoline 11,308 liter 13.41 liter/sq.m.
V= 11,308 A7 13.41 2FFFHK
Natural gas 90 cubic meter 0.10676 cubic meter/sg.m.
RAAR, 9037 75 K 0.10676 32 F5 K,/ 75 K
Note: The above consumption only comprised the M : FRgERReEaEEEEERR
consumption that directly controlled and utilized by FEANKEE EHhaEEBuNF

the Group, of which it included the Group’s offices in Wi B SHE - FTINERER
Mainland China, Hong Kong, Mongolia, Singapore and BPNE W PREEME=FFE
the United Kingdom, but not including consumption AHAE -

arising from other third-party.

Water Consumption

The Group’s water consumption during the Reporting
Period was generated from daily office water utilisation.
Although the Group’s business activities do not consume
a large volume of water, the Group still endeavour
to promote water recyclability in the office to save
water resources. In addition to purchasing and using a
pressurised water-saving device in the office, the Group
posted water-saving warning signs in every lavatory
as well. During the Reporting Period, the Group’s
water consumption in its offices was 20 cubic meters
in total. The average water consumption per square
meter of office space is 0.0237 cubic meter when
calculated by office space. Total water consumption in
FY2019 decreased by 74.36% as compared with that
of the previous year. The increase was mainly due to a
decrease in the number of office staff.
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A. ENVIRONMENTAL (Continued)

A3 The Environment and Natural

Resources

Environmental Implication Management

The Group is deeply aware of the importance of
environmental protection, social responsibility and
governance, the green office environment will continue
to be promoted through the four basic principles of
reduction, reuse, recycling and replacement. Although
the operating businesses of Group have insignificant
impact on environment and natural resources, the
Group still always strictly abides by laws, regulations
and national standards relating to environmental
protection, and incorporates the impact of its operation
on environment as one of its significant considerations
and endeavours to minimise the impact of Company’s
operation on environment.

As regard to office decoration and maintenance, the
Group requires the supplier engaged to use materials
and techniques that have a low impact on the
environment and resources, for instance, using natural
and environmentally friendly decoration materials,
and implement the principle of “Make the Best Use of
Resources, Conservation and Waste Reduction”.

Besides, the Group constantly conducted assessment
and supervision on environmental risks during daily
operation, developed immediate mitigation measures
when potential environmental risk was identified to
ensure such risk is under control.
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B. SOCIAL

B1. Employment

Employee Benefits and Equal Opportunities
Policies

The Group believes that talent is a key factor for
enterprise competitiveness and human resources play
a vital role in the Group’s long-term development and
success. Therefore, the Group strives to introduce
talents through multi-channel and cultivate talents
through the adoption of an incentive mechanism.

To attract and retain talents, ensure smooth business
operation of the Group and in line with continuous
expansion needs, the Group has its human resources
management policy in place to regulate matters
relating to staff recruitment, promotion, dismissal,
working hours, holidays, remuneration packages and
benefits. The remuneration of the Group’s employees is
determined with reference to market standard, industry
practice and staff's qualifications and experience.
Meanwhile, the Group distributes bonuses to employees
to the extent possible according to profitability as
incentives for the contributions they made to the
Group and provides staff with on-the-job training and
development opportunities to assist them to show their
talents in the positions. The benefit plan of the Group’s
staff comprises retirement benefit schemes, medical
insurance, accidental insurance, employees’ benefits,
paid holidays (annual leave, sick leave, maternity leave,
paternity leave, marital leave and examination leave).

Tai United Holdings Limited Annual Report 2019

#t
B1

=

. B

BEEFBERFERERF

REBBELERF INBERERAT -
ANEBREAEENREERRKNE
MERE N AKBEENRKZ RES
EAT AR BEEBIEEAT -

BB RBEBREAT  UHERAEE
EBEFBIBEREETHERCTE
AEECHEANEREERRMHLEI
THRE &7 R E - TRESE B8
FHEBREMNEEEE AKERESR
FHEE T2 EWIGKE - ITREH
RETHWERERKZSR RETREBAF
RRBA LM B TIREEL - BEIA/E
SEELEERNEBFET - YMESR
ARSI R B - DAt B Al P72 8 i
t—RAE - AKRELE TIRHEMNEHN
FERERARENGE  BERR B
SMRER - BTRRE - BFH KRB (FRKR -
mRER - FER BR EARSE) -



Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE - g REBHRE

B. €@
B1. & (&)

B. SOCIAL (continued)

B1. Employment (Continued)

Employee Benefits and Equal Opportunities
Policies (Continued)

Both staff's working hours and holiday schedules have
rigorously complied with national and local laws and
regulations to make sure staff can demonstrate their
abilities in a favourable working environment. The
Group takes a fair and open principle on recruitment
policy, adheres to the basic principle of merit and
capabilities, open position recruitment, equal
competition, two-way selection and engagement of
the excellent in recruitment. All candidates are required
to undergo an objective orientation examination and
interview to assess whether their abilities can meet
our development requirements. At the same time, the
Group is also required to ensure the fairness of the
overall recruitment process through stringent approval
procedures. In addition, the Group provides staff with
good promotion prospects and opportunities. The
Group established an annual performance appraisal
system to review staff performance and remuneration
policy regularly, with an aim to reward and motivate the
contribution and performance of employees and assist
them in their career development and promotion within
the Group.

In the meantime, the Group is committed to providing
staff with a fair and equitable working environment with
no discrimination. The Group prohibits the occurrence of
any form of discrimination in its working environment,
avoid any form of discriminating recruitment,
redesignation, remuneration and promotion. The Group
establishes the reporting and complaint mechanism
system to report or submit complaints to the head of
the human resources department immediately in case
of any biased treatment, and the task force will conduct
an investigation and take appropriate follow up actions.
If our employees have any problems or opinions, they
could give feedback through the communication
channels established by the Group.

The Group has organised a variety of activities during
the year to improve the sense of belongings of the
staff and promote corporate culture, among which
they include organizing Christmas and Mid-Autumn
Festival dinner, new year corporate annual meeting
and corporate annual dinner. Besides, the Group also
regularly holds caring week activities and seminars,
exchanges ideas for work and builds up team spirit.

During the Reporting Period, there was no significant
breach of any relevant laws and regulations such as
Labour Law relating to human resources.
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B. SOCIAL (continued)

B2. Health and Safety

Occupational Health and Safety

The Group regards to staff’s occupational health and
safety as our foremost responsibility, and endeavours
to provide staff with a satisfactory and safe working
environment. As regard to fire control safety, the
Group provides all staff with detailed guidelines on fire
escape routes and escape procedures and requires staff
to participate in fire escape drill of office buildings. In
addition, the Group also encourages staff to report
various accidents that occurred during work and other
unsafe factors. Staff may seek assistance from the
human resources and administration department in case
of an accident during work or within the working arena.
The Group gives priority to staff's safety under adverse
weather conditions (such as a rainstorm, typhoon). Staff
are required to comply with the guidelines for the staff’s
working arrangement under adverse weather conditions
to safequard staff safety to the greatest extent.

Besides, the Group also pay high attention to the staff’s
physical and psychological health. The Group organises
various sports and recreation activities from time to
time. In addition to building up a healthy body, staff
may develop team spirit to promote a harmonious
working environment.

For tungsten mines exploitation in Mongolia, as
no active mining operation of the Group has taken
place yet, the guidelines on providing a safe working
environment and protection of employees from
occupational hazards were not applicable during
the Reporting Period. Once the exploitation of the
mines commences officially, apart from making sure
meeting the business compliance with local laws and
regulations on production safety, the Group will also
formulate a code of practice and safety guidelines in
place to standardise business processes, and detail the
safety precautions for different mining procedures. At
the same time, the Group will also conduct regular
occupational safety training on mining staff, require
staff to get equipped with protective equipment and
conduct on-going monitoring regarding the mining
environment to ensure working environment safety.
Besides, the Group will also adopt advanced technology
to enable more efficient and more secure mining
operations.

During the Reporting Period, there was no breach of
relevant laws and regulations relating to employee
health and safety.
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B. SOCIAL (continued)

B3. Development and Training

Employee Training Plan

The Group believes that talent development is an
enterprise’s development foundation. Hence, the
Group pays high attention to the staff's occupation
development and training. The Group has established
systematic training regimens and training system to
support staff’s continuous development, among which
it comprises induction training, on-the-job training and
external training. At the end of each year, the human
resources and administration department collects
the training and developing requirements from each
department and formulates training plans based on
the information and opinions collected. Apart from
induction training, newly employed staff will continue to
learn and improve themselves during the mentoring by
experienced staff. Besides, the Group will also arrange
on-the-job training and external training tailored to
staff's needs according to their operation post, personal
ability and aspiration to promote staff's continuous
growth and development at work. After completing
the training, the Group will also collect staff's feedback
to constantly improve our training quality. The Group
started to set up special education allowances in
FY2019 to encourage potential staff to commence
continuing study relating to current works or for long-
term career development purposes to meet the business
development goals of the Group.

ATHYHE

AEBBEANERNBEERLEER
MIRE Rt AKBEFERIE TR
EBERMEI - Bt AREERIR
AR HE RIFI R R AR B TR
FEZRR G ETERBEABEI - EBRE
A EINEB IR - FFFR - ANTTHEB
SRERHMPINEIRERER R
BRENAELERGHIEIIEE - &
TABEISN  HARE TS ELR
CEMNBTHEGETI P THEEB
MK - 9N AEETFEERBEETH
TEmfi - EANTNER  LEIA
BTHRENEBEIRINBFI - EE
TRETFERTEHRRRER - TRIE
& - AKETEREBTHERLRE
AFERARMNIBINEE - REER
2019 B B IR R BB 2R - 5@
ABEME THTHERER THERAR
XEREBLNAARERBERER
BRI o

AMZERBRRE —T—NFFR

37



38

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE - LB REBHRE

B. SOCIAL (continued)

B4.

B5.

Labour Standards

Prevention of Child Labour or Forced Labour

The Group is always committed to creating harmonious
labour relationship with staff and strictly complies with
the employment laws and regulations and labour law
of the region where it locates to ensure the staff’s
interest was fully safeguarded. The Group establishes
a rigorous and comprehensive recruitment review
process and uphold the principle of fairness, openness
and voluntariness for staff employment. At the time of
the interview, candidates should provide identification
documents and valid employment visas for us to conduct
a due diligent investigation on their basic information,
sign a legal labour contract. The recruitment for all staff
is on an optional and legal basis. In addition, the Group
pays equal attention to the implementation of labour
standards in subsidiaries and outsourcing companies.
The Group will regularly conduct a random inspection
on subsidiaries and outsourcing companies to make
sure no violation of relevant laws and regulations.

During the Reporting Period, there was no breach of
relevant laws and regulations relating to the prevention
of child labour or forced labour.

Supply Chain Management

Sustainable Supply Chain

Given that supply chain management is the key factor
of sustainable development, such that the Group has
stringent requirements for supplier management. Each
department is required to purchase according to the
“Guidelines for Procurement Process Standard of Office
Supplies and Fixed Assets” prepared by the human
resource and administration department. In addition,
Group's purchasing department sets up a dedicated
department taskforce to formulate and complete the
procurement process standard, conducts an annual
review and update on the procurement process to make
sure the Group adheres to the principle of openness,
fairness and transparency for supplier selection, and
conducts procurement at reasonable price and quality. In
the coming years, the Group will continuously plan and
develop the supplier selection mechanism to reinforce
suppliers’ requirements will focus on environmental
protection, labour safety and staff protection.
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B. SOCIAL (continued)

B5.

B6.

Supply Chain Management (Continued)

Sustainable Supply Chain (Continued)

The Group will also supervise supplier performance. The
Group will suspend supplier service if its performance
is unsatisfactory. Meanwhile, the Group also intends
to carry out regular annual assessment regarding
supplier performance and requires all suppliers to
satisfy the Group's requirements in the environmental
protection and social responsibilities aspects, such as
adopting green materials, prohibiting employment of
forced labour and child labour before continuing the
cooperation relationship.

Product Responsibility

Customer Service

The Group attaches great importance to our service
quality and customer experience. The Group built
customer satisfaction through constantly improving our
service standard for customers to make sure providing
customers with quality products and services and
set up an effective customer complaint mechanism
to constantly improve service experience through
customer’s feedback. The Group dedicates to provide
accurate information for customers to make a wise
investment decision, provides customers with sufficient
advice and coaching to help them understand and
select products and services required through offering
products and services with clear descriptions and
provisions.

(i) Customer Satistaction

The Group regularly conducts annual customer
satisfaction investigation to continuously improve
our products and services and analyses in detail
the investigation results in accordance with
indicators of the established service, of which it
includes management service quality, service and
product safety, customer service and product
support. The Group will also improve its customer
service performance next year by establishing an
action programme.
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B. SOCIAL (continued)

B6. Product Responsibility (Continued)

Customer Service (Continued)
(i) Customer Complaint Follow-up

The Group attaches great importance to client
feedback for improving its service quality
continuously by humbly accept customers’
opinions. The Group has set up a professional
customer service team to address and follow up
on customer complaints. Every complaint will be
investigated and followed up by special person-in-
charge and the whole process will be monitored
by management. After the reasons for the
complaints are identified and responding progress
is completed, the special person in charge will
contact the complainant to offer our resolutions
for the proper handling of the customer complaint.

Marketing

Integrity management is the essential merit of our
business operation. The Group endeavours responsible
marketing strategy with no exaggerated marketing
tactics. All sales, promotion documents and data are
required to be approved by management before rolling
out to make sure complying with the requirements of
relevant advertisement laws and regulations.

Customer Privacy Guarantee

The protection of the privacy of customers or consumers
is crucial for the Group’s operation. Except for the public
documents as specified in laws and regulations, the
Group strictly follows the relevant privacy ordinance in
relation to the usage and confidentiality requirements
of customers or consumers’ private information and
never allow information disclosure without the approval
of data owners. Group has a “Staff Code of Practice”
in place to standardise the principle of management,
usage and abide by the confidentiality of business
data and prohibits casual management and storage
of customer information. In addition, the Group
emphasise the importance of protecting customer data,
and provide guidance on customer data processing in
staff training and devote all our efforts to prevent the
leakage of customer information.

During the Reporting Period, there was no breach
of relevant laws and regulations relating to privacy,
product, service quality and marketing.
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B7. RES

B. SOCIAL (continued)

B7. Anti-corruption

Prevention of Corruption and Fraud

The Group propagandises enterprise culture of honesty,
integrity and righteousness and commits to building
an anti-fraud and anti-corruption corporate culture
environment. The Group requires staff to stringently
comply with the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance and
strives to maintain clean management and operation
structure of the Company. Meanwhile, the Group set
up the “Staff Code of Practice” and disseminated it
to all staff. The Practice standardises the staff’s code
of conduct and the guidelines on conflict of interests
and requires staff to report regularly on any conflict of
interests. Besides, the Group also establishes a series of
anti-fraud measures, among which include propaganda
and training of anti-fraud policy, fraud risk assessment
mechanism and complaint reporting mechanism.

Under the guidance of anti-fraud policies and related
measures, the Group regularly organises and invites
professionals to conduct training on laws, regulations,
integrity and ethics. Employees are taught how to
identify and correctly handle conflict of interests at work
and resist the temptation of improper interests. Under
the fraudulent risk assessment mechanism established
by the Group, it is regularly conducted fraudulent
risk identification and assessment at the Group's
and department’s level to assess the importance and
possibility of fraudulent risk and formulate resolutions
to address fraudulent risk as required. The Group also
established a set of comprehensive complaint channels,
investigation mechanism and accountability mechanism.
Any staff, supplier and customer of the Group may
report any undue staff behaviour through the channel
provided for assisting the Group to supervise staff’s
ethical character and penalise staff for any misconduct.
Complaints matters include but not limited to the
violation of laws, regulations and the Group’s policy
requirements, or undue behaviour relating to internal
monitoring, operation, accounting, auditing, finance
and undue conduct, illegal act or fraudulent matters.

The above policy regarding bribery, conflict of interests
and whistle-blowing forms part of the Group’s Code
of Conduct for employees and is clearly set out in the
Employee Handbook. All employees are required to
follow stringently.
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B. SOCIAL (continued)

B7.

B8.

Anti-corruption (Continued)

Prevention of Corruption and Fraud (Continued)

During the Reporting Period, there was no breach of
relevant laws and regulations relating to the prevention
of bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering.

Community Investment

Contributions to the Society

The Group always attaches importance to the corporate
social responsibilities, adheres to the concept of
repaying the society while its business is developing
and devotes ourselves to the social and public welfare
to make contributions in facilitating social harmonious
development. At the same time, the Group also actively
encourages its staff to participate in various social and
public services. In FY2019, the Group called upon staff
to participate in the charity bazaar activity, and the
donations raised were donated to the “Spring Bud
Project” of China Children and Teenagers’ Fund, aiming
to help girls in the poor regions of China who are out
of school to return to their study, so as to enhance their
quality education and cultivate their abilities to build
their hometowns on their own.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board is committed to maintaining statutory and regulatory
standards and adhering to the principles of corporate governance
with emphasis on transparency, independence, accountability
and responsibility. The Board reviews its corporate governance
practices from time to time in order to meet the rising expectations
of Shareholders and comply with increasingly stringent regulatory
requirements, and to fulfill its commitment to excellence in
corporate governance.

The Company has complied with all the applicable code provisions
of the Corporate Governance Code (“CG Code”) throughout
the year ended 31 December 2019 as set out in Appendix 14 to
the Listing Rules, except for certain deviations disclosed in this
corporate governance report (“CG Report”).

DIRECTORS’ AND RELEVANT EMPLOYEES’
SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”),
as amended from time to time, as set out in Appendix 10 to
the Listing Rules as the code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by its Directors. Having made specific enquiry, all
Directors have confirmed that they have fully complied with the
required standard set out in the Model Code during the year ended
31 December 2019.

The Company’s Model Code also applies to all employees who are
likely to be in possession of inside information of the Company. No
incident of non-compliance of the Model Code was noted by the
Company during the year ended 31 December 2019.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Responsibilities

The overall management of the Company’s business is vested in
the Board, which assumes responsibility for leadership and control
of the Company and is collectively responsible for promoting the
success of the Company by directing and supervising its affairs. All
Directors should make decisions objectively in the interests of the
Company.

The Board reserves for its decisions all major matters of the
Company, including the approval and monitoring of all policy
matters, overall strategies and budgets, internal control and risk
management systems, material transactions, financial information,
appointment of Directors and other significant financial and
operational matters.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles
of chairman of the board and chief executive officer should be
separate and should not be performed by the same individual.
The division of responsibilities between the chairman and the
chief executive officer should be clearly established and set out in
writing.

The roles of the Company’s chairman of the Board (“Chairman”)
are to provide leadership to the Board and formulate the Group’s
business strategies. He aims at striking a balance of power and
authority job responsibilities are not concentrated on any one
individual. The Chairman is responsible for ensuring the Board
works effectively, in particular, ensuring all Directors receive
reliable, adequate and complete information in a timely manner.
The Chairman may communicate with the Directors directly or
through the assistance of the company secretary of the Company
("Company Secretary”) to discuss or clarify any issues concerning
the Group from time to time, and to provide any supporting
information and documents to them. The Chairman assumes the
primary responsibility for ensuring that good corporate governance
practices and procedures are established.

CEOQ is responsible for the conduct of day-to-day operation of
the Group and accountable to the Board for all aspects of the
corporate performance. He recommends policies to the Board
for consideration and approval, and keeps the Board informed of
any material developments of the Company’s business. The CEO
may delegate his duties to any other management members or
responsible officers of the Company but he assumes the principal
responsibility.

During the reporting year, Mr. Chen Weisong was the CEO from
1 January 2019 to 29 October 2019 and Dr. Kwong Kai Sing
Benny was appointed as the CEO on 30 October 2019, while
the Chairman remained vacant. The Company deviated from
code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code from 1 January 2019 to 31
December 2019.

The Company is still in the process of identifying a suitable
candidate to fill the vacancy of the Chairman and will keep the
Shareholders informed of such appointment by announcement in
due course.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (cContinued)
Composition

The Board currently comprises three executive Directors and three
independent non-executive Directors. The Directors during the
reporting year and up to the date of this annual report were:

Executive Directors

Dr. Kwong Kai Sing Benny
(appointed as CEO on 30 October 2019)
Mr. Chen Weisong
(ceased to act as CEO on 30 October 2019)
Mr. Chow Chi Wah Vincent (appointed on 30 October 2019)
Mr. Xu Ke (resigned on 23 April 2019)

Independent non-executive Directors (“INEDs"”)

Dr. Gao Bin
Ms. Liu Yan
Mr. Tang King Shing

INEDs and their Independence

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Board at all
times met the requirements under Rule 3.10 of the Listing Rules
relating to the appointment of at least three INEDs with at least
one of them possessing appropriate professional qualifications, or
accounting or related financial management expertise.

Code provision A.4.1 of the CG Code stipulates that non-executive
directors should be appointed for a specific term subject to re-
election.

INEDs are not appointed for a specific term. However, all Directors
are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the annual
general meeting of the Company in accordance with the Bye-laws.

Each of the INEDs has made an annual confirmation of
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
Company considers that all INEDs are independent.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)
Appointment and re-election of Directors

Biographical details of the Directors as at the date of this annual
report are set out in the section headed “Biographical Details
of Directors” on pages 23 to 26 of this annual report, which
demonstrates a diversity of skills, expertise, experience and
qualifications.

Pursuant to Bye-law 87 of the Bye-laws, one-third of the
Directors shall retire by rotation at each annual general meeting
of the Company provided that every Director shall be subject to
retirement at the annual general meeting of the Company at least
once every three years. All retiring Directors shall be eligible for re-
election.

The Board members have no financial, business, family or other
material/relevant relationships with each other. Such balanced
Board composition is formed to ensure strong independence exists
across the Board and has more than one-third in number of its
members comprising INEDs.

All Directors have given sufficient time and attention to the affairs
of the Group. Each executive Director is suitably qualified for his/
her position, and has sufficient experience to hold the position so
as to carry out his/her duties effectively and efficiently.

Board meetings

The Company Secretary shall assist the Chairman and the executive
Directors in establishing the meeting agenda, and each Director
is able to request inclusion of items in the agenda. The Board
schedules at least four regular meetings a year and also meets as
and when required. During the year ended 31 December 2019,
the Board held twenty four meetings. All such meetings were
convened in accordance with the Bye-laws.

Under code provision A.1.3 of the CG Code, notice of at least
fourteen days should be given of a regular board meeting to give
all directors an opportunity to attend. During the year ended 31
December 2019, certain Board meetings were convened with
less than fourteen days’ notice to enable the Board members to
react timely and make expeditious decisions in respect of urgent
corporate transaction and general business update which was
significant in nature. As a result, such Board meetings were held
with a shorter notice period than required with the consent of
the Directors. The Board will do its best endeavour to meet the
requirement of code provision A.1.3 of the CG Code in the future.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)
Board meetings (Continued)

Adequate and appropriate information are circulated to the
Directors normally three days in advance of Board meetings
or such period accepted by them. In addition to regular Board
meetings, the Chairman should at least annually hold a meeting
with the INEDs without the presence of other Directors pursuant
to code provision A.2.7 of the CG Code. However, the position of
Chairman remained vacant during the reporting year. As a result,
the Company deviated from code of provision A.2.7 of the CG
Code.

Minutes of all Board and committee meetings are kept by the
Company Secretary and are open for inspection by the Directors.
Draft minutes of all Board and committee meetings are circulated
to all Directors and committee members for comments within the
period accepted by them after each meeting.

Attendance of Directors at various meetings

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the attendance of each
individual Director at the Board meetings, committee meetings, the
special general meeting held on 10 May 2019 (“SGM") and the
annual general meeting held on 13 June 2019 (“2019 AGM"), are
as follow:
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Attended/Eligible to attend

LR/ RERLE
Audit Nomination  Remuneration
Board Committee Committee Committee General
Meetings Meetings Meetings Meetings Meetings
EZREE BNZEGEE REZEeEE FMzEesR REAE
Executive Directors HITEE
Dr. Kwong Kai Sing Benny BEREL
(Chief Executive Officer) " (178#4) 24124 N/A TiE R N/A T NA TiE R b))
Mr. Chen Weisong 2 RENEE 2424 NA T ER NA T A NA T A 1
Mr. Chow Chi Wah Vincent #? ALERE 4/4 NA @ N/A i@ NA @ NIA i@
Mr. Xu Ke "ot fRAI L 1/4 NA R ER NA T ER N/A TR NATER
Independent Non-executive Directors BUHHTEE
Dr. Gao Bin REEL 1324 W) 33 373 02
Ms. Liu Yan Yeut 13024 212 33 33 112
Mr. Tang King Shing BEKEE 1324 2 3R 33 M
Notes: sk -
1 appointed as CEO on 30 October 2019 1. RIZZE-NFTA=THBEZERITHREH
2. ceased to act as CEO on 30 October 2019 2. RIE-NF+A=tRHEFELEFITHRER
3. appointed on 30 October 2019 3. RIZE-NAF+A=Z+HEZE
4. resigned on 23 April 2019 4 RIZE-NFUAZ+=HEIT
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Attendance of Directors at various meetings
(Continued)

According to code provision A.6.7 of the CG Code, all independent
non-executive directors and non-executive directors should attend
general meetings of listed issuers.

Dr. Gao Bin, the INED, was unable to attend the SGM and 2019
AGM, due to his other business engagement. Ms. Liu Yan, the
INED, was unable to attend 2019 AGM due to her other business
engagement.

Directors’ training and continuous professional
development

During the year ended 31 December 2019, Mr. Chow Chi Wah
Vincent, the newly appointed Director, was given an induction
after his appointment as the executive Director so as to ensure
that he has appropriate understanding of the Group’s business
and of his duties and responsibilities under the Listing Rules and
the relevant statutory and regulatory requirements. The Company
provides regular updates on the business performance of the
Group to the Directors. The Directors are continually updated
on the latest development regarding the Listing Rules and other
applicable statutory requirements to ensure compliance and
upkeeping of good corporate governance practices.

The Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh knowledge and
skills. The Company has received confirmation from all Directors of
their respective training records for the year ended 31 December
2019.

Corporate governance functions

Pursuant to code provision D.3.1 of the CG Code, the Board is also
responsible for performing the corporate governance duties as set
out below:

(@) to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance;

(b) to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior

management;

(c) to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)
Corporate governance functions (Continued)

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to Directors and
employees; and

(e) to review the Company’'s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the CG Report.

This CG Report has been reviewed by the Board in discharge of its
corporate governance functions.

Directors’ and officers’ liability insurance and
indemnity

To indemnify Directors and officers of the Company against all
costs, charges, losses, expenses and liabilities incurred by them in
the execution of and discharge of their duties or in relation thereto,
the Company has arranged insurance cover for this purpose.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee of the Company (“Nomination
Committee"”) was established with a specific written terms of
reference in compliance with the CG Code. The terms of reference
of the Nomination Committee are available on the websites of the
Stock Exchange and the Company.

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy (“Board Diversity
Policy”) stipulating the composition of the Board. The Company
seeks to achieve Board diversity through the consideration of
a number of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, professional qualification,
skills, knowledge and length of service. The appointment of
the members of the Board will be based on meritocracy, and
candidates will be considered against objective criteria, having due
regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board.

BER @
TEER

d HE BRIMEREANEZTREENTR
ERIRARTFM(NE) : &

BE (#)

() BMIAARABTEREATANBRLRE
KEAMEPTIERORKE -

RETEXREERE EFRCEHMALEENR
BE -

EERERAEZEARBRBEE

RBERARREERSRABEARTRETER
BEffESELBARNAAERES B BB
X RAE  ARFC IR HRREE -

REEZES

AABEBREXEARTAKIERZES (1
BZEET]]) VYEATUFETEMREEE --SH
ZE MBS E T N AT AR RABEER] o

ERRERMEERSTIEE (EERSRA
BHE) AEREER - AAFBBERETFHEE
BEETRAME F8 XERAELE &
SR A MREREFAR EHEERN
B5 5L - BB BRENED IS AARS AKE
FRREBEI ZAZEEBRRES T
Wi o

AMZERBRRE —T—NFFR

49



50

Corporate Governance Report
ERERWE

NOMINATION COMMITTEE (continued)

The Board has adopted a nomination policy (“Nomination
Policy”) with the aim of ensuring the Board has a balance of skills,
experience, knowledge and diversity of perspectives appropriate
to the requirements of the Group’s business. When considering
a candidate nominated for directorship or a retiring Director’s
proposed re-appointment, the Nomination Committee will
have regard to, (i) age, skills, knowledge, experience, expertise,
professional and educational qualifications, background and
other personal qualities of the candidate; (ii) effect on the Board’s
composition and diversity; (i) commitment of the candidate to
devote sufficient time to effectively carry out his/her duties; (iv)
potential and/or actual conflicts of interest that may arise; (v)
independence; (vi) in the case of a proposed re-appointment of an
INED, the number of years he/she has already served; and (vii) other
factors considered to be relevant by the Nomination Committee.
Having due regard to the Nomination Policy and the Board Diversity
Policy, the Nomination Committee will identify and consider each
suitable candidate or retiring Director and make recommendation
to the Board. Subject to the provisions of the Bye-laws, each the
appointment of new Director and re-appointment of Director will
be stand for re-election at the general meeting.

As at 31 December 2019, the Nomination Committee comprised
three Directors, all of them are INEDs. The members of the
Nomination Committee are:

Dr. Gao Bin (Chairman)
Ms. Liu Yan
Mr. Tang King Shing

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Nomination
Committee held three meetings. The attendance of each member
during the reporting period is set out on page 47 of this annual
report.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE (continued)

The work performed by the Nomination Committee during the
year ended 31 December 2019 included:

(@) reviewed the structure, size and composition of the Board;

(b) identified individual suitably qualified to become Board
members and made recommendation to the Board on their
appointments;

(c) assessed the independence of the INEDs;

(d)  made recommendations to the Board on the retiring Directors
for re-election at the 2019 AGM; and

(e) reviewed the Nomination Policy.

Having reviewed the Board Diversity Policy and the composition
of the Board, the Nomination Committee is satisfied that the
requirements set out in the Board Diversity Policy had been met.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee of the Company (“Remuneration
Committee”) was established with a specific written terms of
reference in compliance with the CG Code. The terms of reference
of the Remuneration Committee are available on the websites of
the Stock Exchange and the Company.

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for making
recommendations to the Board, among other things, on
the Company’s policy and structure for the remuneration of
all Directors and senior management of the Company. No
individual Director is involved in decisions relating to his/her own
remuneration. The Remuneration Committee has adopted the
model under code provision B.1.2(c)(ii) of the CG Code to make
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of
individual executive Directors and senior management.

As at 31 December 2019, the Remuneration Committee comprised
three Directors, all of them are INEDs. The members of the
Remuneration Committee were:

Dr. Gao Bin (Chairman)
Ms. Liu Yan
Mr. Tang King Shing

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Remuneration
Committee held three meetings. The attendance of each member
during the reporting period is set out on page 47 of this annual
report.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE (Continued)

The work performed by the Remuneration Committee during the
year ended 31 December 2019 included:

(@) reviewed the performance of executive Director and specific
staff and recommended to the Board specific adjustments in
reward payments;

(b) reviewed and recommended the remuneration packages of
the executive Directors and senior management for the year
ended 31 December 2018; and

() reviewed and recommended the remuneration packages
of the newly appointed Director for the year ended 31
December 2019.

Details of the Directors’ remuneration are set out in note 14 to the
consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee of the Company (“Audit Committee”) was
established with a specific written terms of reference in compliance
with the CG Code. The terms of reference of the Audit Committee
are available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company.

The Audit Committee is responsible for reviewing and supervising
the financial reporting process, assisting the Board to ensure
effective risk management and internal control systems of the
Group and providing advice and comments to the Board. The
Audit Committee is provided with sufficient resources to discharge
its duties and may access to independent professional advice if
considered necessary.

As at 31 December 2019, the Audit Committee comprises three
Directors, all of them are INEDs. The members of the Audit
Committee are:

Ms. Liu Yan (Chairman)
Dr. Gao Bin
Mr. Tang King Shing

Ms. Liu Yan, the Chairman of Audit Committee, possesses relevant
professional qualifications and financial management expertise and
meets the requirements of Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Audit Committee
held two meetings. The attendance of each member during the
year ended 31 December 2019 is set out on page 47 of this annual
report.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the work performed by
the Audit Committee included:

(a

(9)

reviewed with the Company’s auditors the audited financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2018 and
reviewed the unaudited interim financial statements for the
six months ended 30 June 2019, with recommendations to
the Board for approval;

reviewed the risk management report on monitoring of the
risk management and internal control systems of the Group;

reviewed the compliance issues with the regulatory and
statutory requirements;

reviewed with the management of the Company the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group;

reviewed the term and remuneration for the appointment of
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu (“Deloitte”) as external auditor
to perform the agreed-upon of the final results for the year
ended 31 December 2018 and the general review on the
interim results for the six-month ended 30 June 2019;

reviewed the independence of Deloitte as the external
auditor, especially for those non-audit services; and

nominated the re-appointment of Deloitte as the auditors of
the Company at the 2019 AGM.

The Audit Committee is provided with sufficient resources to
discharge its duties and may access to independent professional
advice if considered necessary.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the remunerations
paid and was payable to Deloitte for audit services and non-audit
services regarding the review of interim financial statements and
other assurance and non-assurance engagements rendered to the
Group are as follow:

Services rendered for the Group

RAEEMEHR KRB

BB B &

RBE_Z-—NAFT_A=+—"RILFE 3MH
AEBREHR 2 EZRSE R RMEHERFHARE
iz E R IR E TIENEEZRE N REMN T
BT

Fees paid/
payable to
Deloitte
21BN
EHNER
HK$'000
FHET

E 2R
FEEZIRTE

Audit services
Non-audit services

Total At

The Audit Committee is satisfied with, inter alia, the audit fees,
effectiveness of the audit process, independence and objectivity of
Deloitte and has recommended to the Board the re-appointment
of Deloitte as the Company’s external auditor for the ensuing year
at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial
statements of the Group for the relevant accounting periods under
applicable statutory and regulatory requirements which give a true
and fair view of the state of affairs, the results of operations and
cash flows of the Group. In preparing the financial statements
for the six months ended 30 June 2019 and the year ended 31
December 2019, the Directors have adopted suitable accounting
policies and applied them consistently.

The responsibility of the auditors with respect to these financial

statements are set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on
pages 72 to 78 of this annual report.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROLS

The Board is responsible for establishing and maintaining a sound
risk management and internal control system within the Group
and reviewing their effectiveness. However, such system was
designed only to manage various risks of the Group within certain
acceptable risk level, rather than completely eliminate the risk
of failing to achieve the business objectives of the Group, and
can only provide reasonable but not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or losses. The Audit Committee assists the
Board to oversee the management in the design, implementation
and monitoring of the risk management and internal control
systems.

The Group has a risk management and compliance department to
perform the internal audit functions. During the year under review,
the internal auditors of the Group carried out an analysis and
independent appraisal regarding the adequacy and effectiveness of
its risk management and internal control systems.

In addition, the Group has developed an internal control
model which follows the principle of Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COSO"). It consists
of five elements, namely control environment, risk assessment,
control, information and communication, and monitoring. Under
this control model, the Group’s management is responsible
for the design, implementation and maintenance of internal
control measures and its effectiveness, and the Board and Audit
Committee will supervise the appropriateness of internal control
measures as designed by the management and the effective
implementation of internal control measures. Meanwhile, the
internal control has adapted to the Group's scale of operation,
scope of business, competition and risks, and is subject to prompt
adjustments according to changes in circumstances. It will be
a long-lasting and continuous work to improve the internal
control system, implement the regulated system and intensify the
supervision and examination of internal control.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROLS (continued)

The risk management and compliance department also prepared
a risk management framework of the Group, including the
construction of the architecture for the aforementioned
organisation and definition of the responsibilities of all parties
concerned, and prepared risk management policies and processes
and clarified the risk assessment procedures, which, specifically
include risk identification, risk analysis, risk control and risk report.

Step 1:  Risk identification — identify risks currently exposed to
the Group and business and its existing management
and control measures.

Step 2:  Risk analysis — analyse the possibility of risk, extent of
influence and its existing management and control
measures, identify risk exposure, and propose further
countermeasures.

Step 3:  Risk control — implement and periodically detect the
identified risks to ensure effective operation of risk
countermeasures.

Step 4:  Risk report — summarise the results of risk management
analysis, prepare action plans and report to the
management, Audit Committee and the Board.

During the year under review, the risk management and
compliance department has updated and revised the Group’s
risk management system in light of its actual conditions with
the assistance of individual business units and departments to
review and provide their feedbacks. In 2019, through this risk
management system, the risk management and compliance
department selected the major business units and departments
of the Group to complete three major risk control activities,
including its assessment, scoring and ranking, and prepare risk
countermeasures to ensure that each significant risk has adequate
corresponding risk countermeasures.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROLS (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the Board considered the
Group’s current risk assessment system was effective and adequate.
Periodical reviews will be performed to improve and safeguard
the effective operation of the Group’s risk management system.
In addition, in view of the enhanced control on listed companies
in recent years by regulators such as the SFC and the Listing
Committee of the Stock Exchange, backed by the consolidated
corporate systems and procedures and internal control manual, the
risk management and compliance department conducted sampling
check on major compliance control activities and procedures of
the Group during the year under review and no material internal
control deficiencies was discovered.

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the Audit Committee
has reviewed the findings and impartial opinion of the risk
management and compliance department on the effectiveness
of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems.
The Board is of the opinion that the available resources and staff
qualifications of the Group’s accounting and financial reporting
functions are adequate and sufficient. Based on the information
furnished and upon its own observations, the Board is satisfied
with the present internal controls of the Group.

The Group regularly reminds the Directors and employees on
compliance policy regarding inside information, and provides
them updates in relation to the appropriate guidelines or policies
to ensure complying with regulatory requirements. The Group
is aware of its obligations under the SFO, the Listing Rules and
overriding principles and that inside information should be
announced timely and conducts its affairs in strict compliance with
the prevailing applicable laws and regulations in Hong Kong.
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RESPONSIBILITIES, ACCOUNTABILITIES
AND CONTRIBUTIONS OF THE BOARD AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The Board assumes responsibility for leadership and control of
the Company and is collectively responsible for promoting the
success of the Company by directing and supervising its affairs.
All Directors should make decisions objectively in the interests
of the Company. The Board reserves for its decision on all major
matters relating to policy matters, strategies and budgets, internal
control and risk management, material transactions (in particular
those that may involve conflict of interests), financial information,
appointment of Directors and other significant operational matters
of the Company. Responsibilities relating to implementing decisions
of the Board, directing, and coordinating the daily operation of the
Company are delegated to the senior management.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Yam Wai Wah Jenny (“Ms. Yam”) is a full-time employee
company secretary of the Group. She is responsible for facilitating
the Board process, as well as the communications among the
Board members, Shareholders and Management. She also prepared
detailed minutes of each meeting and such minutes would be sent
to the Board for comments as soon as practicable. Ms. Yam reports
directly to the Board. All Directors are able to access to the advice
and services of the Company Secretary to ensure that all applicable
laws, rules and regulations are followed. During the year ended 31
December 2019, Ms. Yam undertook no less than fifteen hours of
professional training to update her skills and knowledge pursuant
to Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Board recognises the importance of good communication with
all Shareholders. The annual general meeting of the Company
is a valuable avenue for the Board to enter into direct dialogue
with Shareholders. The Chairman and the members of Board
committees will attend the annual general meeting to answer any
question raised from the Shareholders.

In addition, the Company convened one SGM during the year
ended 31 December 2019 approving the declaration of Second
Special Dividend and such meeting was convened in accordance
with the Bye-laws, the Listing Rules and the corporate governance
procedures of the Company. These provided further opportunities
for Shareholders to comment and vote on specific transactions.

The interim and annual reports of the Company are despatched
to Shareholders in a timely manner before the time limits laid
by statutory and Listing Rules requirements to ensure effective
communication with Shareholders.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
(Continued)

All Shareholders are given at least twenty clear business days’
notice before the date of the annual general meetings and at
least ten clear business days’ notice for all other general meetings
pursuant to code provision E.1.3 of the CG Code.

All the annual and interim reports, circulars, announcements and
notices of Shareholders meetings as required under the Listing
Rules are available on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange.

The Company has also complied with the requirements concerning
voting by poll under the Listing Rules. Details of the poll voting
procedures and the rights of Shareholders to demand a poll are
included in circulars to Shareholders despatched by the Company
and explained by the chairman of general meeting at the meeting.
All resolutions proposed at general meeting are voted separately.

Procedures for convening a special general
meeting

Shareholders shall have the right to request the Board to convene
a special general meeting of the Company. Pursuant to Bye-law
58 of the Bye-laws, Shareholders holding in aggregate of not less
than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company may send
a written request to the Board to request for a special general
meeting; and such meeting shall be held within two months after
the deposit of such requisition.

The written requisition, duly signed by the Shareholder(s)
concerned, must state the purposes of the meeting and must be
deposited at the Company’s principal place of business in Hong
Kong at Room 2902, 29th Floor, China United Centre, 28 Marble
Road, North Point, Hong Kong or at the Company’s branch share
registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong, Tricor Tengis Limited, at
Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong.

The Company would take appropriate actions and make necessary
arrangements, and the Shareholder(s) concerned would be
responsible for the expenses incurred in giving effect thereto
in accordance with the requirements under Section 74 of the
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended) (“Companies
Act”) once a valid requisition is received.

If within twenty one days of such deposit the Board fails to
proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionists, or any of
them representing more than one half of the total voting rights of
all of them, may themselves convene a meeting, but any meeting
so convened shall not be held after the expiration of three months
from the said date.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
(Continued)

Procedures for convening a special general
meeting (Continued)

A meeting convened by the requisitionists shall be convened in the
same manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which meetings are
to be convened by the Directors.

Any reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionists by reason
of the failure of the Directors duly to convene a meeting shall
be repaid to the requisitionists by the Company, and any sum so
repaid shall be retained by the Company out of any sums due
or to become due from the Company by way of fees or other
remuneration in respect of their services to such Directors as were
in default.

Procedures for Shareholders to put forward
proposals at general meetings

The following Shareholder(s) is/are entitled to put forward
a proposal (which may properly be put to the meeting) for
consideration at a general meeting of the Company:

(@ any number of members representing not less than one-
twentieth of the total voting rights of the Company on the
date of the requisition; or

(b) not less than one hundred Shareholders holding shares in the
Company.

The requisition specifying the proposal, duly signed by the
Shareholder(s) concerned, together with a statement of not more
than a thousand words with respect to the matter referred to
in the proposal must be deposited at the Company’s principal
place of business in Hong Kong at Room 2902, 29th Floor, China
United Centre, 28 Marble Road, North Point, Hong Kong or at the
Company's branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong,
Tricor Tengis Limited, at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s
Road East, Hong Kong. The Company would take appropriate
actions and make necessary arrangements, and the Shareholder(s)
concerned would be responsible for the expenses incurred in
giving effect thereto in accordance with the requirements under
Sections 79 and 80 of the Companies Act once valid documents
are received.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
(Continued)

Dividend policy

The Company has adopted a dividend policy. The declaration and
payment of dividends shall be determined at the sole discretion
of the Board and subject to all applicable requirements (including
without limitation restrictions on dividend declaration and
payment) under the Companies Act and the Bye-laws. In proposing
any dividend payout, the Board shall take into account, inter alia,
the Group’s actual and expected financial results, the economic
conditions and other factors that may have impact on the Group;
the Group’s business strategies, current and future operations,
liquidity position and capital requirements and any other factors
that the Board deems appropriate. The dividend payout ratio will
vary from year to year. There is no assurance that dividends will be
paid in any particular amount for any given period.

Procedures for directing Shareholders’
enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and concerns to
the Board in writing via the following channel:

In respect of the corporate affairs:

The Board of Directors/Company Secretary
Tai United Holdings Limited

Room 2902, 29th Floor

China United Centre

28 Marble Road

North Point

Hong Kong

E-mail: ir@taiunited.com

Facsimile: (852) 2527-1144

In respect of the other shareholding/entitlement affairs:

Tricor Tengis Limited

Level 54, Hopewell Centre
183 Queen’s Road East
Hong Kong

Shareholders may also make enquiries with the Board at the
general meetings of the Company.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There was no significant change in the Company’s constitutional
documents during the year ended 31 December 2019.
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The Directors are pleased to submit herewith their annual report
together with the audited consolidated financial statements of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2019.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. As
at 31 December 2019, the Group was principally engaged in
(i) financial services and asset management; (ii) commodity and
medical equipment trading; (iii) property investment; and (iv)
mining and exploitation of natural resources.

The activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 47 to
the consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the year ended
31 December 2019 by segments are set out in note 6 to the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2019 are
set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on pages 79 to 80.

On 10 June 2019, the Second Special Dividend in respect of the
financial year ended 31 December 2018 of 20 HK cents per share
of the Company, totalling approximately HK$1,050.0 million in
cash was paid.

Details of the Second Special Dividend were set out in the
Company’s announcement of final results and annual report for
the year ended 31 December 2018 dated 26 March 2019, the
Company’'s announcement dated 10 May 2019 and the Company'’s
circular dated 23 April 2019.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PROSPECT

A fair review of the business of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2019 and a discussion on the Group’s further business
development are provided in the sections headed “Chief Executive
Officer's Statement” and “Management Discussion and Analysis”
of this annual report.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The principal risks and uncertainties facing by the Group include
strategic, operational and financial risks. Each of them is discussed
briefly as below:

Strategic risks

The Directors maintain a strategic plan based on the knowledge
to the external environments. The Group will invest in projects
and investments based on the strategic plan in order to cope with
the market demand and expectation. Given the rapid change
of unforeseeable external environments in the financial and
equity markets, the Group is facing significant strategic risks on
its investments when changing the strategic plans to adopt the
unexpected changes of external environments.

Operational risks

Management regularly reviews the Group's operations to ensure
that the Group’s risk of losses, whether financial or otherwise,
resulting from fraud, errors, omissions and other operational and
compliance matters, are adequately managed.

Financial risks

The principal financial risks are set out in note 41(b) to the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report headed
under “Financial risk management objectives and policies”.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial reporting periods is set out on page
231 of this annual report.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movement in the share capital of the Company during
the year ended 31 December 2019, together with the reasons, are
set out in note 37 to the consolidated financial statements of this
annual report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2019, the Company’s reserves available
for distribution to equity holders of the parent, calculated in
accordance with the Companies Act, amounted to approximately
HK$1,586 million (2018: approximately HK$3,107 million).
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EQUITY-LINKED ARRANGEMENTS

Other than the share option scheme as disclosed in note 45 to the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report, no equity-
linked arrangements were entered into by the Company during the
year or subsisted at year ended 31 December 2019.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-laws
or the laws of Bermuda which would oblige the Company to offer
new shares on a pro rata basis to existing Shareholders.

FIXED ASSETS

Details of movements in the Group’s property, plant and
equipment and investment properties during the year ended 31
December 2019 are set out in notes 17 to 18 to the consolidated
financial statements of this annual report.

BORROWINGS

Particulars of the Group’s borrowings are set out in note 32 to the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

CHARITABLE DONATION

No charitable donation was made by the Group during the year
ended 31 December 2019 (2018: nil).

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTIONS OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES DIRECTORS

During the year ended 31 December 2019, neither the Company,
nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, redeemed or sold any of the
Company’s listed securities.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year ended 31 December 2019 and up to
the date of this annual report were:

Executive Directors

Dr. Kwong Kai Sing Benny
(appointed as CEO on 30 October 2019)
Mr. Chen Weisong
(ceased to act as CEO on 30 October 2019)
Mr. Chow Chi Wah Vincent (appointed on 30 October 2019)
Mr. Xu Ke (resigned on 23 April 2019)

Independent non-executive Directors

Dr. Gao Bin
Ms. Liu Yan
Mr. Tang King Shing

In accordance with Bye-law 87 of the Bye-laws, Mr. Chen Weisong
and Mr. Tang King Shing shall retire by rotation from office and,
being eligible, offer himself for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting. Pursuant to Bye-law 86 of the Bye-laws,
Mr. Chow Chi Wah Vincent shall hold office until the forthcoming
annual general meeting and, being eligible, offer himself for re-
election at the meeting.

Each of the INEDs has made an annual confirmation of
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
Company considers that all INEDs are independent.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

The Director's biographical information are set out on pages 23 to
26 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has a service contract with the Company or any of
its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the Company within
one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

S
REE-T-NF+-A=+-BLFEARR

ERFHAPOEEMT :

HITES

FRRAL I+
(R=F-NAF+A=+BEEETATHER)
FRIE A

(R=_Z2-NF+A=+HAEEETHREL)
BEELAE(R_ZE-NF+A=TBEEEZMT)
HRAEE (R _Z-NAFEOA - +=HEE)

BAFITES

=AML
Fehz+
WEMEE

RRABIAANEST IR REMREERBEKEE
BREEBRRBEFAS LHBESE HERNTEE
RAFEEEEEE - RIEFQRADAIESH AL
ERAZEHEERERRBFAE /L HR
MABRMILMERNZAE LEEREE-

EBUFATEFTCRELTRANFEINENR
ERXFEHIMERRE ARARREZEREYL
FRTEFTHBBELAL

EEEEFR
EEREARBNAFREBEETE20E -

EESNRBEN

ERENEERRBFAE LERETNESHRE
HARNRHEEAME AR ZEMIATAARR
AR —FARKIEMBAELEE CEEMERIN)
HIRFEE#) -

AMZERBRRE —T—NFFR

65



66

Report of the Directors
E=RWE

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Bye-law 166(1) of the Bye-laws provides that, among other, every
Director and other officers of the Company shall be indemnified
and secured harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company
from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and
expenses which they or any of them shall or may incur sustain by
or by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or about
the execution of their duty, or supposed duty, in their respective
offices and related matters provided that the indemnity shall not
extend to any matter in respect of any fraud or dishonesty which
may attach to any of them.

In this connection, the Company has arranged directors’ and
officers’ liability insurance coverage for Directors and the officers of
the Company during the year ended 31 December 2019.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in note 39 to the consolidated financial
statements of this annual report, no other transactions,
arrangements or contracts of significance to which the Company
or its subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director had a
material interest subsisted during or at the end of the year ended
31 December 2019.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

None of the Directors or their respective associates was interested
in, apart from the Group's businesses, any business which
competes or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with
the businesses of the Group.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company
were entered into or were in existence during the year ended 31
December 2019.

Tai United Holdings Limited Annual Report 2019

EETRERX

RAEIARFE166(MIRARTE - (AP B ARAIH

BUEEREMSABERBETRES B NE
BREXBREREHEMEL  BERIERNTEH
FEEAA N AREEMAEREIAMAEFD
ER WE BE RERRAXHAERRFMN
HEERGIFHRBERRERTIRE HBE
ERERBEMBENERARFXATHETR
MEFEER -

RUEME ARAFAERBE_ZT-ALF+_H
== Etﬁfﬁﬂﬁ%%&$ GISEIE: kg7
ExmEBERERRE

EEREARRG  REHEHNTH
s

BRAF GRS M BFIMRME3OAEEESIN - RE

“E-NAF T AT HIEFEARERE
BEGEARRSIEMBRARNARTNS BEF
RETFHEBEEAESNEMBARRS LHRAL

EERNBRFRB RS

BARBERBIN BEEIWREZTAZIHEALH
BERNEMEAEEXBERZIERBERKATER
R FZ RGP EB R -

EEEH
REE ﬂ$+—ﬂ_+—5¢¢§W
ﬁﬂitﬁﬁﬁﬁ$ RIZ R {E T E A

BEERITHAH



Report of the Directors
E=RWE

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND RELATED
PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the transactions are disclosed in note 39 to the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report. None of
these transactions constitutes a connected transaction and/or
related party transaction under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES'
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2019, none of the Directors or chief executive
of the Company had any interests or short positions in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company and its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which
were required (i) to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests or short positions which they were taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (ii) pursuant
to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred
to therein; or (iii) required to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transaction by Directors of Listed Companies as set out in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AND
OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2019, so far as it is known by Director or the
chief executive of the Company, the particulars of the corporations
or individuals who had any interests or short positions in the shares
and underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be
disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and
3 of Part XV of the SFO, as recorded in the register required to be
kept under section 336 of the SFO (“Register of Shareholders”)
were as follows:

Long position in the shares of the Company

Capacity and nature of interest
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REQXTRGBHER

Percentage of

Interests of Number of the Company’s

Controlled ordinary issued share capital

Beneficial Owner Corporation Shares held (approximately)

Name (Note 1)

EARDT

ZEREEE & B ERITRA

&8 BRERA 2R g ! B (H4H)

(Wzz1)

Satinu Resources Group Ltd. - 3,937,234,889 3,937,234,889 74.99%
(”SBtinu”) (Note 2)

Satinu Resources Group Ltd.

(TSatinuJ) (H#22)

Songbird SG PTE. LTD. 3,937,234,889 = 3,937,234,889 74.99%

("Songbird SG")
Songbird SG PTE. LTD.
(['Songbird SG |)

Notes:

1. The percentage represented the number of shares held over the total 1.
number of issued shares of the Company of 5,250,019,852 shares as

at 31 December 2019.

2. Satinu indirectly wholly owns Yellowbird Capital Management 2.
(GP) Limited, which is the general partner of Yellowbird Special
Opportunities Fund, L.P. (“Yellowbird Fund”). Yellowbird Fund
indirectly wholly owns Songbird SG, which in turn owns 74.99% of

the issues shares in the Company.

FsE

BOLER-_E—NAE+_A=+—BAERMNE
B AR AIE BT 4288 5,250,019,852 A% 2 LA ©

Satinu [ £ #% A Yellowbird Capital Management
(GP) Limited * Yellowbird Capital Management
(GP) Limited % Yellowbird Special Opportunities
Fund, L.P. ([ Yellowbird Fund ]) 2 £&@ & EZ A °

Yellowbird Fund & # % & # A Songbird SG * 1
Songbird SG#EA AN R T B BEITAR(D 2 74.99% s ©

Save as disclosed above, there is no person (other than a Director
or the chief executive of the Company) as at 31 December 2019,
had 5% or more interests or short positions in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the Register of
Shareholders.
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RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEES

The Board recognises the employees are the most valuable asset
of the Group. The Group provides the staff with competitive
remuneration packages as well as a safe, harmonious and
discrimination-free working environment.

Details of which are set out in the section headed “Employees and
Remuneration Policies” in this annual report on page 21 and the
sections headed “B1. Employment” to “B4. Labour Standards”
under the ESG Report contained in this annual report on pages 34
to 38.

RELATIONSHIP WITH MAJOR CUSTOMERS
AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the percentages of the
Group’s turnover attributable to its largest customer and five
largest customers were approximately 40% and 14% respectively.
The aggregate amount of purchases attributable to the Group’s
five largest suppliers accounted for approximately 99% of the
Group's total purchases and the amount of purchase attributable
to the Group's largest supplier was approximately 69% of the
Group's total purchases.

To the knowledge of the Directors, none of the Directors, or their
respective associates, or Shareholders owning more than 5% of
the Company’s issued share capital had any beneficial interests in
any of the five largest customers or suppliers during the year ended
31 December 2019.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

Principal corporate governance practices as adopted by the
Company are set out in the “Corporate Governance Report” on
pages 43 to 61 of this annual report.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Company was
not aware of any non-compliance with any relevant laws and
regulations that had significant impact on it.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES

The Group is committed to reducing its carbon footprint and
consumption of natural resources in all possible aspects of
business operations. Our environmental strategy is to achieve a
balance between the quality and efficiency of our services and
the minimisation of greenhouse gas emissions and environmental
degradation. Accordingly, the Group has taken a proactive
approach to effect internal and external communications by means
of telephone, emails and conferences or such other communication
means which are efficient yet environmentally friendly. Also, the
Group are able to minimise physical travelling and printing.

More details regarding the Group’s environmental policies,
practices and performance are set out in the section headed “A.
Environmental” under the ESG Report on pages 28 to 33 of this
annual report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, as at the date of this
annual report, there is sufficient public float of more than 25% of
the Company’s issued shares as required under the Listing Rules.

AUDIT COMMITTEE AND REVIEW ON THE
ANNUAL RESULTS

The Company has established the Audit Committee with a specific
written terms of reference in accordance with the requirements
under Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules and the CG Code. The Audit
Committee is responsible for, among others, reviewing and
supervising the Group’s financial reporting process, assisting the
Board to ensure effective risk management and internal control
systems and providing advice and comments to the Board.

As at 31 December 2019 and up to the date of this annual report,
the Audit Committee comprised all three INEDs, namely, Dr. Gao
Bin, Ms. Liu Yan and Mr. Tang King Shing. Ms. Liu Yan is elected
as the chairman of the Audit Committee.

The audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2019 have been reviewed by the
Audit Committee together with the Management and the external
auditors of the Company. The Audit Committee is satisfied that
such statements comply with the applicable accounting standards
and that adequate disclosures have been made.
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Report of the Directors
E=RWE

AUDITORS

The financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019
have been audited by Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, who will retire
and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment. A
resolution for their re-appointment as the auditor of the Company
will be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

On behalf of the Board
Kwong Kai Sing Benny
Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong
27 March 2020
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BN B AR EE

Deloitte.

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF TAI UNITED HOLDINGS LIMITED
AMERERAF

(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Tai
United Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as “the Group”) set out on pages 79 to
230, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2019, and the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated
statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2019, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA"”) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B AZBE R E S

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on

these matters.

Key audit matter

MEETER

BRRESER

AREAFTHAERERMNERHE  RAHA
HGAMBREANEARSEENEH BLEF
HEERMEEE ?éﬁﬁi‘“#&%&ﬁﬁi‘i%
ETREN R TSHELFRERERNER

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BANESFNAERRRENER

Valuation of investment properties

REWFEZ14E

We identified the valuation of investment properties as
a key audit matter due to the determination of the fair
value of these investment properties is dependent on
certain unobservable inputs and key assumptions that
require significant management judgments which are
assessed based on a method of valuation.
BmRREMEZHERBREAFTE RESE
EREREMERIAABICRNEIREAERRBEME
ERHE 2 ERFE 2 & T AR BREABIE R EZ2RE -

All the Group's investment properties are measured
at fair value based on valuations performed by an
independent qualified professional valuer which makes
reference to market evidence of transaction prices for
similar properties in the same location and conditions.
Details of the valuation technique and key inputs used
in the valuations are set out in Notes 4 and 18 to the
consolidated financial statements.

EEEMAREMEDRBBYAGEREELEME
HjZE{E?ﬁ’A/ME.ﬁi ° ﬁ%ﬁ”mﬂi‘ﬂ?ﬁ&#}ﬂz;ﬁ
UM THR 5 ERBE o (HER A2 M E R
&I%ﬁ@)\%ﬂﬁz.ﬁl NG E B mKRM T4 18

As at 31 December 2019, the Group’s investment
properties are carried at fair value of approximately
HK$807 million as disclosed in Note 18 to the
consolidated financial statements.

T AFt+-A=T—B RMEAHBREMN
HISFTHE - BEEZRAMEDHIEN0TEBE
52 DABAGE -

Our procedures in relation to the valuation of investment
properties included:

BPEREMRBEETZRRFEE

Obtaining an understanding of the key controls over the
processes that the management performed in relation to
the valuation assessment;

TREEEMRGAEFGETIRFZIREER

Evaluating the competence, capabilities and objectivity
of the independent qualified professional valuer and
obtaining an understanding of their scope of work and

terms of engagement;
TEBUEERBEMGEMNCEE - RORTEE
W7 ERE TEEHE R TG

Challenging the valuation technique and reasonableness
of the significant inputs used by the management and
the valuer in the valuations based on our knowledge in
the property market;

ERBMEMET S THREEEERMAERMREE
FERAR 2 R E ST R R BB R A SRR B &

Comparing the market transactions with properties in
the similar location and conditions to the significant
inputs used in the valuations; and
LB ER B E R AR 2 s
Rz @Rgma A &

55 A R BT

Assessing the reasonableness of specific assumptions
made by the management and valuer on adjustments to
the properties valuations, by taking into account of the
conditions, location and other individual factors.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B AZBEV R E S

Key audit matter
BMEETER

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

RMNEANAEERRETSH

Estimated impairment of mining rights

FRIEER 145 Bl 1E

We identified the estimated impairment of mining rights
as a key audit matter due to the significant management
judgments are required to estimate the recoverable
amounts of the mining rights.
BIERRBEENATORESERSTEE  REE
EIR B ERTERE 2 rl O & RS E A E AR HIET

The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less
costs of disposal and value in use. The recoverable
amounts of the mining rights are determined based on
the value in use calculation and certain key assumptions.
Value in use calculation used the discounted future pre-
tax cash flows expected to be derived from the cash-
generating units that holds the mining rights. The Group
has engaged an independent qualified professional valuer
to perform such valuations. The key assumptions used
in estimating the discounted future pre-tax cash flows
include tungsten metal estimated selling price, estimated
future costs of production, estimated future operating
costs, recoverable reserves, resources and exploration
potential, discount rates and exchange rates.
AREREESASERESEXAEEHREE KRG
HEoRBEREZANE B OREERABEAERET
TERRET AEEAEBERRKARRREFER
BREZACELAEMCMBARRNARSRE - B5
HEZE - 2B IEEREEMEMETERME-
HErABRARRNAIR S REMER c FERIBIEFS
TEBEFTEE  AFARREERAE B RREERE -
RS  ERRMRE S IR ERER -

As at 31 December 2019, the carrying amounts of the
mining rights in the Republic of Mongolia (“Mongolia”)
were approximately HK$174 million, net of accumulated
impairment losses of approximately HK$829 million.
Impairment losses of the mining rights amounted to
approximately HK$171 million has been recognised
during the year ended 31 December 2019.
RZZE—NET_A=+—A ZTHEMBE(E4))
ZHRBEREEBEAOR1748 BB T - Mk B5HREE
B89 BERET - B REBEM7TIBEEELE
REBEE-Z-hAEF+-A=+—HLFEER-

Details relating to the management impairment
assessment on the mining rights are set out in Notes 4,
20 and 21 to the consolidated financial statements
FHREEEHRBERE AN G ZFBHRGEEME
WEMIEA - 20221 -
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Our procedures in relation to the estimated impairment of
mining rights included:

AT FE R A O (A R TR E

TZEFBE:

Obtaining an understanding of the key controls over the
processes that the management performed in relation
to the impairment assessment of mining rights and the
preparatlon of the cash flow forecasts;
JRERERRBRREN G RRAESNERAE
ﬁZ?FiF ZEBEE

Evaluating the competence, capabilities and objectivity
of the independent qualified professional valuer and
obtaining an understanding of their scope of work and
terms of engagement;

AHEBY A ER EE;%%TEEWZE%T CBEEOREEM
T ERE TS E R E R

Evaluating the reasonableness and appropriateness
of the significant inputs and assumptions including
tungsten metal estimated selling price, estimated
future costs of production, estimated future operating
costs, recoverable reserves, resources and exploration
potential, discount rates and exchange rates used by the
management and the valuer with reference to market
information, resources estimation technical report and
feasibility study report;

EEENREEMZ2ETSEL  BREERMTRE X
RIATIERR 9T 3 25 P ER AR 6 LA RT 4 B 42 B 8 A\ | fRR
ZEBUEREEN  BRESEBEHAEE B RK
HEERA - REFTARREERE - A REFE - BIRNE
RE ]~ BRER IR R PE K

Engaging our internal valuation expert to assess the
appropriateness of the valuation methodology and
discount rate used in the valuations;

éﬁ%ﬁq*mmﬁ %EWEEME@EPFM%HB’ME@E%&

BRREEEE

Obtaining the sensitivity analysis from the valuer for
certain key inputs of the valuations to evaluate the
magnitude of their impacts on the results of the value in
use of mining rights;

BEEMESEAS TEERERABRBNHRES
AR S BB REEARNTERF

Obtaining legal opinion from the Group’s external legal
counsel in Mongolia on the legal rights and titles of the
mining rights; and
s ESEEFRLIINSEEERMRBERECERm2
EERENREBEREZEEER R

Obtaining confirmation from the Mineral Resources
and Petroleum Authority of Mongolia that the Group’s
mining rights are still in effect and in good standing with
no official exploitation has been conducted by the Group
smce the Group’s acquisition.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B AZBE R E S

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies
Act, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of
this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

e |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used

and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B AZBE R E S

e Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
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From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor’s report is Lau Chi Kin, Kinson.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

27 March 2020
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

Z
~
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z = F—hF+-A=+—HIFE

2019 2018
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
—E-hEF TN\
ior=g FET FHET
Revenue &= 5
Contracts with customers BFEEH 19,955 4,088,275
Leases HE 6,588 95,366
Interest under effective interest method 1% & B K| KK+ E ) A B - 130,579
Net investment losses EREEE 7 (616) (186,343)
Total @z 25,927 4,127,877
Other income H A 8 51,353 9,026
Impairment losses under expected credit FEHI{E EEIBE A TH
loss model, net of reversal RERE - HkREE 9 (39,641) (2,886)
Other gains and losses H b U x5 M E5 18 10 150,973 (124,253)
Purchases and changes in inventories FEZHEENE (12,473) (4,077,048)
Employee benefits expenses EERAFX (43,855) (68,514)
Other operating expenses Hb &Y (55,494) (209,456)
Changes in fair value of investment SEMERNAEE
properties 18 (72,505) (124,942)
Changes in fair value of assets classified D EABFIEHEZEEY
as held-for-sale RAEE 29 (17.412) 58,000
Impairment losses on mining rights RIE#EREEE 20 (170,821) (109,704)
Share of results of an associate DE—FE L N R EE - (394)
Finance costs B TS AR AR 1 (15,291) (71,695)
Loss before tax W 35 Al B 18 (199,239) (593,989)
Income tax (expense) credit g (FxX)Ex 12 (47,531) 40,596
Loss for the year FEBERE 13 (246,770) (553,393)
Other comprehensive (expense) income: A 2 (5 ) Yz ¢
Items that may be reclassified BB 7 E R
subsequently to profit or loss: HH -
Exchange differences arising on BREBINEBREEZ
translation of foreign operations [E 5 =58 (17,264) (76,802)
Reclassification of cumulative exchange ~ A H & Rt tHkIE R A -
differences to profit or loss upon BREZ AT RERENT
disposal and deregistration of BERRERIELERE
subsidiaries, a limited partnership EHOEEER
and a structured entity 43 9,965 -
Other comprehensive expense FEAEMEEMAZ
for the year (7,299) (76,802)
Total comprehensive expense FEXHEMAXERE
for the year (254,069) (630,195)
AMZERERLE] — T W EFR
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

freBm R EM R E S
For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z —FE—hFE+=-A=+—BItFE

2019 2018
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
—E-hEF —E-N\EF
he=g FET FHET
Loss for the year attributable to: DTFATEEFERE:
Owners of the Company ZAN/NGIEZ ZEN (246,440) (553,243)
Non-controlling interests IR A (330) (150)
(246,770) (553,393)
Total comprehensive expense forthe LU T ATE{EEERE
year attributable to: B AR
Owners of the Company ZINNEIEF =N (253,751) (630,045)
Non-controlling interests SRR (318) (150)
(254,069) (630,195)
Loss per share BRER 16
— Basic (HK cents) —FZARGB) (4.69) (10.54)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

RE MR

At 31 December 2019 R - ZT—hE+-_F=+—H

2019 2018
Notes HK$’'000 HK$'000
—E-hEF —E-N\F
hg= FHExT FHET
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BE R FE 17 9,483 19,833
Investment properties AW 18 806,985 856,463
Intangible assets EmREE 19 4,155 4,155
Mining rights g 20 174,016 344,837
Financial assets at fair value through BARERABZEZ
profit or loss TREE 22 571 584
Right-of-use assets EREEE 23 3,005 -
Deferred tax assets RIEFTE & = 35 39 615
Other non-current assets HiIERBEE 6,000 6,000
1,004,254 1,232,487
Current assets REBEE
Inventories FE 24 1,700 1,333
Financial assets at fair value through BRAREFABRZ
profit or loss EREE 22 10,112 10,247
Accounts receivable FEULBR 3R 25 4,244 6,964
Other receivables, deposits and HmERHIE ek
prepayments TEfT IR 26 1,061,759 13,158
Structured deposits EEMTER 28 - 200,143
Bank balances and cash IRITEBNIE S 28 560,240 1,167,972
1,638,055 1,399,817
Assets classified as held-for-sale PHEARBELEZEE 29 - 1,740,466
1,638,055 3,140,283
Current liabilities REEE
Accounts payables FETBRFR 30 - 737
Accrued liabilities and other payables FEEH B & R H At FET 1A 31 6,440 227,760
Borrowings BE 32 281,471 426,626
Other loan HA B3 33 120,958 123,585
Lease liabilities HEAR 36 1,853 =
Tax payables FEIHLIR 138,383 49,714
549,105 828,422
Liabilities associated with assets classified 3 A {ERE 2 &
as held-for-sale @z aE 29 = 105,593
549,105 934,015
Net current assets REEEFE 1,088,950 2,206,268
Total assets less current liabilities HEERRBER 2,093,204 3,438,755
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
A B ARR BR&

At 31 December 2019 R=Z—hE+=-A=+—8

2019 2018
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
—E-hEF T )\F
B & FERT FHET
Non-current liabilities FEREBEE
Deferred tax liabilities BEEBIBEE 35 23,027 65,733
Lease liabilities HEAE 36 1,228 =
24,255 65,733
Net assets EEFE 2,068,949 3,373,022
Capital and reserves R R #E
Share capital i@ 37 262,501 262,501
Reserves & 1,803,694 3,107,449
Equity attributable to owners of the RATIHEE AELER
Company 2,066,195 3,369,950
Non-controlling interests e IR A 2,754 3,072
Total equity R 2,068,949 3,373,022

The consolidated financial statements on pages 79 to 230 were  F79F 230 B 2R AV BHERENR T _TF =
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directorson 27 A=+t HEZEE I AEREETE  WHUAT

March 2020 and are signed on its behalf by: REERE
Dr. Kwong Kai Sing Benny Mr. Chen Weisong
B E L BRAZAA B4
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
EF EF
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

e EEIR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z = F—hF+-A=+—HIFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

ADRER NER
Other
Contributed capital Non-
Share surplus  Translation ~ Statutory contribution Accumulated controlling
capital reserve reserve  reserves reserve losses  Subtotal interests Total
- 0]
Bx  BREE EXRE iERE TERE  ZHER Nt FERER 3
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$000 HK$'000
Thr T i T T T T T T
(Note a) (Note b)
(Mita) (HizED)
At 1 January 2018 RZE-\E-A-H 262501 4884536 102,410 57,485 71312 (149.329) 5,164,915 3222 5168137
Loss for the year EEFE - - - - - (553243)  (553.24) (150)  (553393)
Bichange differences arisingon &SN EHES
translation of foreign operations 2 ZE = - (76802) - - - (76802 - (7680
Other comprehensive expense for £ £t 2AA X
the year - - (76,802) - - - (76,802) - (76,802)
Total comprehensive expense for  £E2EFXBH
the year - - (76,802) - - (553243 (630,045) (150)  (630,195)
Dividends recognised as BREA RIS
distributions (Note ¢) (Note 15 (Fi3%c) (HfzE15) - (1,500,456) - - - - (1,500,456) - (1,500456)
Other capital contribution HfhEE - - - - 3353% - 33553 - 33553%
Transfer tostatutory reserves ~ EREETEE
(Note d) (Rt d) - - - 642 - (6422) - - -
At 31 December 2018 RZE-N\F+ZA=1+-A 262501 3,384,080 25,608 63,907 342,848 (708994) 3,369,950 3072 3,373,022
Loss for the year FEER - - - - - (246,440)  (246,440) (330)  (246,770)
Bichange differences arisngon ~ EBSERE L
translation of foreign operations  ZEH £ - - (17.276) - - - (17.276) 1? (17,264)
Redlassification of cumulative  RHE R IB A -
exchange diferences toproft ~ ERABAFR
orloss upon disposal and GRUEERE S
deregistration of subsiciaries, ~ EREEEHAEEES
a limited partnership and a
structured entity = = 9,965 = = = 9,965 = 9,965
Other comprehensive (expense)  FE R 2 (F%) Wiz
income for the year - - (7311) - - - (7311) 12 (7,299
Total comprehensive expense for - EE2 AR % £
the year - - (7.311) - - (26,4400  (253,751) (318) (254,009
Dividends recognised as ERANRRE
distributions (Note ) (Note 15) ~ (FfsEc) (H£15) - (1,050,004) - - - - (1,050,004) - (1,050,004)
Transfer of statutory reserves G- EEMB AT
to accumulated losses for a EERERER
deregistered subsiciary 2iEE - - - (3590 - 35,907 = = =
Transfer to statutory reserves BB E LT
(Note d) (h&d) - - - 310 - (36120 - - -
At31 December 2019 RIZ-NFTZA=T-B 2602501 2334076 18297 64120 342848  (955647) 2,066,195 2,754 2,068,949

AMZERBRRE —T—NFFR
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
mEEREER
For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z —FE—hFE+=-A=+—BItFE

Notes:

(b)

The contributed surplus reserve of the Group arose as a result of the
Group reorganisation prior to its public listing on 2 October 1995 and
represents the difference between the nominal value of the shares
of the former holding company of the Group acquired pursuant to
the Group reorganisation, over the nominal value of the shares of
the Company issued in exchange therefore; and it also comprised
the entire amount of share premium amounting to approximately
HK$4,926,818,000 transferred to contributed surplus reserve on 30
October 2017.

The other capital contribution reserve comprised the initial fair value
adjustment on other loan from a third party, which was under
common control by Mr. Wang Qiang, a former director of the
Company who resigned on 5 December 2018 (details are set out
in Note 33) and the reserve as a result of the Group’s disposal of
its listed equity securities to Solis Capital Limited, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the ultimate holding company of the Group, at a cash
consideration of HK$2,359,817,000, where the consideration received
over the quoted price of the listed equity securities at completion date
amounted to approximately HK$335,536,000 was recognised in other
capital contribution reserve in August 2018, while the related loss in
fair value of these listed equity securities as at the date of disposal
was recognised in profit or loss and included as changes in fair value
of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL") in prior
year as set out in Note 7.

Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended), a
company may not declare or pay a dividend, or make a distribution
out of contributed surplus reserve, if there are reasonable grounds
for believing that (i) the company is, or would after the payment
be, unable to pay its liabilities as they become due; or (ii) the
realisable value of the company’s assets would thereby be less
than the aggregate of its liabilities and its issued share capital
and share premium accounts. Otherwise the contributed surplus
reserve is distributable. During the year ended 31 December 2019,
the Company has distributed dividends from contributed surplus
reserve amounted to approximately HK$1,050,004,000 (2018:
HK$1,500,456,000) to the shareholders of the Company.

According to the relevant rules and regulations in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC"), each of the Company's PRC
subsidiaries shall transfer 10% of their net profit after tax, based on
the subsidiary’s PRC statutory accounts, as statutory reserves, until the
balance reaches 50% of the respective subsidiary’s registered capital.
Further appropriations can be made at the directors’ discretion. The
statutory reserves can be used to offset any accumulated losses or
convert into paid-up capital of the respective subsidiary.

Tai United Holdings Limited Annual Report 2019
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(a)
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AEEZEHRBBERAEBAR—ANAAEFETA
“HAMLEMATEITEBEMAMES - THIERIEAR
SEEAMBKBAEEERARZROEE B
HHEZKEMmMETZARARROEEZ 25  HIN
BRER-_ZE—tE+AZTHEREE=EHRALREE
2 R0 B 2 2 3P & 8849 4,926,818,000 %8 7T ©

Hi s ERBEERARRAIES EoatE (R
T-NF+-_ARBEMT HRAZEFZREFE=
FREMER (FBRHNRME3S) OB ARER
B AN & E AR £ (8 2,359,817,000 7% T [ Solis
Capital Limited (78 & Bl & & 12 R R B ) 2 & Mt B
AR HEE EMRAESHEEHE - FTBER
WRERYE ETMRAZEENTHA BRENSEL
335,536,000 8 TR = — NFEN\AREAMEE
BEARER MREEEEZSELLTRAZFAAE
ZHBBERIRERSTER Wit ABEFE 2%
AnEFAERE ((BAREFABR) ZeREE
AAEEZE) GHEHNMET) o

BEERE—AN—FRAE KB  HEA
1R A AAE () A R RIR IR SR IEE R D IRE R
B ERFEEIBZAE KMAREEZA
BREESHEAMEREEEREEFHTRAER
DR EZBME  BZARTEEIRSRSR S KE
BEARBRFEERELDIR - TR D IREBBERGE
B-REE-FT—NEFE+-A=+—HLEFERN"
ARNBIEBEHBBHEEPTRAARBRED KRS
#91,050,004,000 7% 7t (=& — J\4F : 1,500,456,000
BIT) °
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BRIBEEHBEIINERK - BREMNBAR EERE
ARAERHERF BRI E AR R -



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

S ATH AN =
%l = Eﬁiulbi

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z = F—hF+-A=+—HIFE

2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000
—E-hF - )\F
FHExT FET
OPERATING ACTIVITIES REEK
Loss before tax BrEE AT E 18 (199,239) (593,989)
Adjustments for: KAETY&EIE
Changes in fair value of investment properties ¥ &Y% 2 A fo (E & & 72,505 124,942
Changes in fair value of assets classified as DERFBIELHECEEY
held-for-sale AREES 17,412 (58,000)
Changes in fair value of structured deposits HEEETFRZANER (1,594) (3,519)
Changes in fair value of financial derivative CRITEENAAEE
contracts - (166)
Changes in fair value of financial assets at BRARBEFABRZERMEE
FVTPL ZRANEEY = (29)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment #12 « BE M & E 2T E 7,541 10,565
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEERE 6,418 =
Finance costs B TS B AR 15,291 71,695
Net (gains) losses on disposal and HERFHINBAR - BRERE
deregistration of subsidiaries, a limited NE|RAEREEE R 2 ()
partnership and a structured entity B85 58 (172,504) 7,016
Gain on disposal of an associate e — B & A R R - (394)
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEWE  WERRBEEE
equipment 896 2,541
Interest income FEIA (26,536) (138,968)
Impairment losses under expected credit loss ~ FEHAE EEIBE X T HRERE -
model, net of reversal R 39,641 2,886
Impairment losses on mining rights HIgE 2 REBE 170,821 109,704
Profits attributable to the third parties’ interest FE=FRGAGRETE 2
in consolidated structured entities R FEAG 5 - 45,416
Reparation interest income from previously BARBRIEEKERRERERE
redeemed loan note receivable Fa A (23,551) =
Share of results of an associate DIE—EBERNFEE - 394
Unrealised exchange losses REIREH B 19,026 58,138
Operating cash flows before movements in LEECHPRNI KLEHENE
working capital (73,873) (361,768)
(Increase) decrease in inventories FEEMm) R (403) 3,099
(Increase) decrease in financial assets at FVTPL 2 A fEt ABH 2 @& E
(3 hn) (38) 2,639,482
Decrease (increase) in accounts receivable JrE U BR OB A (BZn) 86,667 (5,587)
Decrease in loan note receivable FEUE FRE R - 1,476,849
Decrease (increase) in other receivables, Hib W ziE - e M
deposits and prepayments TR RIER A (3E00) 22,505 (44,405)
Decrease in financial derivative contracts TROITEE LR - 93,705
Decrease in accounts and bills payables FERBERR R ERNZERRD (735) (1,248,530)
Decrease in accrued liabilities and other FEET B (& o H A FE A BRI 2
payables (18,619) (5,213)
Cash generated from operations KEEEZRE 15,504 2,547,632
Income tax paid EATFTISH (1,309) (39,594)
Interest received 2 UF B - 130,579
Dividend received BB 173 29,109
NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 2K EB-HESFE 14,368 2,667,726
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z —FE—hFE+=-A=+—BItFE

2019 2018
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
=E-hF —ET-N\F
hr=g FEx FHT
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REED
Proceeds from redemption of structured 88 @ 45 5 (4 77 7% 2 AT {5 7008
deposits 556,997 823,021
Net cash inflows from disposal of HEMB AR ZRERAFRE
subsidiaries 43 444,251 575,659
Repayment of loan receivables BEEKER 209,511 213,364
Interest received B YA B 26,536 29,479
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant HE&EWE - FE M &REZ
and equipment Fr {578 2,065 1,887
Placement of structured deposits FEALEBMEFER (336,399) (960,400)
Loan advance to a third party BNFE=A2ER (272,479) (135,000)
Acquisition of investment properties IR BB B 5 (17,412) o
Acquisition of property, plant and U EE % - R K&
equipment (269) (1,972)
Payment of rental deposits Heke 2T (102) -
Withdrawal of restricted bank deposits R HUS [R il $R 177 7% = 1,120,919
Deposits received from disposal of HEREMEZBEWIES
investment properties - 176,623
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets H &R A RETABZEZ
at FVTPL TREEZPISHIA - 71,364
Proceeds from disposal of investment HEREYHE 2 FRIE
properties - 44,199
Proceeds from disposal of interestinan ~ HER —fHHE QA RER 2
associate FT1S 3R - 31,000
NET CASH FROM INVESTING RETEHMB2REFHE
ACTIVITIES 612,699 1,990,143
FINANCING ACTIVITIES BMETE
Dividends paid 2R E 15 (1,050,004) (1,500,456)
Repayment of other borrowings EEHEMEER (166,590) (288,127)
Repayment of bank borrowings EERITER (154,102) (884,817)
Interest paid EAHE (15,291) (62,681)
Repayments of lease liabilities ERHERRE (6,169) =
Proceeds from other borrowings raised ~ EHEHMEE 7 Fr{57UE 165,000 =
Repayment of third parties’ contributions EENGAEBHEETE 2
in consolidated structured entities FE=THER - (1,254,157)
Repayment of margin financing loans EERBEMEER - (1,028,403)
Repayment of loan instrument BEERIHE - (650,005)
Repayment of other loan BEEMER = (593)
Repayment to Tai Capital (HK) Limited MAZER(HFE)GRQA]
B - (192)
Proceeds from bank borrowings raised £ RITIEE 2 FriS 5@ - 449,566
Other capital contribution through FBHERAETAER
disposal of financial assets at FVTPL PREEZHMTE = 335,536
Refund of excess repayment of loan REEEERTIEZMNEHE
instrument - 23,096
NET CASH USED IN FINANCING RMETEHMACREFHE
ACTIVITIES (1,227,156) (4,861,233)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

= A ANy ==
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z—F—hF+-_A=+—HIFE

2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000
—E-NE —E-)N\F
T FET
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH ReRERBELSEBRD FE
EQUIVALENTS (600,089) (203,364)
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATE IEERSE 2HE
CHANGES (7,693) (9,299)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE RENMzRERERELER
BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 1,168,022 1,380,685
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE RERZHEEREREEL£ER
END OF THE YEAR 560,240 1,168,022
REPRESENTED BY Bp
Bank balances and cash RITHEBEIES 560,240 1,167,972
Bank balances and cash classified as DEABELENRTE#BERE
held-for-sale - 50
560,240 1,168,022
AHEZERERAT —F— NFER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Are R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z —FE—hFE+=-A=+—BIFE

1. GENERAL

Tai United Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is incorporated
in Bermuda as an exempted company with limited liability
and its shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). In the opinion of the
directors of the Company (the “Directors”), the Company’s
ultimate holding company is Satinu Resources Group Ltd.,
a company incorporated in British Virgin Islands (“BVI"”)
with limited liability. The registered office of the Company
is located at Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton
HM 11, Bermuda and the principal place of business of the
Company is Room 2902, 29th Floor, China United Centre, 28
Marble Road, North Point, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company and the
principal activities of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are
set out in Note 47.

The consolidated financial statements presented in Hong
Kong Dollars (“HK$"), which is the same as the functional
currency of the Company.

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“"HKFRSs")

New and Amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year

The Group has applied the following new and amendments
to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (the “HKICPA") for the first time in the
current year.

HKFRS 16 Leases
HK (IFRIC) - Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax
Treatments

Amendments to HKFRS 9 Prepayment Features with Negative
Compensation

Amendments to HKAS 19 Plan Amendment, Curtailment or
Settlement

Amendments to HKAS 28 Long-term Interests in Associates and
Joint Ventures

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2015-2017 Cycle

Except as described below, the application of the other new
and amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had
no material impact on the Group’s financial positions and
performance for the current and prior years and/or on the
disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A PR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z = F—hFE+-A=+—BIFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“"HKFRSs") (Continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases

The Group has applied HKFRS 16 for the first time in the
current year. HKFRS 16 superseded HKAS 17 Leases (“HKAS
17"), and the related interpretations.

Definition of a lease

The Group has elected the practical expedient to apply
HKFRS 16 to contracts that were previously identified as
leases applying HKAS 17 and HK(IFRIC) — Int 4 Determining
whether an Arrangement contains a Lease and not apply this
standards to contracts that were not previously identified as
containing a lease. Therefore, the Group has not reassessed
contracts which already existed prior to the date of initial
application.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after 1
January 2019, the Group applies the definition of a lease in
accordance with the requirements set out in HKFRS 16 in
assessing whether a contract contains a lease.

As a lessee

The Group has applied HKFRS 16 retrospectively with the
cumulative effect recognised at the date of initial application,
1 January 2019.

As at 1 January 2019, the Group recognised additional
lease liabilities and right-of-use assets at amounts equal to
the related lease liabilities by applying HKFRS 16.C8(b)(ii)
transition. Any difference at the date of initial application
is recognised in the opening accumulated losses and
comparative information has not been restated.

When applying the modified retrospective approach under
HKFRS 16 at transition, the Group applied the following
practical expedients to leases previously classified as opening
leases under HKAS 17, on lease-by-lease basis, to the extent
relevant to the respective lease contracts:

relied on the assessment of whether leases are onerous
by applying HKAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities
and Contingent Assets as an alternative of impairment
review;

i. elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities for leases with lease term ends within 12
months of the date of initial application; and

iii. excluded initial direct costs from measuring the right-of-
use assets at the date of initial application.

& Rl HTR] B SR 5] B R B
HEA((FBHBHREER D)
(%)

ERVBHREEAUF16REE

AEFECRAFEBRERATEMEHRELE
I 1658 - BEM B MELEANE 16 5KIMAE
BEEREV7REE ((FRETEUE17
S KRR RE -

HEHESE

AEBDERATRERE  BREMERE
BEEE 7R REE (BRMEHRER
BZEe) REFISETHELEREH
ERBIRHENSNERET BB REEL
F6 ML BHEAMARBNABREEE
B A KR LR - FEit - REEY EE R
AERERERBEHAEFENEH -

HR-E-NF—H - BHZEFTLRIER
MEHNms  AEEREBEEAMBEHRELER
FleRAA R ERABEEZEREUFNHE
NELEBESHEE-

ERAMA

AEEDENERBEMEREERIFE 165 -
RAFERBRAEAAY(ZTE-—NF—A
—H) R -

R-ZE—NEFE—F—B AEEFBERSE
75 B 75 R 4 2 B 55 16.C8(b)(ii) 16 38 T 15 ST e
REIHEEBREAEEE  HESERSE
REBHEHEEGE REXEABENEME
BRI 25T IERR B EERTTEY -

RBEREREEVBREENF165RAT
MEETENTER  AEBRZEEAER
ERERRBEEBSFTEANE 17D ERE
EHEARXHESOBMIEERAIAT
AITREIA

i BRERABEREERIEI7RASE - 2
ARERXAEEFRD/RERNZER
% HEHERTERE

i. JRETHBEHNERERBME12
BAANERNAERREREEERE
ERE R
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
R BTEImRARMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z —FE—hFE+=-A=+—BItFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND 2. ERHFIREETEEBUBR
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG TR (EFBYHHREEL ]
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (#&)

("HKFRSs") (Continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued) ERVBBEREUE16REE &)
As a lessee (Continued) fEBREAN (&)

When recognising the lease liabilities for leases previously REREADRRKEHENHENHER
classified as operating leases, the Group has applied B ASBEEEARERERBHERE
incremental borrowing rates of the relevant group entities &2 a2 B RO R o FTRE A BY inE 13
at the date of initial application. The weighted average HE BRI ER6.18% °

incremental borrowing rate applied is 6.18%.

At
1 January
2019
HK$'000
RZE—NF
—A—H
FHT
Operating lease commitments disclosed as at RZZE—N\F+=ZA=+—H
31 December 2018 WK EHEAE 21,708
Lease liabilities discounted at relevant incremental RABAE S EE N KRR
borrowing rates HEAE 21,066
Less: Recognition exemption — short-term leases W ERRE—EHHEE (2,052)
Lease liabilities relating to operating leases recognised RZE-—NF-—R—BEREENK
upon application of HKFRS 16 as at 1 January 2019 BREERF 16N ERELERE
FHENEERE 19,014
Analysed as: DA
Current Tt ED 13,972
Non-current FEMRED 5,042
19,014
The carrying amount of right-of-use assets for own use as RZZE-NF—A—BACZERFREEEZ
at 1 January 2019 is equal to the lease liabilities relating to REBEESNEEREEMBREERNE 16
operating leases recognised amounting to HK$19,014,000 SRR D RS % A19,014,0008 T2 &%
upon application of HKFRS 16. EBBcHERRE-
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A PR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z = F—hFE+-A=+—BIFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“"HKFRSs") (Continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

As a lessee (Continued)

The following adjustments were made to the amounts
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position
at 1 January 2019. Line items that were not affected by the
changes have not been included.

& Rl HTR] B SR 5] B R B
HEA((FBHBHREER D)
(%)

BREMBHRELENF16KEE @)
tEREHA ()
R-Z—NF—A—BHEAHBRABRE

hEERLHEEELIATEE - REEDY
B R TRIEER -

Carrying Carrying

amounts amounts

previously under

reported at HKFRS 16 at

31 December 1 January

2018 Adjustments 2019

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

KRR R=Z-—NF

—E-N\F —HA—H

+=A= BEBUE

+—H WA

2| £1657E T

IREE AE WEAREE

THET THET FET
Non-current assets FRBEE

Right-of-use assets HHAEEE - 19,014 19,014

Current liabilities mEEE

Lease liabilities HEBE - 13,972 13,972
Non-current liabilities FREBEE

Lease liabilities HEBE - 5,042 5,042

Note: For the purpose of reporting cash flows from operating
activities and financing activities under indirect method for the
year ended 31 December 2019, movements in working capital
have been computed based on opening consolidated statement
of financial position as at 1 January 2019 as disclosed above.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
R BTEImRARMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z —FE—hFE+=-A=+—BItFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs") (Continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

As a lessor

In accordance with the transitional provisions in HKFRS
16, the Group is not required to make any adjustment
on transition for leases in which the Group is a lessor but
account for these leases in accordance with HKFRS 16 from
the date of initial application and comparative information
has not been restated. The application of HKFRS 16 as a
lessor has no material impact on the consolidated statement
of the Group as at 1 January 2019 as the amount involved
are not material.

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue
but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet

effective:
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts’
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business?

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets between

and HKAS 28 an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture?
Amendments to HKAS 1 Definition of Material*
and HKAS 8
Amendments to HKFRS 9, Interest Rate Benchmark Reform*

HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2021.

2 Effective for business combinations and asset acquisitions for
which the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the
first annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2020.

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined.

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2020.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A PR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z = F—hFE+-A=+—BIFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“"HKFRSs") (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue
but not yet effective (Continued)

In addition to the above new and amendments to HKFRSs,
a revised Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting
was issued in 2018. Its consequential amendments, the
Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework
in HKFRS Standards, will be effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2020.

Except for the new and amendments to HKFRSs mentioned
below, the Directors anticipate that the application of all
other new and amendments to HKFRSs will have no material
impact on the consolidated financial statements in the
foreseeable future.

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a
Business

The amendments:

e add an optional concentration test that permits a
simplified assessment of whether an acquired set of
activities and assets is not a business. The election on
whether to apply the optional concentration test is
available on transaction-by-transaction basis;

e clarify that to be considered a business, an acquired
set of activities and assets must include, at a minimum,
an input and a substantive process that together
significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs;
and

e narrow the definitions of a business and of outputs by
focusing on goods and services provided to customers
and by removing the reference to an ability to reduce
costs.

The amendments are applied prospectively to all business
combinations and asset acquisitions for which the acquisition
date is on or after the first annual reporting period beginning
on or after 1 January 2020, with early application permitted.

The optional concentration test and the amended definition
of a business are not expected to have a significant impact to
the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A PR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE—-T—hF+—-A=+—HILFE

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs") (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8
Definition of Material

The amendments provide refinements to the definition of
material by including additional guidance and explanations in
making materiality judgments. In particular, the amendments:

o include the concept of “obscuring” material information
in which the effect is similar to omitting or misstating
the information;

o replace threshold for materiality influencing users from
“could influence” to “could reasonably be expected to
influence”; and

o include the use of the phrase “primary users” rather
than simply referring to “users” which was considered
too broad when deciding what information to disclose
in the financial statements.

The amendments also align the definition across all HKFRSs
and will be mandatorily effective for the Group’s annual
period beginning on 1 January 2020. The application of the
amendments is not expected to have significant impact on
the financial position and performance of the Group but may
affect the presentation and disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A PR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z = F—hFE+-A=+—BIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EREHEE

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In
addition, the consolidated financial statements include
applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (“Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis except for certain properties and
financial instruments that are measured at fair values at the
end of each reporting period, as explained in the accounting
policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value
of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing
the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value
for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these
consolidated financial statements is determined on such a
basis, except for share-based payment transactions that are
within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment, leasing
transactions that are accounted for in accordance with HKFRS
16 (since 1 January 2019) or HKAS 17 (before application of
HKFRS 16), and measurements that have some similarities to
fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in
HKAS 2 Inventories or value in use in HKAS 36 Impairment of
Assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
R BTEImRARMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z —FE—hFE+=-A=+—BItFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

A fair value measurement of non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the
asset in its highest and best use.

For financial instruments and investment properties which
are transacted at fair value and a valuation technique that
unobservable inputs are to be used to measure fair value in
subsequent periods, the valuation technique is calibrated
so that the results of the valuation technique equals the
transaction price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based
on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are
described as follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity
can access at the measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset
or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

e Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A PR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE-FT—hF+-A=+—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and entities (including
structured entities) controlled by the Company and its
subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:

e has power over the investee;

o is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in
line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein, which represent
present ownership interests entitling their holders to a
proportionate share of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries
upon liquidation.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
R BTEImRARMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z —FE—hFE+=-A=+—BItFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Changes in the Group’s interests in existing subsidiaries

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets and
liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling interests (if
any) are derecognised. A gain or loss is recognised in profit
or loss and is calculated as the difference between (i) the
aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and
the fair value of any retained interest and (ii) the carrying
amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of
the subsidiary attributable to the owners of the Company.
All amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income in relation to that subsidiary are accounted for as
if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss
or transferred to another category of equity as specified/
permitted by applicable HKFRSs). The fair value of any
investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date
when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial
recognition for subsequent accounting under HKFRS 9
or, when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an
investment in an associate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A PR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z = F—hFE+-A=+—BIFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investment in an associate

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in
the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee
but is not control or joint control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of the associate are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements
using the equity method of accounting. The financial
statements of the associate used for equity accounting
purposes are prepared using uniform accounting policies as
those of the Group for like transactions and events in similar
circumstances. Under the equity method, an investment
in an associate is initially recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter
to recognise the Group's share of the profit or loss and
other comprehensive income of the associate. Change in net
assets of the associate other than profit or loss and other
comprehensive income are not accounted for unless such
changes resulted in changes in ownership interest held by
the Group. When the Group’s share of losses of an associate
exceeds the Group’s interest in that associate (which includes
any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of
the Group’s net investment in the associate), the Group
discontinues recognising its share of further losses. Additional
losses are recognised only to the extent that the Group has
incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments
on behalf of the associate.

An investment in an associate is accounted for using the
equity method from the date on which the investee becomes
an associate. On acquisition of the investment in an associate,
any excess of the cost of the investment over the Group’s
share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and
liabilities of the investee is recognised as goodwill, which
is included within the carrying amount of the investment.
Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of
the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the
investment, after reassessment, is recognised immediately
in profit or loss in the period in which the investment is
acquired.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
R BTEImRARMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z —FE—hFE+=-A=+—BItFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investment in an associate (Continued)

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence
that the interest in an associate may be impaired. When any
objective evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of the
investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment in
accordance with HKAS 36 as a single asset by comparing
its recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair
value less costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any
impairment loss recognised is not allocated to any asset,
including goodwill, that forms part of the carrying amount
of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is
recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that
the recoverable amount of the investment subsequently
increases.

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over
an associate, it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire
interest in the investee with a resulting gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss. When the Group retains an
interest in the former associate and the retained interest is
a financial asset within the scope of HKFRS 9, the Group
measures the retained interest at fair value at that date
and the fair value is regarded as its fair value on initial
recognition. The difference between the carrying amount
of the associate and the fair value of any retained interest
and any proceeds from disposing the relevant interest in the
associate is included in the determination of the gain or loss
on disposal of the associate. In addition, the Group accounts
for all amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income in relation to that associate on the same basis as
would be required if that associate had directly disposed of
the related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss
previously recognised in other comprehensive income by that
associate would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal
of the related assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the
gain or loss from equity to profit or loss (as a reclassification
adjustment) upon disposal/partial disposal of the relevant
associate.

When a group entity transacts with an associate of the
Group, profits and losses resulting from the transactions with
the associate are recognised in the Group’s consolidated
financial statements only to the extent of interest in the
associate that are not related to the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A PR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z = F—hFE+-A=+—BIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Non-current assets held-for-sale

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held-
for-sale if their carrying amount will be recovered principally
through a sale transaction rather than through continuing
use. This condition is regarded as met only when the asset (or
disposal group) is available for immediate sale in its present
condition subject only to terms that are usual and customary
for sales of such asset (or disposal group) and its sale is highly
probable. The management must be committed to the sale,
which should be expected to qualify for recognition as a
completed sale within one year from the date of classification.

When the Group is committed to a sale plan involving loss
of control of a subsidiary, all of the assets and liabilities of
that subsidiary are classified as held-for-sale when the criteria
described above are met, regardless of whether the Group
will retain a non-controlling interest in the relevant subsidiary
after the sale.

When the Group is committed to a sale plan involving
disposal of an investment, or a portion of an investment, in
an associate, the investment or the portion of the investment
that will be disposed of is classified as held for sale when the
criteria described above are met, and the Group discontinues
the use of the equity method in relation to the portion that is
classified as held for sale from the time when the investment
(or a portion of the investment) is classified as held for sale.

Non-current assets (and disposal groups) classified as held-
for-sale are measured at the lower of their previous carrying
amount and fair value less costs to sell, except for financial
assets within the scope of HKFRS 9 and investment properties
which continue to be measured in accordance with the
accounting policies as set out in respective sections.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
R BTEImRARMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z —FE—hFE+=-A=+—BItFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation is
transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of
the following criteria is met:

e the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the
Group performs;

e the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the Group performs; or

° the Group’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A PR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z = F—hFE+-A=+—BIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods or services
to a customer, the Group determines whether the nature
of its promise is a performance obligation to provide the
specified goods or services itself (i.e. the Group is a principal)
or to arrange for those goods or services to be provided by
the other party (i.e. the Group is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified good
or service before that good or service is transferred to a
customer.

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation is to
arrange for the provision of the specified good or service by
another party. In this case, the Group does not control the
specified good or service provided by another party before
that good or service is transferred to the customer. When the
Group acts as an agent, it recognises revenue in the amount
of any fee or commission to which it expects to be entitled in
exchange for arranging for the specified goods or services to
be provided by the other party.

Leases

Definition of a lease (upon application of HKFRS 16 in
accordance with transitions in Note 2)

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified or arising from
business combinations on or after the date of initial
application, the Group assesses whether a contract is or
contains a lease based on the definition under HKFRS
16 at inception, modification date or acquisition date, as
appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed unless
the terms and conditions of the contracts are subsequently
changed.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
R BTEImRARMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z —FE—hFE+=-A=+—BItFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (upon application of HKFRS 16 in
accordance with transitions in Note 2)

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption
to leases of car parks that have a lease term of 12 months
or less from the commencement date and do not contain a
purchase option. It also applies the recognition exemption
for lease of low-value assets. Lease payments on short-
term leases and leases of low-value assets are recognised as
expense on a straight-line basis or another systematic basis
over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

. the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

e any lease payments made at or before the commencement
date, less any lease incentives received;

o any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

o an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group
in dismantling and removing the underlying assets,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring the
underlying asset to the condition required by the terms
and conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain
to obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the
end of the lease term are depreciated from commencement
date to the end of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use
assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter
of its estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line item
on the consolidated statement of financial position.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A PR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z = F—hFE+-A=+—BIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (upon application of HKFRS 16 in
accordance with transitions in Note 2) (Continued)

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS
9 Financial Instruments (“HKFRS 9”) and initially measured at
fair value. Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are
considered as additional lease payments and included in the
cost of right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises
and measures the lease liability at the present value of
lease payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating
the present value of lease payments, the Group uses the
incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable.

The lease payments include:

e  fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments)
less any lease incentives receivable;

e  variable lease payments that depend on an index or a
rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the
commencement date;

o amounts expected to be payable by the Group under
residual value guarantees;

e the exercise of a purchase option if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise the option; and

e payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising an option to
terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted
by interest accretion and lease payments.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
R BTEImRARMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z —FE—hFE+=-A=+—BItFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (upon application of HKFRS 16 in
accordance with transitions in Note 2) (Continued)

Lease liabilities (Continued)

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use assets)
whenever:

e the lease term has changed or there is a change in
the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in
which case the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the date of reassessment.

e  the lease payments change due to changes in market
rental rates following a market rent review, in which
cases the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using the initial
discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on
the consolidated statement of financial position.

Lease modifications

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate
lease if:

e the modification increases the scope of the lease by
adding the right to use one or more underlying assets;
and

e the consideration for the leases increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the
increase in scope and any appropriate adjustments to
that stand-alone price to reflect the circumstances of
the particular contract.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A PR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z = F—hFE+-A=+—BIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (upon application of HKFRS 16 in
accordance with transitions in Note 2) (Continued)

Lease modifications (Continued)

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a
separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability based
on the lease term of the modified lease by discounting the
revised lease payments using a revised discount rate at the
effective date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities
by making corresponding adjustments to the relevant right-
of-use asset. When the modified contract contains a lease
component and one or more additional lease or non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in the
modified contract to each lease component on the basis of
the relative stand-alone price of the lease component and the
aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components.

The Group as a lessee (prior to 1 January 2019)

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms
of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as
operating leases. Operating lease payments are recognised as
an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

The Group as a lessor
Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance
or operating leases. Whenever the terms of the lease transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership
of an underlying asset to the lessee, the contract is classified
as a finance lease. All other leases are classified as operating
leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit
or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant
lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging
an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the
leased asset, and such costs are recognised as an expense on
a straight-line basis over the lease term except for investment
properties measured under fair value model.

Rental income which are derived from the Group’s ordinary
course of business are presented as revenue.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
R BTEImRARMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z —FE—hFE+=-A=+—BItFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessor (upon application of HKFRS 16 in
accordance with transitions in Note 2)

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted for under
HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to
fair value at initial recognition are considered as additional
lease payments from lessees.

Lease modification

The Group accounts for a modification to an operating lease
as a new lease from the effective date of the modification,
considering any prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to
the original lease as part of the lease payments for the new
lease.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised
at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the
transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary
items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried
at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the
fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of
the Group (i.e. HK$) using exchange rates prevailing at the
end of each reporting period. Income and expenses items
are translated at the average exchange rates for the year.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the
heading of translation reserve (attributed to non-controlling
interests as appropriate).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A PR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z = F—hFE+-A=+—BIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal
of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or
a disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary that
includes a foreign operation, or a partial disposal of an
interest in an associate that includes a foreign operation of
which the retained interest becomes a financial asset), all of
the exchange differences accumulated in equity in respect of
that operation attributable to the owners of the Company are
reclassified to profit or loss.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs not directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to the state-managed retirement benefit schemes
in relation to employees of the Company’s subsidiaries in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"), Singapore and United
Kingdom (“UK") and the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
in relation to employees of the Company’s subsidiaries in
Hong Kong are recognised as an expense when employees
have rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid
as and when employees rendered the services. All short-
term employee benefits are recognised as an expense unless
another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit
in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
(such as wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave) after
deducting any amount already paid.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
R BTEImRARMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE—-T—hF+—-A=+—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from loss before tax because of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other
years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end
of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax
base used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for
all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from the initial recognition (other than in a
business combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction
that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting
profit. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if
the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of
goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and
associate, except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that
the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences associated with such investments are only
recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be
sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits
of the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse
in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A PR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE-FT—hF+-A=+—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the
liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and
tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by
the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period,
to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and
liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for investment
properties that are measured using the fair value model, the
carrying amounts of such properties are presumed to be
recovered entirely through sale, unless the presumption is
rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the investment
property is depreciable and is held within a business model
whose objective is to consume substantially all of the
economic benefits embodied in the investment property over
time, rather than through sale.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-
use assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to the
right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS
12 Income Taxes requirements to right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities separately. Temporary differences on initial
recognition of the relevant right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities are not recognised due to application of the initial
recognition exemption. Temporary differences arising from
subsequent revision to the carrying amounts of right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities, resulting from remeasurement of
lease liabilities and lease modifications, that are not subject
to initial recognition exemption are recognised on the date of
remeasurement or modification.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied to the same taxable entity by the same taxation
authority.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
R BTEImRARMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z —FE—hFE+=-A=+—BItFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. When
current tax or deferred tax arises from initial accounting
for a business combination, the tax effect is included in the
accounting for business combination.

In assessing any uncertainty over income tax treatments,
the Group considers whether it is probable that the relevant
tax authority will accept the uncertain tax treatment used,
or proposed to be used by individual group entities in their
income tax filings. If it is probable, the current and deferred
taxes are determined consistently with the tax treatment in
the income tax filings. If it is not probable that the relevant
taxation authority will accept an uncertain tax treatment, the
effect of each uncertainty is reflected by using either the most
likely amount or the expected value.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that
are held for use in the supply of goods and services or for
administrative purposes. Property, plant and equipment are
stated in the consolidated statement of financial position
at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets
less their residual values over their estimated useful lives,
using the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives,
residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the
end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes
in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any
gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item
of property, plant and equipment is determined as the
difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A PR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z = F—hFE+-A=+—BIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/
or for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including
any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are measured at fair value,
adjusted to exclude any prepaid or accrued operating lease
income.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of
investment properties are included in profit or loss for the
period in which they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or
when the investment property is permanently withdrawn
from use and no future economic benefits are expected
from its disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition
of the property (calculated as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is
included in profit or loss in the period in which the property is
derecognised.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
are recognised separately from goodwill and are initially
recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date (which is
regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired
in a business combination with finite useful lives are reported
at costs less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment losses, on the same basis as intangible assets that
are acquired separately. Amortisation for intangible assets
with finite useful lives is recognised on a straight-line basis
over their estimated useful lives. The estimated useful life
and amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate
being accounted for on a prospective basis. Intangible assets
acquired in a business combination with indefinite useful
lives are carried at cost less any subsequent accumulated
impairment losses.

BEXREEE @

REWE

REMEDHBERBEE R, HIEEARE
BZME -

BREMENMERKAGTE  BREMERE
HFX ~VIRTERIE - REMEAREFTE
I 85 B AR SR AT BRI TR A S BRI 2
HEWA -

BRENEAREEHEENBRRHEBRER
SEL BB AERR -

BREMENHEIKAELERBEEFTE
e &R MEEB RGBSR BUSRER -
BOBERMEMELE 2 EMREHER (17
REBEEZHEMBHIAFHEARAE L ZMR
AE)EEMEBUEER 2 MM AR -

BLEE
e E L FEA

EBatth BB EERBE) FER
MR ERN BB R R Z AR EER (RIER
BXAR)

VIEHERR KB AHTUBZABARA
ERFEMzEBVEERKAR R #ERE
MRFIREERREEBEBENETLEER
RIHEERR - BB HRAERFHNER
BEMBHTEEGIERFHRARAER
AT UARERR o (& AT 62 R A ) S M 8 0T R
BEWMEMRETERN  MEARBTEIOR
BDIRARREEALR - REBA G KE
ZEERIERFHZ B EEZKANRAE
A H1& RETREBEAR -

AMZERBRRE —T—NFFR

113



114

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
R BTEImRARMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z —FE—hFE+=-A=+—BItFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Intangible assets (Continued)

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
(Continued)

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when
no future economic benefits are expected from use or
disposal. Gains and losses arising from derecognition of an
intangible asset, measured as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are
recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.

Mining rights

Mining rights that are acquired separately are carried at cost
less any accumulated impairment losses and are subject to
amortisation upon commissioning of the mine for production.
Amortisation of mining rights is recognised using the unit-of-
production method based on the actual production volume
over the estimated total recoverable reserves contained in
proven and probable reserves at the related mine.

Impairment on property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets, mining
rights and intangible assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets, mining rights and intangible assets with finite
useful lives to determine whether there is any indication that
these assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the relevant
asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the
impairment loss (if any). Intangible assets with indefinite
useful lives are tested for impairment at least annually, and
whenever there is an indication that they may be impaired.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets, mining rights and intangible assets are
estimated individually. When it is not possible to estimate
the recoverable amount individually, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the
asset belongs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A PR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z = F—hFE+-A=+—BIFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets, mining
rights and intangible assets (Continued)

In addition, corporates assets are allocated to individual cash
generating units when a reasonable and consistent basis of
allocation can be established, or otherwise they are allocated
to the smallest group of cash-generating units for which a
reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be established.
The Group assesses whether there is indication that corporate
assets may be impaired. If such indication exists, the
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating
unit or group of cash-generating units to which the corporate
asset belongs, and is compared with the carrying amount of
the relevant cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating
units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset (or a cash-generating unit) for which the
estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
reduced to its recoverable amount. For corporate assets or
portion of corporate assets which cannot be allocated on a
reasonable and consistent basis to a cash-generating unit,
the Group compares the carrying amount of a group of
cash-generating units, including the carrying amounts of the
corporate assets or portion of corporate assets allocated to
that group of cash-generating units, with the recoverable
amount of the group of cash-generating units. In allocating
the impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable)
and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on
the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the group
of cash-generating units. The carrying amount of an asset
is not reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs
of disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if determinable)
and zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would
otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated
pro rata to the other assets of the unit or the group of
cash-generating units. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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R BTEImRARMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z —FE—hFE+=-A=+—BItFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets, mining
rights and intangible assets (Continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit or a
group of cash-generating units) is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset (or a cash-generating unit or a group
of cash-generating units) in prior years. A reversal of an
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Costs of inventories are determined on a first-in, first-
out method. Net realisable value represents the estimated
selling price for inventories less all estimated costs necessary
to make the sale.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of
the instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial
assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of
financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time
frame established by regulation or convention in the market
place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for accounts receivable arising from contracts
with customers which are initially measured in accordance
with HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities (other than financial assets or financial liabilities
at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL") are added to
or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of
financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A PR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z = F—hFE+-A=+—BIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense over
the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate
that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and
payments (including all fees paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs
and other premiums or discounts) through the expected
life of the financial asset or financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on
initial recognition.

Interest income which are derived from the Group’s ordinary
course of business are presented as revenue.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

o the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

e the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI"):

. the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both selling and collecting
contractual cash flows; and

e the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
R BTEImRARMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z —FE—hFE+=-A=+—BItFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (Continued)

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL.
A financial asset is held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
selling in the near term; or

e on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group manages
together and has a recent actual pattern of short-term
profit-taking; or

o it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a
hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial
asset that are required to be measured at the amortised cost
or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or
significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.

(i)  Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying
the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the
financial asset from the next reporting period. If the
credit risk on the credit-impaired financial instrument
improves so that the financial asset is no longer credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of
the financial asset from the beginning of the reporting
period following the determination that the asset is no
longer credit impaired.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A PR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z = F—hFE+-A=+—BIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (Continued)

(i) Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as
FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at
the end of each reporting period, with any fair value
gains or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net
gains or losses of distressed debt assets and listed
equity securities and their related dividends or interests
are included in the “net investment losses” as set out
in Note 7 and the remaining gains or losses of other
financial assets at FVTPL are included in the “other gains
and losses” as set out in Note 10.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected
credit loss (“ECL") model on financial assets (including
accounts receivable, loan note receivable, other receivables
and bank balances) which are subject to impairment under
HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting
date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of the relevant
instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL")
represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to
result from default events that are possible within 12 months
after the reporting date. Assessment are done based on the
Group's historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors
that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions
and an assessment of both the current conditions at the
reporting date as well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for accounts
receivable. The ECL on these assets are assessed individually
for debtors with significant balances and collectively using a
provision matrix with appropriate groupings.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
R BTEImRARMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE—-T—hF+—-A=+—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the
Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether
lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on significant
increases in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since
initial recognition.

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
date of initial recognition. In making this assessment,
the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost or
effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

e significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase
in the credit spread, the credit default swap prices
for the debtor;

e  existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A PR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z = F—hFE+-A=+—BIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
(i) Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

e an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the operating results of the debtor;

° an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet
its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the
credit risk on a debt instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the debt
instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the
reporting date. A debt instrument is determined to have
low credit risk if i) it has a low risk of default, ii) the
borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual
cash flow obligations in the near term and iii) adverse
changes in economic and business conditions in the
longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the
ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow
obligations. The Group considers a debt instrument to
have low credit risk when it has an internal or external
credit rating of ‘investment grade’ as per globally
understood definitions.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
R BTEImRARMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z —FE—hFE+=-A=+—BItFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when information
developed internally or obtained from external sources
indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
including the Group, in full (without taking into account
any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more than
90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate that a more
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events of default that have a detrimental impact on
the estimated future cash flows of that financial asset
have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-
impaired includes observable data about the following
events:

(@) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower
a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not
otherwise consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will
enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;
or

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A PR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z = F—hFE+-A=+—BIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
(iv)  Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect
of recovery, for example, when the counterparty has
been placed under liquidation or has entered into
bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case of accounts
receivable, when the amounts are over two years past
due, whichever occurs sooner. Financial assets written
off may still be subject to enforcement activities under
the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account
legal advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes
a derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are
recognised in profit or loss.

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default.
The assessment of the probability of default and loss
given default is based on historical data adjusted by
forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects
an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is
determined with the respective risks of default occurring
as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective
interest rate determined at initial recognition. For a lease
receivable, the cash flows used for determining the ECL
is consistent with the cash flows used in measuring the
lease receivable in accordance with HKFRS 16 since 1
January 2019 or HKAS 17 (prior to 1 January 2019).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
R BTEImRARMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z —FE—hFE+=-A=+—BItFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or cater for
cases where evidence at the individual instrument level
may not yet be available, the financial instruments are
grouped on the following basis:

e Nature of financial instruments (i.e. certain of the
Group's accounts receivable are each assessed
as a separate group. Accounts receivable with
significant outstanding balances and loan note
receivable are assessed for expected credit losses
on an individual basis);

° Past-due status; and
° Nature, size and industry of debtors.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to
ensure the constituents of each group continue to share
similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset
is credit-impaired, in which case interest income is
calculated based on amortised cost of the financial
asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in
profit or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting
their carrying amount, with the exception of accounts
receivable, other receivables and loan note receivable
where the corresponding adjustment is recognised
through a loss allowance account.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A PR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z = F—hFE+-A=+—BIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial assets only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the assets expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial
liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including accounts payables, other
payables, borrowings and other loan are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest
method.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
R BTEImRARMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z —FE—hFE+=-A=+—BItFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)
Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid
and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Non-substantial modifications of financial liabilities

For non-substantial modifications of financial liabilities that
do not result in derecognition, the carrying amount of the
relevant financial liabilities will be calculated at the present
value of the modified contractual cash flows discounted
at the financial liabilities’ original effective interest rate.
Transaction costs or fees incurred are adjusted to the carrying
amount of the modified financial liabilities and are amortised
over the remaining term. Any adjustment to the carrying
amount of the financial liability is recognised in profit or loss
at the date of modification.

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies,
which are described in Note 3, the Directors are required
to make judgments, estimates and assumptions about the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. The estimates and underlying
assumptions are based on historical experience and other
factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if
the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current
and future periods.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A PR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z = F—hFE+-A=+—BIFE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Critical judgments in applying accounting
policies

The following are the critical judgments, apart from these
involving estimations (see below), that the Directors have
made in the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies and that have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

Deferred taxation on investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities arising
from investment properties, including those investment
properties classified as held-for-sale, that are measured
using the fair value model, the Directors have reviewed the
Group’s investment property portfolio and concluded that the
Group's investment properties are not held under a business
model whose objective is to consume substantially all of the
economic benefits embodied in the investment properties
over time. Therefore, in determining the Group’s deferred
taxation on investment properties, the Directors have
determined that the presumption that the carrying amounts
of investment properties measured using the fair value model
are recovered entirely through sale is not rebutted.

In respect of those investment properties located in the PRC,
the Group recognised additional deferred taxes relating to
Land Appreciation Tax (“LAT") and Enterprise Income Tax
(“EIT") on changes in fair value of such investment properties
as appropriate. In addition, in respect of those investment
properties located in the UK, the Group also recognised
additional deferred taxes relating to the UK Profits Tax
on changes in fair value of such investment properties as
appropriate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
R BTEImRARMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z —FE—hFE+=-A=+—BItFE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Critical judgments in applying accounting
policies (Continued)

Principal versus agent consideration (principal)

The Group engages in trading of commodities, including
petrochemical and metal-related products, and medical
equipment. The Group concluded that the Group acts
as the principal for such transactions as it controls the
specified good before it is transferred to the customer
after taking into consideration indicators such as i) the
Group is primarily responsible for fulfilling the promise to
provide the petrochemical and metal-related products and
medical equipment, ii) the Group has inventory risk before
the petrochemical and metal-related products and medical
equipment, have been transferred to the customers and
iii) the Group has discretion in establishing the selling price
for petrochemical and metal-related products and medical
equipment.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group
recognised revenue amounting to HK$19,955,000 (2018:
HK$4,085,287,000) relating to trading of commodities,
including petrochemical and metal-related products and
medical equipment.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A PR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z = F—hFE+-A=+—BIFE

4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets within
the next financial year.

Valuation of investment properties, including those
investment properties classified as assets held-for-sale

At the end of the reporting period, the Group’s investment
properties are stated at fair value of approximately
HK$806,985,000 (2018: HK$2,450,503,000, including
those investment properties classified as assets held-for-sale)
based on the valuations performed by independent qualified
professional valuers. In determining the fair values, the valuers
have made reference to market evidence of transaction prices
for similar properties in the same location and conditions and
where appropriate by capitalisation of rental income from
properties.

In relying on the valuations, the management of the Group
has exercised their judgments and is satisfied that the
valuation technique used is reflective of the current market
conditions. Details of the investment properties, including
those investment properties classified as assets held-for-sale,
are disclosed in Notes 18 and 29.

4. EXSRTHER A AEEM

ZEERR (@)

EET P REME 2 TR RIR

KT RRBERRAIEEHEENKREER
T—WHRFERRHFELEARAENEARR
MARREBEERI LG THARERZE
b = Z R °

REWE (BREZERBHFELHEZZERE
W) 215 E

RBERR  AEB2REDE (BES
HEABELEEEZZSREME) RE
BUAERBEEGHEMETZHBERR
7t {8 #1806,985,0008 70 (=T — N\ &F :
2,450,503,000% 7T) 3l Bk - B E A AL ER
HEMD2EMRERME RIRRZEUY
¥XSBzMBEE UEBBMERSW
AU#ER) EAREETE -

ERBHEER  ARBEEECAITELH
B 3 {5 0 = BR ER B TSP ER AR 2 Al (B AT o
BREME (BROIBAKFELEZZERE
YE) FBHENMEE 185229

AMZERBRRE —T—NFFR

129



130

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
R BTEImRARMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z —FE—hFE+=-A=+—BItFE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

Estimated impairment of mining rights

While assessing whether any indications of impairment exist
for mining rights, consideration is given to both external
and internal sources of information. External sources of
information of the Group includes changes in the market,
economic and legal environment in which the Group operates
that are not within its control and affect the recoverable
amount of the mining rights. Internal sources of information
includes the manner in which the mining rights are being
used or are expected to be used and indications of economic
performance of the assets and operating results. The carrying
amounts of mining rights are reviewed for impairment in
accordance with HKAS 36 /mpairment of Assets whenever
certain events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount may not be recoverable.

Mining rights are assessed annually to determine whether
there is any indication of impairment. The Group’s cash-
generating unit (“CGU") for impairment assessment of
mining rights is the cash-generating unit that holds mining
rights (the “Mining CGU").

When an impairment review is undertaken, recoverable
amount is assessed by reference to the higher of 1) value in
use (“VIU") and 2) fair value less costs of disposal (“FVLCD").
The best evidence of FVLCD is the value obtained from an
active market or binding sales agreement. Where neither
exists, FVLCD is based on the best information available to
reflect the amount the Group could receive for the Mining
CGU in an arm’s length transaction. The recoverable amount
of the mining rights are determined based on the VIU
calculation and certain key assumptions. VIU calculation used
the discounted future pre-tax cash flows expected to be
derived from the Mining CGU and the Group has engaged
an independent qualified professional valuer to perform
such valuation. The key assumptions used in estimating the
discounted future pre-tax cash flows are tungsten metal
estimated selling price, estimated future costs of production,
estimated future operating costs, recoverable reserves,
resources and exploration potential, discount rates and
exchange rates. Changes in these key assumptions can result
in changes of the carrying amounts of the Group’s mining
rights that may impact the profit or loss.
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4.

—NF+ZRA=+—HLFE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

Estimated impairment of mining rights (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2019, impairment losses
amounted to HK$170,821,000 (2018: HK$109,704,000) has
recognised for the mining rights as the recoverable amounts
are lower than the respective carrying amounts. Details of the
mining rights are disclosed in Note 20 and impairment test in
Note 21.

Provision of ECL for accounts receivable and other
receivables

Accounts receivable with significant balances and credit-
impaired and other receivables are assessed for ECL
individually. In addition, the Group uses provision matrix
to calculate ECL for the accounts receivable which are
individually insignificant. The provision rates are based
on internal credit ratings as groupings of various debtors
that have similar loss patterns. The provision matrix is
based on the Group’s historical default rates taking into
consideration forward-looking information that is reasonable
and supportable available without undue costs or effort. At
every reporting date, the historical observed default rates are
reassessed and changes in the forward-looking information
are considered.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates.
The information about the ECL and the Group's accounts
receivable and other receivables are disclosed in Note 41(b).
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z —FE—hFE+=-A=+—BItFE

5. REVENUE

(i) Disaggregation of revenue for

contracts with customers:

5. Wz
() BEFEHKEAD :

Year ended 31
December 2019 Year ended 31 December 2018
Commodity Financial Commodity
and medical services and medical
equipment and asset equipment
Segments trading management trading Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
HE-Z-NF
+=A=+-AH HEZZ-N\%E
tEE TZA=T-RLEE
BmRER SRS HmRERE
2 REES RAEER REES st
TR TR AT THL
Types of goods and services & mRRHER
Sales of commodity products iHE
Petrochemical products AlLER - - 3,684,032 3,684,032
Metal-related products SEHBEm - - 361,419 361,419
Sales of medical equipment HERBERE 19,955 - 39,836 39,836
Service fees, commission and REE - A RELkA
brokerage income - 2,988 - 2,988
Total Foh 19,955 2,988 4,085,287 4,088,275
Geographical markets RS
Singapore I - - 2,662,477 2,662,477
The PRC H 19,955 - 1,422,810 1,422,810
Hong Kong s - 2,988 = 2,988
Total Foh 19,955 2,988 4,085,287 4,088,275
Timing of revenue recognition W #E 2K E
At a point in time RE—FH 19,955 - 4,085,287 4,085,287
Over time RER B - 2,988 - 2,988
Total Foh 19,955 2,988 4,085,287 4,088,275
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A PR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE-FT—hF+-A=+—HILFE

5. REVENUE (Continued) 5 W= )

(i) Disaggregation of revenue for (i)
contracts with customers: (Continued)

Set out below is the reconciliation of the revenue from
contracts with customers with the amounts disclosed
in the segment information for the years ended 31
December 2019 and 2018.

EFEHAWREMAD  (®)

BE_Z-NAFE-_ZT-NF+-A
ZST—RIEFE UATHIEZFAH
ZWEBRSBEMARECR 2K -

Segment revenue

7 Uk =
2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000
—E-hEF —ZE-)N\F
FHExT FHET
Commodity and medical equipment HmkEERHBHES
trading 19,955 4,085,287
Financial services and asset management & @liRIE M & EE - 2,988
Revenue from contracts with HEFEHZWE
customers 19,955 4,088,275
Leases HE 6,588 95,366
Interest under effective interest method B F B AT E AT B = 130,579
Total s 26,543 4,314,220
(ii) Performance obligations for contracts (i) BEEFEHNZEBHNERE

with customers

Sales of petrochemical and metal-related products
and medical equipment

The Group sells petrochemical and metal-related
products to customers through its supply chain
relationship in the industry and medical equipment to
distributors and non-distributors comprising hospitals
in the PRC. Contracts with the Group’s customers
are mainly short term and fixed price contracts. The
revenue is recognised when control of the goods has
transferred, being when the goods have been shipped
to the customers’ specific location (delivery) on which
the customers obtain control of the goods. Following
delivery, the customers has full discretion over the
manner of distribution and price to sell the goods, has
the primary responsibility when on selling the goods
and bears the risks of obsolescence and loss in relation
to the goods.

HEANREBEHERR SRR E

REBEFBENREEBRATSIHE
Atk eBHEBERNARR D HERE
DB (REPEER) HEBRRE -
FEBZEFPAEHNTERRHRETEE
BER - BRI mZIE %U%EEE% B
PmERNERFIEE 2 ME () -

&\JE'HX 7 B 4 IR I FE R M A o IR
R BRPAIRREMBEREEETR
EEREE UAEESERNR I EER
£ R 7 on R EE e B 18 2 [RLBg: o

AFZERARDT — T NLFFR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
R BTEImRARMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z—F—hF+-_A=+—HIFE
5. REVENUE (Continued)

(iii) Transaction price allocated to the
remaining performance obligation for
contracts with customers
The Group has no remaining (unsatisfied or partially

unsatisfied) performance obligations as at 31 December
2019 and 2018.

(iv) Leases

5 W= @)

(iii) P FEFEHNNRTENE
ENRZ B

RZE—-—NhFERZZE—NEF+_A
=+—B AEEBMESRTRARECK
ENE D AREK) ©

(iv) HE

Year ended

31 December
2019

HK$000
BE-Z-hF
+=HA=t+—H
LEE

FET

Revenue arising from operating leases of investment
properties in which the lease payments that are fixed

REENFSBEERRENELE
HEELEM WS 6,588

Year ended

31 December
2018

HK$'000
HE2_ZT—N\F
+=—A=+—8”
IEFE

AT

Revenue arising from operating leases of investment
properties

Tai United Holdings Limited Annual Report 2019
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A PR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE-FT—hF+-A=+—HILFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the Chief Executive Officer of
the Company, being the chief operating decision maker
("CODM"), for the purposes of resource allocation and
assessment of segment performance focuses on types of
goods or services delivered or rendered.

Specifically, the Group’s reportable segments under HKFRS 8
are as follows:

0

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Financial services and asset management segment by
aggregating different operating segments including
fund investment, provision of securities and margin
financing, trading and brokerage of futures contracts,
asset management, money lending business and
insurance brokerage service to customers in Hong Kong;
trading equity securities and derivatives in the PRC,
Hong Kong and Singapore; and managing of assets
arising from acquisition of distressed debts assets in the
PRC;

Commodity and medical equipment trading segment
by aggregating different operating segments including
trading of petrochemical products and metal-related
products in Singapore; and trading of medical
equipment in the PRC;

Property investment segment by aggregating different
operating segments including property investment and
leasing of properties in the PRC, Hong Kong and the
UK; and

Mining and exploitation of natural resources segment —
mining and production of tungsten resources activities
in the Republic of Mongolia (“Mongolia”).

7 EER

AARRTREH NEELEREE (X
SHBREE]) SRUAPEERRTEDE
RRZEN  ERROFERDREZEY
AR5 AR

: $E’<T)§§?’§EM%$&%EEE‘J%8% :
DEREATE

() ZRRBELEEEELB-—TRLESD
MELBFESRE NEBEREFRE
HEBFIRESHE HEANEER
K BEERE MEEBRRBRELS
R R E - EERF MK EERA
ERRTETAR: RRPEEBEIRE
BEEMEEZEEER

(i PEREEEREBEIHB-—TREREES
HEABERFTNMFEESALLERLSE
BREEER: RRPHEZBHELMHE

(i) MERENH-TRLE D LERLBIE
KRB FERREZNEREREE
mE R

(iv) HRBEBRORRAERD B-NEE XM
B (X&) 2 RBRREESREREE

AFZERARDT — T NLFFR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A PR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z —FE—hFE+=-A=+—BItFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Segment revenue and results

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and
results by operating and reportable segments.

For the year ended 31 December 2019

6. DEER @
Y E X

5
PSS

N

)

Bt X2

RICSERF 2R B D 2 AEBW
B2 e

BE-_FE-—NF+-A=+—HIEFE

Financial ~ Commodity Mining and
services  and medical exploitation
and asset  equipment Property of natural
management trading  investment resources Total
SRR Hmk RRRHE
REEEE BRRFEZS MERE RRER @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TR TR TR
Segment revenue 2l - 19,955 6,588 - 26,543
Segment net investment AHEREER
losses (616) - - - (616)
Total @t (616) 19,955 6,588 - 25,927
Segment results DHEE 9,371 (8,712) (107,105) (173,748) (280,194)
Net gains on disposal and HERTHMBAR
deregistration of subsidiaries, ~ BRABRE K
a limited partnership and a HErEE WS
structured entity i 172,504
Net foreign exchange losses ERERTE (22,229)
Changes in fair value of BRUEGRZAAE
structured deposits 4 1,594
Impairment losses recognised & F M A & FE U FRIR
on disposal receivable of BRRZAERE
Hangzhou Tai Rong (50,918)
Interest income from disposal &M A K EMFIE
receivable of Hangzhou EEZFERA
Tai Rong 12,117
Unallocated interest income RABEFBHA 12,276
Unallocated finance costs RO BB AR (150)
Central administration costs ~ FFRITEFI (44,239)
Loss before tax BB ATEE (199,239)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A PR
For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z = F—hFE+-A=+—BIFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Segment revenue and results (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2018

oEER @)
DE N R EE #)
B2 _F-N\F+-A=+—HIFE

Financial Commodity Mining and

services  and medical exploitation

and asset equipment Property of natural
management trading investment resources Total

S BBH BRR  ABEDE
RBEEE BEXEES NERE RABR @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THx THET THx TER FEL
Segment revenue pan:iL 6 133,567 4,085,287 95,366 - 4,314,220

Segment net investment AHFREER

losses (186,343) - - - (186,343)
Total st (52,776) 4,085,287 95,366 - 4,127,877
Segment results DHMEE (183,857) (11,299) (112,707) (113,369) (421,232)

Gain on disposal of an associate {H{%& — = 1 Bl
Share of results of an associate 75— & 1 5 %4
Net foreign exchange losses EiERTE

Changes in fair value of financial ZAAEFABEZ

assets at FVTPL SREELNEE
Changes in fair value of BEEUERZANE
structured deposits 28
Unallocated interest income AAEFSHRA
Unallocated finance costs RDEH TR AR

Central administration costs RRITBRYT

Loss before tax BREAEER

Segment revenue reported above represents revenue
generated from external customers. There were no inter-
segment sales during both years.

The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the
same as the Group's accounting policies described in Note 3.
Segment result represents the profit earned or loss incurred
before tax by each segment without allocation of central
administration costs including Directors’ emoluments, legal
and professional fees, office rentals and other operating
expenses, net foreign exchange losses, changes in fair value
of structured deposits, unallocated interest income and
finance costs, net gains on disposal and deregistration of
subsidiaries, a limited partnership, a structured entity and
an associate, changes in fair value of financial assets at
FVTPL, impairment losses recognised on disposal receivable
of Hangzhou Tai Rong, interest income from disposal
receivable of Hangzhou Tai Rong and share of results of an
associate. This is the measure reported to the CODM for the
purposes of resource allocation and assessment of segment
performance.

394
(394)
(73,388)

29

3,519
3,490
(34,855)
(71,552)

(593,989)

EXRERT BRI ESEEY
U2s o B RIEEEE P9 - A S SDRI S -

AE2BN 2 EFFRRENEIMEAEE

SETBEAR - DR ERETVER R BEP
RITERAX (BREFHH ZRLREXER -
MRERE REME LR - EXERFHE -
BEUEGRZARERZE  KAOEMEWA
RBRA HERIHHBLR BRAE
BAR - EEUEERL -HEBEQRNKRES
FECBARBEFABRRZEREEZAR
BEEE - BEMNIMNARERRAD R
BEEER HEMMAKBRFBEEZMNE
WA KD 1E— & R P E4E) AT - &R
BRI AR Z BN REEZ EE - HER
DERFEDBRAME - MHAETBLE
REREZWMZTE

AMZERBRRE —T—NFFR
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Tai United Holdings Limited Annual Report 2019

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6. DEPER @
Segment assets and liabilities PHEERESE
The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities AEBREERNERDHE D 2EERE
by operating and reportable segments: B2
2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000
—ZE-hEF —ZE—N\F
FET FHB T
Segment assets DEEE
Financial services and asset management RS REEEE 550,151 1,149,694
Commodity and medical equipment trading EmEEEREZ S 11,666 25,672
Property investment MERE 826,478 2,618,734
Mining and exploitation of natural resources  £#8& & #1522 K SR &R 175,285 346,718
Total segment assets DEPEELRRE 1,563,580 4,140,818
Disposal receivable of f M A &84 & HEMNAREEERE
‘& 18 H R A &) Hangzhou Tai Rong BRAR ([HMAED
Asset Management Co. Ltd.* JE W IR
("Hangzhou Tai Rong”) 1,057,910 -
Structured deposits ERE TR - 200,143
Unallocated right-of-use assets ROBERAEEE 1,545 =
Unallocated financial assets at FVTPL KAOBEIZEANEFTABRZ
TREE 571 584
Unallocated property, plant and equipment kD E W% - H/E K& 1E 7,739 15,610
Unallocated intangible assets RoEREE 4,155 4,155
Other unallocated corporate assets Hit R B AR EE 6,809 11,460
Consolidated assets HEBE 2,642,309 4,372,770
Segment liabilities HaeE
Financial services and asset management CRRBREEER 1,557 46,235
Commodity and medical equipment trading @& EEREE S 2,128 5,364
Property investment VIR E 322,913 751,927
Mining and exploitation of natural resources  £%HE I #1 2 KR &R 23,583 66,255
Total segment liabilities DEEERTE 350,181 869,781
Other loan HhE® 120,958 123,585
Unallocated lease liabilities KOEHEEE 1,583 -
Unallocated tax liabilities RAOEHIBEEE 97,510
Other unallocated corporate liabilities B RDEEARIBE 3,128 6,382
Consolidated liabilities FEAaflE 573,360 999,748
* The English name is for identification purpose only.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE-FT—hF+-A=+—HILFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
Segment assets and liabilities (Continued)

For the purpose of monitoring segment performances and
allocating resources between segments:

o all assets are allocated to operating and reportable
segments other than disposal receivable of Hangzhou
Tai Rong, structured deposits, unallocated right-of-use
assets, unallocated financial assets at FVTPL, unallocated
property, plant and equipment, unallocated intangible
assets and other unallocated corporate assets (including
primarily unallocated bank balances and cash).

o all liabilities are allocated to operating and reportable
segments other than other loan, unallocated lease
liabilities, unallocated tax liabilities and other unallocated
corporate liabilities.

Geographical information

The Group operates in five principal geographical areas —
Singapore, the PRC, Hong Kong, the UK and Mongolia.

Information about the Group’s revenue from external
customers is presented based on the location of the relevant
subsidiary’s operations and information about Group’s non-
current assets is presented based on physical location of

6. DEER (@)
PTHEEREE#®)
MEEDBRBELESBZEAPEERME

o FRHEEMMAKEUFUR - BTN
ANEEREEE  ADOEZEQER
ABHZEREE KOEVE  BE
R RAOEEVEEREMRDE
RAEE(XEBERDERTESRR
iﬁ/i\) S MBEERNEELE RA

s Ei

o MREMEN KD EE?H‘,E\E% RO BEC
MBRABEREMRDEARBEIN - AT
BREHDHE %E%%E.&sz HoEL

i & & R
$EIFEMIEME SN B B
HEREHETLE

REABEMBRARZEMH I BEAAE l
KEIBEPRENEMERIEEELR
HMEJFRAKEFRBDEENER

assets.
Revenue from
external customers Non-current assets "
Year ended 31 December At 31 December
REHNBEF KRS kReEE"
BET-A=1-HLEE R+=A=+-H
2019 2018 2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
“E-hE —Z-)\F “E-NF —2-N\F
TERT THL TER THL
Singapore g - 4,045,451 - 1,113
The PRC FE 19,955 133,800 4,052 4,877
Hong Kong 0 - 133,567 17,312 22,207
The UK it 6,588 1,402 807,250 856,796
Mongolia B - - 175,030 346,295
26,543 4,314,220 1,003,644 1,231,288

Note: Non-current assets excluded financial assets at FVTPL and
deferred tax assets.

M FRBDEETERERAAEBFABRREZS
MEENMRERAAE °

AMZERBRRE —T—NFFR
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z —FE—hFE+=-A=+—BItFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6. THER @
Information about major customers FEEFZEH
Revenue from customers of the corresponding years BRAEERAKZ10% U ENEEFERF
contributing over 10% of the total revenue of the Group are WasEHI T
as follows:
2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000
—E-NF —E-)N\F
THET FHT
Customer A BEEA 2,750 N/A 73 A 2
Customer B EFB N/AFEF? 2,012,913
Customer C BEC N/A T 38 F2 608,473’
L Revenue from commodity and medical equipment trading 1 REEMABEREE S DB -
segment.
2 The corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10% of the 2 BN EARNEE R TR 10% AL -
total revenue of the Group.
7. NET INVESTMENT LOSSES 7. BREER
2019 2018
HK$°000 HK$'000
—E-hE —ZT-N\F
TER FHET

Changes in fair value of financial assets at ~ EAREFABZZ SBMEE

FVTPL NAEE (616) (186,343)

Tai United Holdings Limited Annual Report 2019




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A PR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z = F—hFE+-A=+—BIFE

8. OTHER INCOME 8. HA
2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000
—ZE-hEF —E-N\F
FET FHET
Interest income from: REATEEZFBEHA

- bank and other deposits —RITREAMTFR 14,419 4,353
— disposal receivable of Hangzhou Tai Rong  — Hi & #1 M A 45 e Y 7k 08 12,117 -
— restricted bank deposits — X R EBIERITIFHR - 4,036

Reparation interest income from previously &t 5t AR VEFE W & T iR BL B
redeemed loan note receivable A B U A 23,551 -
Sundry income MBI A 1,266 637
51,353 9,026

9. IMPAIRMENT LOSSES UNDER EXPECTED 9. A& EEERXETHWRE

CREDIT LOSS MODEL, NET OF REVERSAL BE (NEREE)
2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000
—E-hF —E—)\F
FTH&xT FET
Impairment losses (recognised) RATHRIE(EER) BEE 2
reversed on REEE
— accounts receivable — R R 16,845 (10,523)
— loan note receivable —RBUREREE - 10,010
— other receivables — H fth U GRIA (56,486) (2,373)
(39,641) (2,886)
Details of impairment assessment are set out in Note 41(b). AT EFIEHAM E41(0) ©

AMZERBRRE —T—NFFR
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z —FE—hFE+=-A=+—BItFE

10. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES

10. Hb = R EH

2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000
—ZE-hEF —ZE-N\F
FET FHBT
Net gains (losses) on disposal and HERFHINBAR - BRAER
deregistration of subsidiaries, NAE] > AEEEE RS
a limited partnership, structured entity nNaElz W (E518) F58
and an associate (Note 43) (F15E43) 172,504 (7,016)
Changes in fair value of structured deposits 4B M7 KA D EEH) 1,594 3,519
Net foreign exchange losses PE 5 S8 558 (22,229) (73,388)
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEWE - WE REBEBE
equipment (896) (2,541)
Profits attributable to the third parties’ E=HTRNEEEBEER
interest in consolidated structured entities e 2 FE A 5 = (45,416)
Gain on disposal of an associate & — B E QR 2 s
(Note 43(e)) (BTEE43(e)) = 394
Changes in fair value of financial derivative ~ £ BHTEA N A RIEEF
contracts - 166
Changes in fair value of financial assets at BRANBEGFABRZEREE
FVTPL NAEEE - 29
150,973 (124,253)
11. FINANCE COSTS 1. BB RAE
2019 2018
HK$°000 HK$'000
—E-hF - N\F
FER FHET
Interest expenses on THEIBEAF SR
— secured bank borrowings —BHEARITEE 14,523 22,623
— lease liabilities —HEaE 451 =
— other borrowings and loan instrument —HithBEERERITE 317 19,618
— other loan —HMER - 9,014
— margin financing —RESHE = 20,440
15,291 71,695
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE-FT—hF+-A=+—HILFE

No provision for Singapore CIT and Hong Kong Profits Tax
has been made in the consolidated financial statements as
there are no assessable profits for current year. Singapore CIT
is calculated at 17.0% on the estimated assessable profit for
prior year.

On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council passed
The Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017 (the “Bill")
which introduces the two-tiered profits tax rates regime. The
Bill was signed into law on 28 March 2018 and was gazetted
on the following day. Under the two-tiered profits tax rates
regime, the first HK$2 million of profits of the qualifying
group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2
million will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of group entities
not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will
continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

Accordingly, the Hong Kong Profits Tax of the qualifying
group entity is calculated at 8.25% on the first HK$2 million
of the estimated assessable profits and at 16.5% on the
estimated assessable profits above HK$2 million for prior
year.

12. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CREDIT) 12. RSB (ER)
2019 2018
HK$’'000 HK$'000
—E-NF —\F
FHExT FET
Current tax: RATRIA ¢
The PRC EIT RE R ERTIT 99,270 3,655
Hong Kong Profits Tax BN G - 9,635
99,270 13,290
(Over) under-provision in prior years: RBAFE (BREEE) BE
TR :
The PRC EIT B ERTIET (8,319) 188
Hong Kong Profits Tax HENEH (1,077) =
Singapore Corporate Income Tax (“CIT") O 1 P AE T
(TZRmBH) - 206
(9,396) 394
Deferred tax (Note 35) EIERLIE (FT3E35) (42,343) (54,280)
47,531 (40,596)

HRANEEREERTOGEN - B8R &R

/—\ﬁﬁ‘%iﬁi‘éﬂiﬂ%T%ﬁﬂﬂ%‘iﬁ%ﬁﬁ’eﬁ&%ﬁ%ﬂ
SRR RE - IR EMEHRIRIEB

EEEE’HEJJTE%%R@%J&17.0%;Hr#

RZFE—NF=ZA=+—8 BHBEILLCHE
WM_T—ERB USR] (B75R) EHIER
(MEBIE=R]) - ﬁakmﬂﬂﬂ STEGIE -
BHERR-_ZE—N\F=ZA=-+N\HBHEEK
BERITREBAESTR - RIEMRFHFIG
MESE - & ERD IR E 2,000,000 7T 5%
M #5128.25% B £ R H - M 8 48 2,000,000
T E R A2 16.5% B TR KT - T A
FEHMBHEENEBMEREAEFBEE
£ 16.5% M5 — TR EMFLIE -

it - e EREEERNEANGRIRMEET
JE SR 5% F B 2,000,000 7 T4 8.25% 5 & A
Ko 3B 1+ £ Z #8368 2,000,000 78 7T K i 5 FE R 5
S AIE16.5% 1 E o

AFZERARDT — T NLFFR
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z —FE—hFE+=-A=+—BItFE

12. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CREDIT)

12. R EFHEX (ER) @

(Continued)

Under the Law of the PRC on EIT (the “EIT Law"”) and
Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate of
the PRC subsidiaries is 25% or at a lower concessionary rate
of 9% for subsidiaries operating in the Tibet Autonomous
Region for both years.

Subsidiaries incorporated in Mongolia are subject to
Mongolian income tax which is calculated at the rate of
10% on the first 3 billion Mongolian Turgrik of estimated
taxable income and 25% on the amount in excess thereof.
No provision for Mongolian income tax has been made in the
consolidated financial statements as there are no assessable
profits for both years.

The income tax expense (credit) for the year can be reconciled
to the loss before tax in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

BIEFBECERBRE(REMERZE]) &
TEMBFABRIES  RMETE KB
NAFA B R B25% KRR B AREE
BB AR A9% BRREEFEK o

REGEMR OB AR BHHNS H R
TR ZATBHM UG EERRAS
3,000,000,000 5% & Bl & £ 7242 10% A9 Fi K5+
E B IR25% B R E - mARE
FEVEELERRTEFN AL RREGE
BTSSR A S & B TS A% 1B H B4 -

AEEMEHAS (KR) Bix g RaE R EAM
EHEHKSERZBFEHAIERHERENT

2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000
—E-hF —E-N\F
FERT FHBT
Loss before tax BrA5 A& 18 (199,239) (593,989)
Tax calculated at the domestic income tax RAMFEH R E 2 HIE
rates (Note) (B E) (42,429) (122,873)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax A H0F B 2 2 Fi 7 57 22
purpose 27,127 47,088
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax BERRIMA 2 %2
purpose (9,489) (25,109)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RERRIBE B 2 BB 2 25,700 92,416
Effect of different tax base on disposal of HE—FPERBARZ
a PRC subsidiary TR EZE 60,371 =
(Over) under-provision in prior years RBTFE (BEEE) BETR (9,396) 394
Deferred tax effect of LAT in respect of ERAMNRFEIREMEAAE
changing in fair value of the investment BE) s THIRER 2
properties located in the PRC RERIRZE (4,353) (32,512)
Income tax expense (credit) for the year AEEEHAYX (ER) 47,531 (40,596)

Note: The amounts represented the combined effect of the
group entities basing on actual tax rates applicable for each
jurisdiction where the relevant group entities operate, taking

GEE

into account of applicable tax concession, if any.
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tRE ISR
For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z = F—hFE+-A=+—BIFE
13. LOSS FOR THE YEAR 13. XFEEHR
2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000
—ZE-hEF —E-N\F
FET FHET
Loss for the year has been arrived at after REFZBHE MR GTA)
charging (crediting): THEIEEER
Directors’ emoluments (Note 14) SEME (HIE14) 10,106 22,402
Other staff costs: == ) N
— Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind —Fre  EMREYHE 31,971 42,281
— Retirement benefit scheme contributions ~ — 3B K4 Fl 5 2 £ 7% 1,778 3,831
Total staff costs B AERE 43,855 68,514
Auditor’s remuneration ZE RN & 2,010 2,905
Cost of inventories recognised as an expense B R AR 2 FEHA 12,473 4,077,048
Depreciation of property, plant and M- BERZEZ
equipment e 7,541 10,565
Depreciation of right-of-use assets TREEENE 6,418 =
Operating lease rental in respect of office BEEAMAREME
premises KEHERS - 26,302
Gross rental income from investment REVEFGHES
properties WA 4258 (6,588) (95,366)
Less: direct operating expenses arising from & : EEHS WA Z IR EWE
investment properties that generated FIEAz BEKERX
rental income 768 12,198
(5.820) (83,168)

AMZERBRRE —T—NFFR
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z —FE—hFE+=-A=+—BItFE

14. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ AND 14.EF - FETHAERESH
EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS %

() EERTETHAEME

(a) Directors’ and chief executives’
emoluments

The following table sets forth certain information in

TERBIRBERNEREFTZETE

respect of the Directors during the reporting periods: #}
Date of appointment
as the directors

Name Position of the Company Date of resignation
BZER

#®E B ANFAEZRE IR

Dr. Kwong Kai Sing Benny  Executive director and 19 April 2018 (Note i) N/A

Chief executive officer
BREKET RTEFRITHER ZZ-NEWATNB (i) TER
Mr. Chen Weisong Executive director Reappointed on 27 October 2017 N/A (Note i)

(Note i)

REDEE #7ES RZE—+E+AZ++H FER (ki)
BMREE (W)

Mr. Chow Chi Wah Executive director 30 October 2019 (Note iii) N/A

Vincent
BEELE #7ES ZZ-NETAZTA (Hii) TER
Mr. Xu Ke Executive director 1 June 2016 23 April 2019
RAEE #7ES —T-REXA-H “E-NERAZT=AR
Mr. Wang Qiang Executive director 16 December 2016 5 December 2018
FREE #TES ZE-RETZATRAE —Z-\$TZREH
Mr. Ye Fei Executive director 28 October 2016 7 September 2018
BHE4 #7ES ZE-RETAZTAR —Z-\$¥NALR
Dr. Gao Bin Independent non-executive director 20 November 2015 N/A
BERL BUNFNTES —Z-RE+T-AZTH TER
Ms. Liu Yan Independent non-executive director 18 June 2015 N/A
fgat BUFNTES ZE2-RERAT\A Tam
Mr. Tang King Shing Independent non-executive director 1 February 2017 N/A
HEMTE BUNFNTES “T—+5-fA-AH TER
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z = F—hFE+-A=+—BIFE

14. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ AND
EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(a) Directors’ and chief executives’
emoluments (Continued)

Notes:

@

(ii)

(iii)

Dr. Kwong Kai Sing Benny was appointed as an executive
director of the Company effective from 19 April 2018
and being appointed as chief executive officer of the
Company effective from 30 October 2019.

Mr. Chen Weisong was reappointed as executive
director and chief executive officer of the Company
effective from 27 October 2017 after his resignation as
executive director of the Company on 25 April 2017.
Mr. Chen ceased to act as the chief executive officer of
the Company but remained as executive director of the
Company effective from 30 October 2019.

Mr. Chow Chi Wah Vincent was appointed as an
executive director of the Company effective from 30
October 2019.

14. 8B - FETHAEREESMN
cAC )

() EERFETBAEMS (F)

fia -

() BRAXELEZEREALARTES
B N\FOAThBREY W
ZERARRZITHRER B-T—N
F+A=+RBER-

iy REREENRENR-_ZT-—LFMA
—ThHBEARRNITERRENE
RERARRANTESRITHRAE - B
TEEETASTEHBER - RE
ETBEEARFATRERBDAEEA
AMTEE BT NF+A=+AH
ARAERL o

(iy FAXEXREEZTAARANTES -
BT NAFTA=tBBER-

AMZERBRRE —T—NFFR
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z —FE—hFE+=-A=+—BItFE

14. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ AND
EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(a) Directors’ and chief executives’

148 FETHAEREESMN

&)

() EERFETBAEME (F)

emoluments (Continued)

Directors’ and chief executives’ remuneration for the
year, disclosed pursuant to the applicable Listing Rules

and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, is as follows:

Year ended 31 December 2019

FENEERTETRABRZHMERE
EAETRAIREE A BGHIRENT :

BE_E-NWF+-A=+—HILFE

Dr. Kwong Mr. Chow
Kai Sing Mr. Chen Mr. Xu Chi Wah
Benny Weisong Ke Vincent Total
BRABELT RENREE ®RU%E ATERE “ag
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THL FAT AL THL THL
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS HITES
Fees we - - - - -
Other emoluments Hivile
Salaries, allowances and e 2K
benefits in kind EWFE 3,300 4,766 890 206 9,162
Retirement benefit scheme RINRRIFTEIE R
contributions 18 18 6 2 a4
Subtotal N 3318 4,784 896 208 9,206
Dr. Gao Ms. Liu Mr. Tang
Bin Yan King Shing Total
mEEL 28+ BEREE ko)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTAT FTAT TAET FTAT
INDEPENDENT NON- BYFHTES
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Fees we 300 300 300 900
Other emoluments HinB e - - - -
Subtotal Naf 300 300 300 900
Total k) 10,106
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z = F—hFE+-A=+—BIFE

14. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ AND
EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(a) Directors’ and chief executives’
emoluments (Continued)

Year ended 31 December 2018

14. 8B - FETHAEREESMN
cAC )

() EERTETHAEME @)

BE-_E-\F+-A=+—HIFE

Dr. Kwong
Mr. Chen Mr. Xu Mr. Ye Mr. Wang Kai Sing
Weisong Ke Fei Qiang Benny Total
BRENLE RAUEE EkEAE TREE  BRKEL B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THL THL THL FHBT FABT FHBT
EXECUTIVEDIRECTORS ~ #{TES
Fees we - - - - - -
Other emoluments HihBi e
Salaries, allowances and e R2ER
benefits in kind ENFR 6,497 6,361 2,524 4,106 1,821 21,309
Retirement benefit scheme R/ FIEH B4
contributions 18 18 14 130 13 193
Subtotal gt 6,515 6,379 2,538 4236 1,834 21,502
Dr. Gao Ms. Liu Mr. Tang
Bin Yan King Shing Total
SEEL £} R HEREE k)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTAT THET TAET FTAT
INDEPENDENT NON- BYFHTES
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Fees we 300 300 300 900
Other emoluments Hi & - - - -
Subtotal NEt 300 300 300 900
Total mE 22,402
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
R BTEImRARMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z —FE—hFE+=-A=+—BItFE

14. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ AND
EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(a) Directors’ and chief executives’
emoluments (Continued)

The executive directors’ and chief executives’
emoluments shown above were mainly for their services
in connection with the management of the affairs of
the Company and the Group. The independent non-
executive directors’ emoluments shown above were
mainly for their services as directors of the Company.

No emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors
as an inducement to join, or upon joining the Group, or
as compensation for loss of office during both years.

There was no arrangement under which a director
or the chief executive waived or agreed to waive any
remuneration during both years.

(b) Employees’ emoluments

The five highest paid employees of the Group during
the year included two directors (2018: three directors),
details of whose remuneration are set out in the
disclosures above. Details of the remuneration for the
year of the remaining three (2018: two) highest paid
employees who are neither director nor chief executive
of the Company are as follows.

148 FETHAEREESMN
cAC )

(a)

(b)

EERFTETHAESHE (&)

ERATHTEERIZTHRAEHE
TETNARBREARNARRAEEREH
ZEBRBMIN - ERAIRZEILIE
HMITEFZHE T ENRRRERLER
RAEEZ RIS ©

RMEFER  AEEMEREEN
EAME  (ERMAREBE S IMARSE
B2 BB RBER 2 fE -

EEHETRTRABRRMEFEASE
T ER R BEREERMME L -

EBEME

REARN AEBLERSHFHNEERE
MEER(CE-N\F:=5EF)  H
MeEN EXWE - FRABRT =% (=
Z—N\F MB)ZSHHMER LIEX
NRRAEEFRTETHAR) 25
s

2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$'000
—E-hF —E-N\F
FET FET

Salaries, allowance and other benefits e R REAM
in kind BEWEf 9,926 6,227
Retirement benefit scheme contributions 3R K48 Fll 51 2| 7% 53 36
9,979 6,263
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z = F—hFE+-A=+—BIFE

14. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ AND
EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Employees’ emoluments (Continued)

The number of the highest paid employee who are not
directors nor chief executive of the Company whose
remuneration fell within the following bands is as
follows:

14. 8B - FETHAEREESMN
cAC )

(b) EEME &)

WIARAREEFHTETHAEAHS
NETMIEEZE=HHEEHBWT

No. of employees

EE®A
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 % 7L £ 3,000,000 % 7T 1 1
HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 3,000,001 7 7T % 3,500,000 7 7T 1 -
HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,000,000 3,500,001 7 7T & 4,000,000 7 7T 1
3 2
15. DIVIDENDS 15. R 2
2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000
—E-NE ZE-N\F
TET FHET
Dividends for ordinary shareholders of the ~ ZN /2 7] 3% 3 A% i% 5 F [E N &R IF
Company recognised as distribution BRADKZKE :
during the year:
2018 second special dividend ZE-NFEZREIRE
— HK20 cents (2018: 2018 special —gGR20BM (ZZE—NF :
dividend — HK28.58 cents) per share —E-N\EFEEFIRE-EK
28.58 % lll) 1,050,004 1,500,456

No dividend was proposed for ordinary shareholders of the
Company since the end of the reporting period.

BEMEMRAR  AEAARFEBRRR
BEEREMRE -

AMZERBRRE —T—NFFR
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16. LOSS PER SHARE

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
4= AN B

AT HRA MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z —FE—hFE+=-A=+—BItFE

16. ERE 1B

The calculation of the basic loss per share attributable to the RAFHEEABENSRERNEEDRET
owners of the Company is based on the following data: PEIRETE -
2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000
—E-NF —E—N\F
FERT FHTT
Loss &8

Loss for the year attributable to owners of the AR5+ & &A% E AN E1EH
Company for the purpose of basic loss per 7R A FEH A FE(LFE N EE

share (246,440) (553,243)
2019 2018
‘000 ‘000
=E-hF —T-N\F
TR FA
Number of shares R EE
Number of ordinary shares for the purpose ~ AR T EFEAREERN
of calculation of basic loss per share 5 A% X 5,250,020 5,250,020
No diluted loss per share for both years were presented as AR REFERNTEEETEEEER W
there were no potential ordinary shares in issue during both BEE 25 EF SN SRR EEESE -
years.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z—F—hF+-_A=+—HIFE

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 17. 9%  BERRE

Furniture,
fixtures
Leasehold and office Motor
improvements equipment  Machinery vehicles Total
B -
EBEEER
HEHE BRAERE s AE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T FTAET FTET FThET T
cosT B
At 1 January 2018 R-Z—-\F—H—H 9,803 14,517 2,302 24,725 51,347
Additions NE 1,230 742 = = 1,972
Disposals HE (3,119) (217) (670) (4,887) (8,893)
Disposals through disposal of ERAHEMBARILE
subsidiaries (Notes 43(d) (Pft 3£ 43(d) & 43(f))
and 43(f)) (904) (2,667) - - (3,571)
Exchange realignment NS (243) (327) 3 (81) (651)
At 31 December 2018 RZBE-N\F
+-A=+—H 6,767 12,048 1,632 19,757 40,204
Additions E - 265 4 - 269
Disposals & (1,065) (668) - (4,250) (5,983)
Disposals through disposal of BREERBARILE
subsidiaries (Note 43(b)) (FiEE43(b)) (1,988) (566) - - (2,554)
Exchange realignment I 5 % (58) (114) - 2 (170)
At 31 December 2019 RZZE-NF
+-A=+—H 3,656 10,965 1,636 15,509 31,766
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION Ritifi &
At 1 January 2018 R=F—\E—A—A 3,664 5,137 460 6,469 15,730
Provided for the year FREE 2,546 2,975 419 4,625 10,565
Eliminated on disposals A B 3 (2,835) (49) (224) (1,357) (4,465)
Eliminated on disposal of R EM B BB
subsidiaries (Notes 43(d) (PR 5¥ 43(d) R 43(F)
and 43(f)) 130 (1,001) - - (1,131)
Exchange realignment R 130 (165) = (33) (328)
At 31 December 2018 RZE—\F
+-RA=+—H 3,115 6,897 655 9,704 20,371
Provided for the year FREE 1,029 2,656 329 3,527 7,541
Eliminated on disposals BA 5 B 1 5 (318) (437) - (2,267) (3,022)
Eliminated on disposal of NS EUNGIES 6
subsidiaries (Note 43(b)) (Hi5E43(b)) (1,925) (565) - - (2,490)
Exchange realignment Rz (32) (85) - - (117)
At 31 December 2019 RZE-NF
+-A=1+—H 1,869 8,466 984 10,964 22,283
CARRYING VALUES RHEE
At 31 December 2019 R-T—NF
+-RA=+—H 1,787 2,499 652 4,545 9,483
At 31 December 2018 RZE-N\F
+-A=1+—H 3,652 5,151 977 10,053 19,833

AMZERBRRE —T—NFFR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
R BTEImRARMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE—-T—hF+—-A=+—HILFE

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 17.
(Continued)

The above items of property, plant and equipment are
depreciated, after taking into account of their estimated
residual values, on a straight-line method, at the following
rates per annum:

Leasehold improvements Over the shorter of
lease term or 5
years

Furniture, fixtures and 20% to 33.3%

office equipment
Machinery 20% t0 33.3%
Motor vehicles 20% to 33.3%
18. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 18.

During the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018, the
Group leases out residential property units and hotel facility
under operating leases with rentals payable weekly/monthly.
The leases typically run for an initial period of 2 weeks to
10 years and no unilateral rights to extend the lease beyond
initial period held by the Group and lessees.

The Group is not exposed to foreign currency risk as a result
of the lease arrangements, as all leases are denominated in
the respective functional currencies of group entities. The
lease contracts do not contain residual value guarantee and/
or lessee’s option to purchase the property at the end of lease
term.

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the total cash inflow
for leases is HK$6,588,000.

M BENRRE®

EME - BERRENG ARF 2 fEEE
HREERABRERATENERGTE :

HEEE HEFHRF
(A&REE BE)
B BERER 20% % 33.3%
I NE
HEs 20% %£33.3%
bk 20% £33.3%
REWE
REBEZ_ZE—NFER_ZE—N\F+=A

=St HALEFE AREREBELEHELH
EEYWEBECRBERE HeKESAE /8
AXN -BENVFZHRBESH2EBZE10
FOEEETHEMNSHECREARAKRER
ARAFTERE B 1) 2 HR PASK o

HRAEEEYNEEEREBENIREEE
fHE HASETERABEE LI MARIMNE
R -HESHTEENBEBERK &
ERAEEEMREEZMENBRERE -

REBEZE-ZT-NFT+_A=+—RHLFE"
HERE MRS 6,588,000 T ©

HK$'000
FET

FAIR VALUE ARE
At 1 January 2018 R-—E—NE—A—H 2,761,828
Changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss REBEEPERZANEED (124,942)
Reclassified as held-for-sale (Note 29(i)) EFNHEAFELE (WHiE290) (1,660,976)
Disposals & (44,199)
Exchange realignment IE 5 35 (75,248)
At 31 December 2018 RZE-N\F+ZA=+—H 856,463
Changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss RERFRRZANEE (72,505)
Exchange realignment [ H 38 & 23,027
At 31 December 2019 RZZE-NF+ZA=+—H 806,985
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z = F—hFE+-A=+—BIFE

18. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

18. REW X @)

2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000
—E-hHF —E-N\F
FHExT FHET
Unrealised losses on investment properties st ABZHAZ IR EDESH 2
revaluation included in profit or loss REIEEIR (72,505) (122,679)

The fair value of the Group's investment properties at 31
December 2019 and 31 December 2018 has been arrived
at on the basis of valuations carried out on the respective
date by Messrs Cushman & Wakefield Debenham Tie Leung
Limited (2018: Cushman & Wakefield LLP), an independent
qualified professional valuer not connected with the Group.

In determining the fair value of the investment properties, the
Group engages the independent qualified professional valuer
to perform the valuation. The management of the Group
works closely with them to establish the appropriate valuation
techniques and inputs to the model and explain the cause of
fluctuations in the fair value of the investment properties to
the board of directors.

There has been no change from the valuation technique used
during the year ended 31 December 2019. In estimating
the fair values of the investment properties for disclosure
purpose, the highest and the best use of the investment
properties is their current use. The fair values of certain
investment properties have been adjusted to exclude prepaid
or accrued operating lease income to avoid double counting.

AEB R EMER_ZT—NLF+=A
=+—HBEZE-N\F+ZA=+—HZAR
RETHEAEESEBEGR 2 BLEER
= ¥ [ {E AP Cushman & Wakefield Debenham
Tie Leung Limited (== — J\£F : Cushman &
Wakefield LLP) A& B HEREIT 2 (hEEE -

HREETREVEZAREMNS  A&EEERE
BUABREEMEMETHE AEEE
BEEREREAE U LB ZEA
HEXMEBABE YRAEERERKRE
MERTEREEA -

RBE-T—NEF+=A=+—HILEEN -
P P9 5 (L5 T A S Y 20 B R P
ZRAMEDAER  RENEZ BERE
ERRAERAERS - ETRANENAA
EEEAE WA TN RS RERA
bAdBE S B A3 -
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R BTEImRARMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z —FE—hFE+=-A=+—BItFE

18. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 18. REYZE @)
The following table gives information about how the fair TR ZEREVELANBEZEEARZ
values of these investment properties are determined (in BER(LEREERMERFTARASE)

particular, the valuation techniques and inputs used).

Investment Valuation Significant Relationship of unobservable

properties technique unobservable input(s) inputs to fair value

RENF RER EXTUREBARE FUBEEBABBHEALENBR

Residential property units Market comparable ~ Market unit rate, taking into account the A significant increase in the market unit
located in the UK approach recent transaction prices for similar rate used would result in a significant

2019: HK$806,985,000 properties adjusted for nature, location increase in fair value, and vice versa.

2018: HK$856,463,000 and conditions of the property, which

ranged from Great British Pound (“GBP")
2,260 to GBP2,650 (2018: GBP2,351 to
GBP2,840) per square foot

IR BBz FEMEEM (i34 30 B REUMENTERSE(RENES FRNTSEEABENEERALE
ZZ— 14 : 806,985,000 57T M8 UERBRETRR)R THE  KEEN RZAA -
—Z—\f : 856,463,0005 7T BNREERR2260EHEE2,650 185

(ZF—N\F : 2351 REEE 2,840 58%)
There were no transfers into or out of Level 3 during both RREFEEN  F-EHAPEZLEERE - R
years. As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, all of the Group’s —E-hEFERZZE-NF+ZA=+—8"
investment properties have been pledged to secure banking AEEBRERENELDERUERETAE
facilities granted to the Group. E R IRITAE o
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z = F—hFE+-A=+—BIFE

19. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 19. BILEE
Trading Vehicle
rights and license  Customers'
licenses plates relationship Total
REER
=3 BEHEE EFB% @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T FET FExT AT
COoST R
At 1 January 2018 R-—Z—-\F—F—H 8,355 4,155 20,131 32,641
Disposals through disposal of subsidiaries & B HEHBA R E
(Notes 43(d) and 43(f)) (FiE43(d) K 43() (8,355) = (20,131) (28,486)
At 31 December 2018 and RZE-N\F+-A=+—-HEK
31 December 2019 “T-hEF+ZA=1+—H - 4,155 - 4,155
AMORTISATION AND IMPAIRMENT ~ #8 &R fE
At 1 January 2018 R-—Z-\F—A—H 7,855 — 20,131 27,986
Eliminated on disposal of subsidiaries R EHB D B R
(Notes 43(d) and 43(f)) (FiE43(d) K 43() (7,855) = (20,131) (27,986)
At 31 December 2018 and RZE-N\F+-A=+—-HEK
31 December 2019 “T-hEF+ZA=1+—H - - - -
CARRYING VALUES REE
At 31 December 2018 and RZZE-\F+-A=+—HRK
31 December 2019 —Z-NF+ZA=1-H - 4,155 - 4,155

AMZERBRRE —T—NFFR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
R BTEImRARMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE—-T—hF+—-A=+—HILFE

19. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

The trading rights and licenses represents the eligibility rights
to trade on or through the Stock Exchange and The Hong
Kong Futures Exchange Limited and insurance brokerage
license and have no foreseeable limit to the period over which
the Group can use to generate cash flows. In addition, the
vehicle licence plates were issued by the relevant authorities
in the PRC and Hong Kong with no expiration dates.

As a result, the trading rights and licenses and vehicle licence
plates are considered by the management of the Group
as having indefinite useful lives. These trading rights and
licenses and vehicle licence plates will not be amortised until
their useful lives are determined to be finite and they are
carried at cost less any subsequent impairment losses, if any.
Instead, they will be tested for impairment annually, or more
frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that
they might be impaired.

Trading rights and licenses have been partially impaired and
disposed of in prior year and the management of the Group
determined that there was no impairment of vehicle licence
plates as their market value exceeds their carrying amount as
at the end of the reporting periods.

Customers’ relationship arising from the acquisition of Hui
Kai Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries (“Hui Kai Holdings")
in 2016 were initially recognised at fair value and amortised
on a straight line basis over the estimated useful lives of 15
years and any identified impairment losses and the customers’
relationship has been fully impaired and disposed of in prior
year.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A PR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE-FT—hF+-A=+—HILFE

The mining rights represent four of the rights to conduct
mining activities in the location of Ulaan Uul, Nogoonnuur
Soum of Bayan-Ulgii Aimag (“Ulaan Uul”), Tsunkheg,
Nogoonnuur Soum of Bayan-Ulgii Aimag (“Tsunkheg”) and
Khovd Gol, Tsengel Soum of Bayan-Ulgii Aimag (“Khovd
Gol”) in Mongolia. The mining right in Tsunkheg and the two
mining rights in Ulaan Uul have remaining legal lives of 12 to
16 years, expiring in July 2031, March 2033 and December
2035, respectively. The mining right in Khovd Gol has a
remaining legal life of 17 years, expiring in July 2036.

The mining licenses are issued by Mineral Resources and
Petroleum Authority of Mongolia (the “Mongolia Mineral
Authority”) and may be extended for two successive
additional periods of 20 years each. The Directors are of the
opinion that the application for extension is procedural and
the Group should be able to renew its mining licenses at
minimal charges, until all the proven and probable minerals
have been mined. No active mining operation of the Group
has taken place yet during the year ended 31 December
2019.

20. MINING RIGHTS 20. ZRIERE
HK$'000
FHET
COST R
At 1 January 2018, 31 December 2018 and RZZE-N\F—-H—QH"
31 December 2019 —E-N\F+ZA=t+—HK
—hEF+=-A=+—H 1,003,034
IMPAIRMENT AE
At 1 January 2018 RZZE—-N\F—HA—H 548,493
Impairment losses recognised (Note 21) ERERREEE (FzT21) 109,704
At 31 December 2018 R_E-—N\F+=—A=+—H 658,197
Impairment losses recognised (Note 21) BRERREEE (HiE21) 170,821
At 31 December 2019 RZE-—NF+=ZA=+—H 829,018
CARRYING VALUES REE
At 31 December 2019 R-E-—NAF+=—A=+—H 174,016
At 31 December 2018 RZZE—-—N\F+ZA=+—H 344,837

REEEITREHEERIEREXRBT
SHEN((EHMEN]) REFK([EFE]
rEEEBIEZLERHMRMET (A%
A ETRBES ZUEEN REFRZ
FEE RN B8 BN 2 B R A E
FHAENREIF  DHIR=ZZE=—FtAH "
—E==F=-ARZE=RF+ZAEmM-
mﬂﬁyJZE@aéﬂ%iEE%ﬁ1ﬂf'
RZZE=X"FLtAER-

BERKRBYERABEERRAOMER
BIRHEBR]) HL - TEEEHHRR
FBR20F5 -EFZRR PHEHEATK
HEREF  WASERAEDEEMRAR
MEFEAKE  BEEFBERPA LM 2
BEERRRL REE-ZT-AF+_H
=+ HALFER  AEHERARETERER

AFZERARDT — T NLFFR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
R BTEImRARMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z —FE—hFE+=-A=+—BItFE

20. MINING RIGHTS (continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group
received several notices from the Mongolia Mineral Authority
and requested the Group to prepare updated resource
estimation technical reports and feasibility study reports on
the mining rights in Ulaan Uul, Tsunkheg and Khovd Gol. The
Group commenced the discussion with the Mongolia Mineral
Authority regarding the feasibility of conducting mining
activities on these mining rights. The Group consulted with
legal adviser on the legal implications of notices and with
reference to the legal advice, the mining licenses of these
mining rights owned by the Group are still in effect as at 31
December 2019 and 2018. Started from 2018, the Group is
in the progress of preparing an updated resource estimation
technical reports and feasibility study reports on these mining
rights in different phases in accordance with the Mongolia
Code for the Public Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral
Resources and Mineral Reserves in order to fulfil the requests
from Mongolia Mineral Authority.

Mining rights are included in the mining and exploitation
of natural resources segment which is a CGU, representing
the Group’s subsidiaries — Kainarwolfram LLC and Ikh Uuliin
Erdenes LLC that holds mining rights for the purpose of
impairment testing. Particulars regarding impairment testing
on mining rights are disclosed in Note 21.
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A PR
For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z = F—hFE+-A=+—BIFE

21. IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON MINING 21. FREE 2R E AR

RIGHTS

No active mining operation of the Group has taken place
during the year ended 31 December 2019 and the Directors
conducted an impairment assessment of the Mining CGU.
For the purposes of impairment testing, the mining rights
set out in Note 20 have been allocated to the Mining CGU
represented by mining and exploitation of natural resources
segment.

The recoverable amount is the higher of FVLCD and VIU. The
recoverable amounts of mining and exploitation of natural
resources segment were determined based on VIU calculation
and certain key assumptions. For the purpose of impairment
testing, the VIU calculations used cash flow projection based
on financial budgets approved by the management of the
Group covering a period of four to nineteen years (2018:
four to nineteen years). The post-tax discount rates used for
the VIU calculations is 20.64% (2018: 22.01%). Other key
assumptions in estimating the discounted future pre-tax cash
flows are included tungsten metal estimated selling price with
0.30% (2018: 0.63%) growth rate, estimated future costs
of production, estimated future operating costs, recoverable
reserves, resources and exploration potential, discount rates
and exchange rates.

In November 2018 and August 2019, the Group engaged
independent qualified mineral technical advisers to
prepare an updated resource estimation technical report
("Updated Resource Estimation Technical Report”) under
the Australasian Code for Reporting of Exploration Results,
Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves and they have conducted
the first phase and second phase of exploitation work
regarding the recoverable reserves, resources and exploration
potential for the mining rights in Ulaan Uul, Tsunkheg and
Khovd Gol during the years ended 31 December 2019 and
2018.

RBE-Z-NF+-A=+—BLLFER -
REE N KETERRBES  FECYR
TR 7 A B fE MR AT A - BB R
& + 20 80 2 SRR £, 15 il 5 F 5%
BEHERALERS BREZ RBALEL
Efir -

A ElEE AN SER SR ANEFEHAEERE
MEZREE REMMMRRAERS B2
AkEeENIREABEFERE TR
BRETE -SREARANE  FERAEBELRIE
AEEEEEMAEZNETAFE (ZE—N
FNE+NAF) BEZUEBEEERESR
EAE HEFRAEERARB ZEE
520.64% (ZF— )\F :22.01%) ° {H&F8h
WARBABEREZ2 LMBRBREEMS
S ERAE030% (ZE—N\F:063%) 2
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R BTEImRARMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z —FE—hFE+=-A=+—BItFE

21. IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON MINING

RIGHTS (cContinued)

Based on the Updated Resource Estimation Technical
Report issued by the qualified mineral technical adviser with
reference to their first and second phase of exploitation
work conducted, the tungsten grades of the mining rights
in Ulaan Uul, Tsunkheg and Khovd Gol are considerately
lower than the tungsten grades indicated in the resource
estimation technical report prepared in 2008 (“Previous
Resource Estimation Technical Report”), while the volume
of the exploration potential of the mining rights in Ulaan
Uul, Tsunkheg and Khovd Gol is higher than the volume
indicated in the Previous Resource Estimation Technical
Report. Considering the increment in the estimated volume
of recoverable reserves, resources and exploration potential
of the mining rights in the Updated Resource Estimation
Technical Report, the management of the Group expected
that longer period of lives of the mine for the overall
exploitation work and revised the financial budgets covering
a period of four to nineteen years (2018: four to nineteen
years) for cash flow projection.

Based on the above findings from the Updated Resource
Estimation Technical Report, the Group engaged a PRC
professional firm to update the feasibility study report and
also engaged Jones Lang LaSalle Corporate Appraisal and
Advisory Limited (“JLL"), independent qualified professional
valuer, to perform the valuation of mining rights at 31
December 2019 and 2018 based on the Updated Resource
Estimation Technical Report and the latest feasibility study
report. With reference to the valuation of mining rights
performed by JLL and the information available to the
Group up to the report date, the Directors were in the view
that impairment losses of the mining rights amounting to
approximately HK$170,821,000 (2018: HK$109,704,000)
for the year ended 31 December 2019 need to be recognised
for the Mining CGU in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income as the recoverable
amount of the Mining CGU was lower than (2018: lower
than) its carrying amount.

Tai United Holdings Limited Annual Report 2019

21. FRIERE 2B ER A @)

RIESERBESIMERZZ REMETH
ERBEEE_EEARIEMBELZHER
RERMRE  SHSH BEFEERMMZ
ARBEENSSERBER_FSZENFRY
ZEBREFRMHRE (LR ERGERME
SDARNBER MRESREH  BEFR
ERmE A2 REREZHRBEFESNE
AERMGABRMBEATHORE - £EEK
HERGEERMRE BN G T REHE -
BREMFEEIENE AEEEEERY
BESEEARIZEEBHERRETRERS
MBEARMODE+AF (ZT-N\F :OE
ThE) BRnBEE -

ER Bl R B ERGERIMSRE 2 4
AEBERE P BEEERBAEIHATITH
RME  NEEBIAERSEGEMME
BT EFEREABRAR ([hEHT]
ERNEHERGEHITRE REH A /TIHEH
RHREHN_ZE—NFRERT—N\F+=A
—t—HAZEBEEELGHE K2 EHEH
THRBREELINGHAEAREAESEEELAR
LEHHBAB ARG EERA BHEZZT
—hWEF+-_AZ+BLEEERFEERS
EEEMRRABRREMEEKER NE
RRIETE 2 BEE B 47170,821,000%8 T (=
T — J\4F : 109,704,000 7T) * REHRE
BeELBEMzARBESBER (ZE—N
FER)EEFEEE-



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A PR
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21. IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON MINING 21. IREE 2 RE R #®)

RIGHTS (cContinued)

The Directors believe that the estimates and assumptions
incorporated in the impairment assessment are reasonable;
however, the estimates and assumptions are subject to
significant uncertainties and judgements. Furthermore,
the Directors have planned to carry out the third phase of
exploitation work for the mining right in Tsunkheg in 2020
and the recoverable reserves, resources and exploration
potential for the mining rights in Tsunkheg may differ from

EERA BEMEMENGETRBRRES
B AW RERBRAXEATHBPEE
RAVETFIARR - o EFCAHER_F =
TFEETEARRERE=-EERARIER
ERBEREENTELOES  ERESRERE
RE AT B2 B 5t A ff AT 30 8 BUR ST AR = B
BRRIEREREReELEMT KOS
BIEHEBEERE -

previous estimates and causing potential adjustments to the
recoverable amount of the Mining CGU upon completion of
the third phase of exploitation work.

WEWSH - B 7 & REH ST R A
FEELMEIEBRGEINED XS
SRR 6 B AL 0 — SR ES
B8R MTHT -

If there are adverse changes in the key assumptions
incorporated in the impairment assessment for the mining
rights in Ulaan Uul, Tsunkheg and Khovd Gol, it would lead
to the recognition of further impairment loss against the
Mining CGU as follows:

2019 2018

HK$’'000 HK$'000

—E-hF —E-NE

FHExT FET

5% relative increase in post-tax discount rate %1% Bt IR A2 ¥ 12 1 5% (17,734) (26,672)

5% decrease in tungsten price ISERR 5% (31,010) (40,035)
5% decrease in volume of recoverable AHFE BREBIE

reserves, resources and exploration B BER A 5%
potential (2,324) (8,776)
5% relative decrease in tungsten grades ISERME L 5% (31,010) (40,035)
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R BTEImRARMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z —FE—hFE+=-A=+—BItFE

22. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 2. BAREBEFABRZERMEE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
2019 2018
HK$’'000 HK$'000
—E-hHF —E—N\F
FHExT FET
Distressed debt assets (Note (a)) TREBEE (MiE@) - 10,247
Unlisted equity securities (Note (b)) IE E T AEE & (M &£ (b)) 571 584
Equity securities listed in Hong Kong REB EMRAES 10,112 -
10,683 10,831
Analysed of reporting purposes as: B2 E BT ERI AT -
Non-current assets JERENE EE 571 584
Current assets MENEE 10,112 10,247
10,683 10,831
Notes: B
a)  The Group acquired distressed debt assets through public a) AEEEFREBARBZWENAER®

tenders in the PRC with collaterals, including plant and
machinery, residential, industrial and commercial buildings and
land use rights located in the PRC. Such distressed debt assets
are accounted for as financial assets at FVTPL. The changes in
fair value of the distressed debt assets comprised realised gains
from disposal of distressed debt assets and their unrealised fair
value changes. Any interest income arising from such assets are
also included in the changes in their fair values.

b)  The amounts represent investments in unlisted equity securities b)
issued by a private entity established in the PRC.

(BREURTFENBE RS EE TXER
BEEFTRLHERBRNIREBEE -F
BTIREBEEAR/SBRAAEFARREZ
EREE - TREFEEAAEEHBEL
ETREBEENCER B m LERERR
AREEY - FABZEFEEELNF KA
et AHR AR EZH -

ZESRERPREKZIZ —BLEEEBRE
BT ZFEMBRABLZNERE -

Details of the valuation techniques and key inputs adopted ERnBEEMEB2HERMEFTERH A
for their fair value measurements are disclosed in Note 41(c). B BRI 41QRE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z = F—hFE+-A=+—BIFE

23. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 23. FHEEE

Leased
properties
HEYE
HK$'000
FHET
As at 1 January 2019 R=ZF—NF—HA—H
Carrying amount FREE 19,014
As at 31 December 2019 R-ZE-NE+=A=+—H
Carrying amount BREE 3,005
For the year ended 31 December 2019 BE-Z-—-hE+=-A=+—H
LFE
Depreciation charge nEEA 6,418
Expense relating to short-term leases and other leases with ARG A E R E KK E & IXEA
lease terms end within 12 months of the date of initial ERMBWMEERE169E B 1218
application of HKFRS 16 AREmzHMEE 2 RX 3,078
Total cash outflow for leases MEReRLAEHE 9,698
Additions to right-of-use assets RETREEE 1,511

For both years, the Group leases offices premises and car
parks for its operation. Lease contracts are entered into for
fixed term of 1 year to 5 years with fixed payment. The Group
does not have the option to purchase the leased properties
for a nominal amount at the end of the relevant lease terms
or any extension/termination options which are solely at the
Group’s discretion. The Group’s obligations are secured by the
rental deposits for such leases. Lease terms are negotiated
on an individual basis and contain a wide range of different
terms and conditions. The Group determines the lease period
to be the non-cancellable period based on the contractual
terms of the contract.

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for car
parks. As at 31 December 2019, the portfolio of short-term
leases is similar to the portfolio of short term leases to which
the short-term lease expense disclosed above.

RMBEFER AEERELEEHEHERQLE
MEREES BERHNREEHEANF
15 E5FWABFENRFL - AEBERER
HEREGRRRERALRECRBEHREY
¥ SERAEESTAENEMES, K
WHEEE AEEZEEAZEEEZHE
SREFEER - BEGRIVIZE R EERER
¥ BEEBTRGR RGN - ARERES
P BT EHERE R TR REEHMA -

AEBEMTLFEESEHEE - R _-F
—NFETZA=1+—H EHHEEKREES
f AR FE R R I E RS T E A R B
EREHEHSEL -
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z —FE—hFE+=-A=+—BItFE

23. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued) 23. EAEEE @)
Restrictions or covenants on leases EREENRFIHEE
In addition, lease liabilities of HK$3,081,000 are recognised o R=ZE—-—NFE+=-A=+—H0 AF
with related right-of-use assets of HK$3,005,000 as at 31 %8 3,005,000 7 7T K {50 FA 4 & EE 7R 3,081,000
December 2019. The lease agreements do not impose any BTHHEEE BRREHEARAEZHESR
covenants other than the security interests in the leased EANZBHEm2HN &L H & 150
assets that are held by the lessor. Leased assets may not be FRe% - HEEENMSAEEE 2EMm -
used as security for borrowing purposes.
Details of the lease maturity analysis of lease liabilities are set EEZEHEAREZHERHA S TFIBESH
out in Notes 36 and 41(b). M EE36 K 41(b) °
24. INVENTORIES 2. 7E
Inventories represent goods held for resale. GEEFFEEZER -
25. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE 25. FEWIR X
2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000
—E-hF —T-N\F
FERT FHBT
Accounts receivable arising from the sales of ~ §H% B /& :& i = 4 A0 IR BR X
medical equipment 4,401 7,147
Less: Allowance for credit losses W EEEBRE (157) (183)
Total st 4,244 6,964

As at 1 January 2018, accounts receivables from contracts
with customers amounted to HK$133,730,000. The Group
allows a credit period of 30 to 120 days (2018: 30 to 120
days) to its customers depending on the type of products
sold.

The following is an aged analysis of accounts receivable,
net of allowance for credit losses, presented based on the
invoice dates which approximated to the respective revenue
recognition dates:
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z = F—hFE+-A=+—BIFE

25. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE (continued)

26.

25. EWEBRFX (&)

2019 2018

HK$'000 HK$'000

—B-NF —E-N\F

FHET THET

Within 30 days 30 1,168 2,407
31 -90 days 31£290H = 1,497
91 - 120 days 91%120H 102 34
Over 120 days 120 H LA E 2,974 3,026
4,244 6,964

As at 31 December 2019, included in the Group’s accounts
receivable are debtors with aggregate carrying amount of
approximately HK$3,698,000 (2018: HK$3,778,000) which
are past due as at the reporting date. Out of the past due
balances, HK$2,478,000 (2018: HK$2,532,000) has been
past due 90 days or more and is not considered as in default
by considering the background of the accounts receivables
and historical settlement arrangement of these accounts
receivable. The Group does not hold any collateral over the
balances.

Details of impairment assessment of accounts receivable are
set out in Note 41(b).

OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND
PREPAYMENTS

26.

R-ZE—AE+_A=+—B ~&E=EHNE
WEERBRERRE A HEafiNaREmEY
3,698,000 7T (=& — )\ : 3,778,000 7T)
R EUER RN - R E @ BAAE 82 - 2,478,00078
T (ZZF— )\ : 2,532,000 7T) E # 8190
Hek A k- ERERERERESRZSE
WERNELEEZH  WARRABELN - &K
BB AT AR -

JE M BR SR 2 R (B R A R IB B BT R 41(b) ©

HMBWHIE - e RAN

IE

2019 2018
HK$°000 HK$'000
—E-hE - N\F
FER FHET
Disposal receivable of Hangzhou Tai Rong, — tH & A1) A 8 e Wz 0B

net of allowance for credit losses (MR EEEERE)

(Note 43(a)) (P 7E43(a)) 1,057,910 -
Rental and other deposits HekHtize 1,058 8,655
Other receivables, net of allowance for credit £ & U FXIE (FEREE BB

losses, and prepayments BB R RIE 2,791 4,503

1,061,759 13,158

Details of impairment assessment of other receivables are set
out in Note 41(b).

B B E b e W R IR 2 R (B AT il S B BB A
B3 41(b) ©
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE—-T—hF+—-A=+—HILFE

27. LOAN NOTE RECEIVABLE 27. BIRERERE
HK$'000
FHT
At 1 January 2018 R-_ZE—\E—HF—H 1,472,118
Adjustments on ECL (see Note 3) TBEEEEIEAE (RHEE3) (10,010)
At the beginning of the year (restated) REH) (E5) 1,462,108
Amortisation of arrangement fee income and ZHEBERRARZHRER
advisory fee income Nz 5 55,231
Subscription of loan note receivable RIBEKRERER 23,509
Repayment of loan note receivable EERKERER (1,590,781)
Impairment losses reversed B OUREE R 10,010
Unamortised arrangement fee income and advisory fee BB EHMBENFIAZ REHEE
income reclassified to other payables HERRARBAERKA 35,192
Exchange realignment M H 58 & 4,731
At 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2019 RZE-—NF+ZA=+—HRK
—B-hE+ZA=+—H -
In December 2016, the Group entered into a subscription R-_Z—"F+=F K&HBEHHaitong
agreement with Haitong Global Investment SPC Il (“Haitong Global Investment SPC Il ([ Haitong Global ])
Global”) pursuant to which the Group agreed to subscribe for SR EE B AEERS UL
50,000 Class R participating shares at a total consideration {8 50,000,000k ([EZxl]) (BERD
of United States Dollars (“US$") 50,000,000 (equivalent 387,700,000 % Jt) 7 # Haitong Dynamic
to approximately HK$387,700,000) of Haitong Dynamic MultiTranche Investment Fund IV S.P. ([ Haitong
MultiTranche Investment Fund IV S.P. (“Haitong Dynamic Dynamic Fund]) 2 50,000 fi% R 8 £ B2 & 17 o
Fund”).
There are two classes of non-voting shares in the capital of the Haitong Dynamic Fund & f% 75 /B 5 Y 8 8 1%
Haitong Dynamic Fund, namely Class P participating shares EREAR(D - BIPABELR BN {) R R EAR D -
and Class R participating shares and the shareholder of Class MPELERMHMIRR A ENE R ERM
P participating shares is a company controlled by Haitong ENBYE = SBBEBEEFEEERA
International Securities Group Limited, an independent third FIEHA—BAT  PHEHLERBEMNHAE A
party not connected with the Group. The principal of the 150,000,000 7T (}BZ 7249 1,163,100,000 7
Class P participating shares is US$150,000,000 (equivalent to JC) * M Haitong Global E Z T /8B EEE E
approximately HK$1,163,100,000) and Haitong Global has (&%) B8R 2 7 & HHaitong Dynamic Fund
appointed Hai Tong Asset Management (HK) Limited as its MIREEIEA

investment manager of Haitong Dynamic Fund.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE-FT—hF+-A=+—HILFE

27. LOAN NOTE RECEIVABLE (Continued) 27. EWEREE @)
In December 2016, Haitong Dynamic Fund had entered MZZE—/"F+=A ' Haitong Dynamic Fund
into a subscription agreement with an independent third B—ZETE =7 ([MERAD L RE

party (the “Borrower”) pursuant to which the Borrower
agreed to subscribe for loan note with a principal
amount of US$200,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$1,550,800,000) at a fixed interest rate of 8% per annum
with a maturity period of 2 years ended on 19 December
2018. Arrangement fee and advisory fee are charged on
principal amount at 6% upon issuance of the loan note and
the thirteenth month from the loan note issue date.

In August 2018, Haitong Dynamic Fund had entered into
another subscription agreement with an independent
third party pursuant to which the independent third party
agreed to subscribe for loan note with a principal amount of
US$3,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$23,509,000)
at a fixed interest rate of 2.88% per annum with a maturity
period of 4 months ended on 3 December 2018.

Effective interest income on loan note receivable

Bt - B AR ERE A £ %% 200,000,000
=t (%49 1,550,800,000 1) ERE
B BETEFEMNERAE8%  PMERH  BIR -
E-NF+ZA+hBEL ZHEBEKE
FEJ%/E SRIEERERETRERAEREZR

THERFNE+=ERAEAESE6% X -

R =Z— \%F )\ A * Haitong Dynamic Fund &
BEVE=ALES—ORERRE - Rt
BILE =75 R B E E % 2.88% RE AR
< 83,000,000 2 7T (#H % 1 #7 23,509,000 7%
T ZERER  ERHRA-TE-—N\F+=
A=R1EM@EA -

EWERTEE 2 BEFBUA 130,579,000 7%

amounting to HK$130,579,000, including amortisation of T(BELHERRARBARAEE SR
arrangement fee income and advisory income amounting to 55,231,000 7)) EREBE-ZT—N\F+=A
HK$55,231,000, have been recognised in profit or loss during =t HIEFERZERFER -

the year ended 31 December 2018.

In June 2018 and July 2018, the Borrower has early redeemed
a portion of loan note from the Haitong Dynamic Fund of
approximately HK$633,178,000 and HK$611,236,000,
respectively. The remaining loan note of approximately
HK$322,858,000 has also been redeemed in December
2018. In the view of early redemption of loan note by
the Borrower, the Group reclassified the unamortised
arrangement fee income and advisory fee income amounting
to HK$35,192,000 as other payables to the Borrower. During
the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group reached
an agreement with the Borrower that the unamortised
arrangement fee income and advisory fee amounting to
HK$23,551,000 has been recognised as other income and
the remaining balance amounting to HK$11,641,000 has
repaid to the Borrower.

RIE—NERNARZE—N\FLA EXR
A E B Haitong Dynamic Fund 2 A & 2 & 5
& E 1 49633,178,00078 7T K 611,236,000
BT MeR T E R E I %322,858,000/% 7T
NRZZE—NF+_AER - EREEAR
FPEENEXREE AEEBREHTHER
U A K 5788 B U A 35,192,000 % T E T 5
HEARNERAZEMREBE BEZZ—H
F+ZA=Z+—HIEFE AEBHEERA
ERE REHENTHBRARERS
23 551,000 7T B #E 3R 4 E A YT A ﬁﬁé&\Jﬁfﬁ
KE#211,641,0007 8 TEEETFHERA

AFZERARDT — T NLFFR
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z —FE—hFE+=-A=+—BItFE

28. STRUCTURED DEPOSITS/BANK
BALANCES AND CASH

Structured deposits

The structured deposits as at 31 December 2018 consisted
of deposits denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”) amounting
to approximately HK$200,143,000 issued by banks in the
PRC. The structured deposits carried expected interest rates
ranging from 3.2% to 4.1% per annum, depending on the
market prices of the financial instruments, including money
market instruments and debt instruments.

The Group recognised the structured deposits at fair value as
they contain non-closely related embedded derivative. The
Directors consider the fair value of the structured deposits
based on the prices that counterparty banks would pay to
redeem at the end of reporting periods and the carrying
amount of structured deposits recorded at amortised cost in
the consolidated financial statements approximate their fair
values. These structured deposits have been fully redeemed
subsequent to the end of the reporting period and the
changes in fair value up to the date of redemption is not
significant. Details of the valuation techniques and key inputs
adopted for their fair value measurements are disclosed in
Note 41(c).

Bank balances

The bank balances, including time deposits with original
maturities less than 3 months, carry interest at prevailing
market rates per annum.

For the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018, the Group
performed impairment assessment on bank balances and
concluded that the probability of defaults of the counterparty
banks are insignificant and accordingly, no allowance for
credit losses is provided.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A PR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z = F—hFE+-A=+—BIFE

29. ASSETS AND LIABILITIES CLASSIFIED AS 29. 2 AR EHECEERER

HELD-FOR-SALE

On 31 August 2018, the Group had entered into a sale
and purchase agreement with an independent third
party (the “Purchaser”) to dispose of its entire equity
interest of Hangzhou Tai Rong at a cash consideration of
RMB1,550,000,000 and the principal asset of Hangzhou Tai
Rong is the hotel facility located at No. 555 Fenggi Road,
Hangzhou City, Zhejiang Province, the PRC. Accordingly, the
below assets and liabilities of Hangzhou Tai Rong constitute
as a disposal group of the Group are expected to be disposed
within twelve months which were classified as held-for-sale
and presented separately in the consolidated statement of
financial position. No change in fair value was recognised
in profit or loss on the date of reclassification. The Group
received disposal deposits amounting to RMB155,000,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$176,483,000) as disclosed in
Note 31, equivalent to 10% of the total cash consideration.

The major classes of assets and liabilities classified as held-for-

R-ZE—NENA=Z+—HB ARQRIE—F
BUE=F([BEFNITLEEHZ  URE
KB AR 1,550,000,000 7T H & H R A
LR MMARNEBEERS KM
AR BT T 48 N T B R B 555 55 898 5 5%
Mo Bt MM ARZEER A E (HEK
AEEZHERS) BHER T _EAREE
WHRIZFAERRGE M BRREAR - AR
B EREFTHBAPRIEZAERES -
A3 TR ASRBRIEEES A
R ¥ 155,000,000 7T (4855 7 49 176,483,000

B FRNEREREZ10% -
R-B-NF+-_A=+T—BBERFIEL

SEERABHISERMT -

sale as at 31 December 2018 were as follows: &
HK$'000
(Note i)
FHET
D)
Investment properties (Notes (i) and (iii) & W (K REG) R (i) 1,594,040
Accounts receivable arising from property rental income, YIS & WA E £ R FE IR FX
net of allowance for credit losses (Note (iv)) (MR EEEEEE) (FEdv) 68,558
Other receivables, deposits and prepayments HEWsKIE - ke RFERFKIE
(Note (iv)) (MFEE (v) 58,006
Structured deposits (Notes (i) and (iii) SR 3R (B R i) K (i) 19,812
Bank balances and cash (Note (iv)) SRITEH RIS (BTEE(v) 50
Total assets classified as held-for-sale PEABELHECZHREE 1,740,466
Accrued liabilities and other payables JEFtBE R HE M ENFIE 9,441
Tax payables FE A 18 1,342
Deferred tax liabilities IRIEFIE B (& 94,810
Total liabilities classified as held-for-sale PEABELECZEBHAE 105,593
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
R BTEImRARMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z —FE—hFE+=-A=+—BItFE

29. ASSETS AND LIABILITIES CLASSIFIED AS 29. 2 AR EHECEERERE

HELD-FOR-SALE (Continued)

On 25 August 2019, the Group, the Purchaser and Hangzhou
Tai Rong entered into the supplemental agreement,
pursuant to which the parties have mutually agreed on the
amendments. The principal terms of the amendments are as
follows i) the consideration settlement arrangements for the

(&)

RZZB-NFNAZ+THB A&EE -EH
RN AKRETSL @ s - UL - & 25
ERIERAR - ZFBATNETRHERIET
NE—ENR F_EMH HTREHK
BEREZHEARBTITRENMNE (FHEER

first payment, second payment, remaining consideration and D i E M TR /T EE IR A2 B N
interest on the remaining consideration (“New Settlement ABREZETFE i LD IR

Arrangements”); ii) complete the procedures in relation to the
registration of the transfer of Hangzhou Tai Rong with the
local administration for industry and commerce bureau; iii)
enter into a share pledge agreement pursuant to which the
sale shares shall be pledged by the Purchaser to the Group to
secure the payment of the remaining consideration; and iv)
Hangzhou Tai Rong not to distribute or otherwise dispose of
the rental receivable of the hotel facility for the period since 1
January 2019. The Group transferred all of its equity interests
in Hangzhou Tai Rong to the Purchaser on 31 October 2019.

Details are set out in the Company’s announcement dated
25 August 2019 and details of the disposal transaction are
disclosed in Note 43(a).

Notes:

(i) Investment properties classified as held-for-sale

B BAREHERNDERTAKE - U
XNBTHRE: RVAMNAKEE=-F—hF
—A—BHHEETEOEL AR M X
EXBERBHORERKES AEFDKR-F
—hWETA=+T—B8MMNAREZ 25
HETHES

HFEHRARGEHHEA-ZT-NLFNA
—TRAZAE  FALERSNFBERE
RHTEE43 @) o

GEE
()  HERHIEHEZRANE

HK$'000
FAET
FAIR VALUE AV ]
At 1 January 2018 RZZE-—NF—H—H 680,000
Disposals k=S (738,000)
Changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss REETERZANBEEE 58,000
Reclassified from investment properties as held-for-sale ENSOBEARELEZREME
(Note 18) (MH3E18) 1,660,976
Exchange realignment IEE B (66,936)
At 31 December 2018 —E-N\F+ZA=+—H 1,594,040
Additions NE 17,412
Disposals (Note 43(a)) HE (M FE43() (1,560,160)
Changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss RERTERZAREEH (17,412)
Exchange realignment [ 5 5 B (33,880)
At 31 December 2019 WZE-AF+-_A=+—H -
2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000
—E-hF —E-N\F
FET FHET
Unrealised (losses) gains on investment FABRzOBEABERETN H
properties classified as held-for-sale WEYERER (FB) ks
revaluation included in profit or loss (17,412) 58,000

Tai United Holdings Limited Annual Report 2019




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A PR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z = F—hFE+-A=+—BIFE

29. ASSETS AND LIABILITIES CLASSIFIED AS
HELD-FOR-SALE (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(0]

(ii)

Investment properties classified as held-for-sale (Continued)

The fair values of the investment properties at the date of
classified as held-for-sale, 31 December 2018 and the date
of disposal on 31 October 2019 have been arrived at on the
basis of valuations carried out by Messrs APAC Appraisal and
Consulting Limited, an independent qualified professional
valuer not connected with the Group.

In determining the fair values of the investment properties
at respective dates, the Group engages the independent
qualified professional valuer to perform the valuation. The
management of the Group works closely with them to establish
the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs to the model
and explain the cause of fluctuations in the fair values of the
investment properties to the board of directors.

There has been no change from the valuation technique used
among the respective dates. In estimating the fair values of the
investment properties classified as held-for-sale for disclosure
purpose, the highest and the best use of the investment
properties is their current use.

Structured deposits classified as held-for-sale

In determining the fair values of the structured deposits
classified as held-for-sale, the Directors consider the fair value
of the structured deposits based on the prices that counterparty
banks would pay to redeem at the end of reporting periods
and the carrying amount of structured deposits recorded at
amortised cost approximate their fair values. These structured
deposits have been fully redeemed subsequent to the end of
the reporting period and the changes in fair value up to the
date of redemption is not significant.

29. 7 ERFHRELEZEERAR

(#)
B 5

@i

(i)

C (&)

DEEREREZRAME(F)

ROBRBELEER —E—N\F+-A
=+t—BRR-_ZB-NAF+A=+—HHE
BR REWMEZARECKARAEER]
BERENBUABERBEEMEMIAEEN
HRBERARARNIT I GELEE -

REENEBEBRREMEAAER K&
BREMBLA BRI LM EERRITHME

ERMAMGEREGARBY NEEBERE
RENEAABERBHRE -

REBEESMERNGERTHREZS -
REFHERBERBRZ A EARELEZRE
MERAER REVEZESREERS
RERARE -

DERFHELE 2 EBIETFR

T B

CEBEERRBEBUETERDEREF IR
REE PR 2 BB RIZE K
BEZEBEFREEEEZE R RER
S ZREHBUTTRBRERRRBEERD
BEBORAHZAABEEHATERK -

EDBEARELREZEBUETRZAR
=+
¥

T3 Jr

o

XA o B O m R
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

#r e TS ERR M

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z —FE—hFE+=-A=+—BItFE

29. ASSETS AND LIABILITIES CLASSIFIED AS

HELD-FOR-SALE (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(i)  Determination of fair values of investment properties and

structured deposits classified as held-for-sale

The following table gives information about how the fair values
of these investment properties and structured deposits classified
as held-for-sale are determined (in particular, the valuation
techniques and inputs used) and the investment properties and
structured deposits are under Level 3 fair value hierarchy as at
31 December 2018. There were no transfers into or out of Level

3 since the date of classified as held-for-sale.

Assets classified as
held-for-sale Valuation technique

PEAFEHECEE B

(&)
BieE : (&)

N

Significant unobservable input(s)

EATTEEGAYE

TREHRSS
MERzZARERNANEE CERGEER
M AEAZE KR - \F+=4
=t HE=ZEAREBERBETRENER
ERUEERNERES B0 ERRKELE
ZBARE FZERBEEEEARED -

2. P EARFEHEZEERER

(i) DEARIEHEZRENERSBETRZ

%}
RAEHETE

REFEHEZRENERLE

Relationship of unobservable
inputs to fair value
AAEZHAREE
ARENBE

Investment properties
Hotel facility located in the
PRC HK$1,594,040,000

Income approach

BEMEMRFE 2 BIE WAE
%16 1,594,040,000 7 7T

Structured deposits Discounted cash flow

HK$19,812,000

Term yield of 1.0% — 4.5% and reversionary

yield of 1.5% —5.0%, taking into

account the gross monthly rental income

derived from the existing tenancies of
RMB6,600,000, contractual terms and
conditions

FEHRER1.0% E4.5% REEKFER
1.5% £5.0% ' &t RFERBAHEOZ
# AW AANR 6,600,000« B4

R R At

Expected yields of 3.2% of money market

instruments and debt instruments
invested by banks and a discount rate

that reflects the credit risk of the banks

(Note)

A slight increase in the term yield
and reversionary yield used would
result in a significant decrease in
fair value, and vice versa.

PR F s X R R H K
KR MK EH R BRI

A significant increase in bank
interest rates used would result
in a significant increase in fair
value, and vice versa.

A significant increase in discount
rate used would result in a
significant decrease in fair value,
and vice versa.

EBMEF19,812,0008T BB ER FEHRERARTRENEETISITAM MERMNETHEREEMEE
BETAN32%  URRBRTEE RARBERBEM - RZIA °

R 9 B3R 2 (P 5) i AR IR RO KIRIE M58
BARERNKIE TE - R2ZIMA -
Note: The Directors consider that the impact of the fluctuation Wit ARZRELEBUETRIHARE &)

in expected yields of the money market instruments
and debt instruments and discount rate to the fair value
of the structured deposits classified as held-for-sale
was insignificant as the structured deposits have short
maturities, and therefore no reconciliation of level 3 fair

value measurements of structured deposits is presented.

(iv)  Details of impairment assessment of accounts receivable arising (iv)
from property rental income classified as held-for-sale for the
year ended 31 December 2018 are set out in Note 41(b). The
Group performed impairment assessment on other receivables
and bank balances classified as held-for-sale as of 31 December
2018 and concluded that the probability of default of the
counterparties is insignificant and accordingly, no allowance for

credit losses is provided.

Tai United Holdings Limited Annual Report 2019

E=ERREBTSEIARBEHILAR
BT s A K B3R oK 1 I BY 31 51 R S
EHENEBUEFRAABENTEY
TEXR - REILE 25 S B ETF X
E-—EHRANEFEZYE-

HE-_Z-N\F+-A=+—BILFEIHE
HENMER S BAEENEURRFRARE
AHEFEBHRHEAb - AEER TN
FHoA=T - RYEMEYRFTERSEAR
FEHE 2 RITARETREN L LR
FIEOMREMEEN - Mt WERE
ERELEE -

E3)
=



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A PR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z = F—hFE+-A=+—BIFE

30. ACCOUNTS PAYABLES 30. B ERRK
2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000
—E-NF —E-N\F
FET FHET
Accounts payable arising from the purchase B BERFEEAEMEMNER
of medical equipment - 737
The average credit period on purchases of medical equipment EEBERENTHEERR30KX(20184F :
is 30 days (2018: 30 days). The following is an aged analysis 30K) c AT ABENERERBEHR
of accounts payable presented based on the invoices at the Z20 2R DT -
end of the reporting period:
2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000
—E-hEF ZE—N\F
FET FHET
Within 30 days 30HA - 640
31 -90 days 31&90H - 97
- 737
31. ACCRUED LIABILITIES AND OTHER 31. Bt A B R H BN KA
PAYABLES
2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$'000
—E-hF T N\F
FERT FHET
Accrued expenses FERTRE 1,880 5,578
Interest payable PRI 1,568 1,155
Other tax payable H e IR 1,490 1,280
Payable for unamortised arrangement fee FERREETHERRAR
income and advisory fee income (Note 27) &z & AU A (Fi5E27) - 36,246
Other payables Hoh e 5RE 1,502 7,018
Deposits received for disposal of Hangzhou Bt &4 A &
Tai Rong (Note 29) B € (I 5E29) - 176,483
6,440 227,760

AHMERBRDT —T—NFFR 175
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
R BTEImRARMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z —FE—hFE+=-A=+—BItFE

32.

33.

BORROWINGS 32. &
2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000
—E-NF —E-N\F
FET FHBT
Secured variable-rate bank borrowings BEMZERITEE 281,471 426,626

As at 31 December 2019, the secured variable-rate bank
borrowings of approximately HK$281,471,000 (2018:
HK$426,626,000) carried interest at the London Interbank
Offered Rates (“LIBOR") plus a margin of 2.75% (2018:
2.75%) per annum, which the effective interest rate is 3.56%
(2018: 3.52%) per annum.

The secured borrowings contains a repayment on demand
clause (shown under current liabilities) but contractually
repayable within one year based on scheduled repayment
dates set out in the loan agreement.

Details of charges over the borrowings are disclosed in Note
44.

OTHER LOAN

In December 2018, the Group had agreed with a third party
to change the terms of the loan with carrying amount of
HK$123,585,000 as unsecured, non-interest bearing and
repayable on demand. The Directors considered that the
above modification of the terms of the other loan does not
constitute as substantial modification of financial liabilities
under HKFRS 9 and does not result in derecognition and
no adjustment to the carrying amount of the other loan is
recognised in profit or loss at the date of modification.

The loan is initially measured at amortised cost, based on the
present value of the estimated future cash outflow discounted
using the effective interest rate of 7% per annum and the
initial fair value adjustment on other loan is recognised as
other capital contribution reserve in prior years.

Tai United Holdings Limited Annual Report 2019

33.

R-ZE-AE+-_A=+—8B AERZA
$RITHE B 49281,471,0008 T (= F — )\ 4F :
426,626,000 7% 7T ) 1% fm BER 17 [F 3 #F B X
([BBERTRZEFRBEE]) MN2.75% (ZZF—N
F275%) 2 FEHMEFE - EBEEFNEA
3.56% (=Z— )\F : 3.52%) °

EREREERERGEREENNR(RRD
BEEATITR)  EREERBHERINZE
REH AR —FRNIZAER -

fEEZERFBERENK 44 -

Hit &=

R-ZE—N\F+_A AEBEF=ZFRE
BRERAER - LA E BRTEI(E 123,585,000
B2 B AEEE T B RIEEREE -
EERA BRESSVYBREELENFEIHR
LM EMERMGERIETE T EKET B
ERE RIS RNMER] B BT & & BEUH i
RoARTEEMERREEAERIEBZREP

=7
o ©

ZERERIRBHEKRATE  HERKAT%
ZEBRFNERBRMEFTAKRRSRERENE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A PR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z = F—hFE+-A=+—BIFE

34. OTHER LIABILITIES — INTEREST IN

CONSOLIDATED STRUCTURED ENTITY

The Group had consolidated an investment fund structured
entity — Haitong Dynamic Fund. For the investment fund
where the Group involves as investor, the Group assesses
whether the investment it held creates exposure to variability
of returns from the activities of the investment fund that is
of such significance and the guarantee given to the other
investor which indicates that the Group is a principal.

Third-party interest in consolidated structured entity consist
of interest of third-party shareholder in consolidated
structured entity which are reflected as a liability since they
can be put back to the Group for cash. The realisation of
net assets attributable to third-party shareholder’s interest
in consolidated structured entity cannot be predicted with
accuracy since these represented the interest of third-party
shareholder in consolidated investment fund that are subject
to the actions of third-party shareholder.

For the year ended 31 December 2018, profits attributable
to the third party’s interest of approximately HK$45,416,000
in consolidated structured entities is presented in other gains
and losses in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income.

In August 2018, the Haitong Dynamic Fund has fully repaid
the principal and interest income amounting to approximately
US$159,867,000 (equivalent to approximately to
HK$1,254,157,000, including profits attributable to the third
parties’ interest in consolidated structured entities amounting
to approximately HK$45,416,000), to Haitong Global, the
third-party shareholder in the consolidated structured entity.

Summarised financial information in respect of the
Group’s consolidated structured entity is set out below.
The summarised financial information below represents
amounts shown in the consolidated structure entity’s financial
statements prepared in accordance with HKFRSs.

34.

HiB8E-REeEBrER
R

AEERECDAAEBUEREESER -
Haitung Dynamic Fund « iR R & BI{ERIR &
EHRERS AEEBEFHEBEZIRER
CeRAREEASTEDER 2 AIEHEREK
FERAEMZREEELERMERNEE
REFANEFRRRARE -

AE=ZTRGEEEBEER I REBEE=
TERNGEEBEEB 2RI KBS
AEEUERS  BERRBBE -FE=7
BRNEAAEBUEEBCESRIEEES
Bz EERERERES RERHEEEAR
FZNBRRTBARBRNE=TERREE
REES 2% -

BT N\F+-_A=+—HLEFE" %
CHREAEBMEERE I REEBEENY
45,416,000 %8 T A AR & 18 2 2 H b 2 &
KzEMRERERPEY] -

B == — \%F )\ A ' Haitong Dynamic Fund
£ [AlHaitong Global (5 = F R4 & & 18 1t
ERZRR) BHESAR2EAEBAL
159,867,000 % 7T (FHZE A 49 1,254,157,000 7
T BREE= ARG RERBUEER  ERE
16555 F1 47 45,416,000 78 7T) ©

BERAARBEZGABEERZMBENS
BEHRTX - TX M BERBREERIEE
BHMBREENRBEIEABEBEER Y
BHRRAMTEE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
R BTEImRARMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z —FE—hFE+=-A=+—BItFE

34. OTHER LIABILITIES — INTEREST IN 3. HthB B -—REEeHEBHER
CONSOLIDATED STRUCTURED ENTITY 2R ()
(Continued)
31 December
2018
HK$'000
—ZE—N\F
+t=A=+—AH
FET
Current assets MBEE 36,246
Current liabilities mENEE 36,246
The above amounts of assets and liabilities FMEEREESERIENATEIE
include the following:
Cash and cash equivalents RekERBFEER 36,246
Other payable H Ath & 5 5118 36,246
2018
HK$'000
—E-N\F
FET
Revenue for the year FEWE 130,579
Profit and total comprehensive income for the year FERMEEEK=ERE 65,716
35. DEFERRED TAX 35. IEFEM IR
For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement HREEHBRARAZWMENTME - BT
of financial position, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities FEEHRBEEENBEEHEE U T ALY
have been offset. The following is the analysis of deferred tax s B R m i A IEETRIERE AT
balances for financial reporting purposes.
2019 2018
HK$’'000 HK$'000
—E-hEF —E-)N\F
FHExT FHET
Deferred tax assets REFIEEE (39) (615)
Deferred tax liabilities EEFIEAE 23,027 65,733
22,988 65,118
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iR e TS ERR M A

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & —=

35. DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

—NF+ZRA=+—HLFE

The following are the major deferred tax (assets) liabilities
recognised and movements thereon during the current and

35. IEE R IE (@)

ERMBEFEACDHER I EIRREEHRE
(BE)AEREEHFENT

prior years:
Revaluation
of financial Revaluation
assets  Revaluation of Accrued
designated  of mining  investment Tax interest  Provision of
as at FVTPL rights  properties losses income ECL Total
EffEER
BONE
HABRE Eff Eff EitfE  BEEE
LEREE REE REME  BEER WA FERE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAL TAL TEL TAL TEL TER TAL
At 1 January 2018 (restated) “E-\5-A-H
(m=3]) 5,655 93,158 122172 (2,039) 3,266 (1,620) 220,592
Disposal of a subsidlary (Note 43(c))  UEEHI B2l (M3 43(0) - - (976) - - = (976)
(Credited) charged to profitor loss (5t A) 418 B2 (FizE12)
(Note 12) (5,585) (27,425) (16,785) 2,015 (3.276) (3,229) (54,280)
Reclassified as held-for-sale ENNBABELE
(Note 29) (PzE29) - - (99,015) - - 4,205 (94,3810)
Exchange realignment ERAE (70) - (5,39) % 10 24 (5,408)
At 31 December 2018 RZB-N%
+-f=+-f N Y - - - (615 65118
(Credited) charged to profitorloss (5t A) 1B FRBE
for the year (Note 12) (MzE12) - (42,706) - - 5 600 (42,106)
(Credited) charged to profitorloss  (FFA)MIEEH A E B
for the assets reclassified MEEERR
as held-for-sale (Note 12) (MzE12) - - (4,353) - - 4116 (37)
Reclassified as held-for-sale ENNEABELE
(Note 29) (FizE29) - - 4353 - - (4,116) 237
Exchange realignment EREE - = = = = (24) (24)
At 31 December 2019 RIB-NE
+ZA=1+-R - 23,021 - - - (39) 22,938

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has estimated
unused tax losses of approximately HK$833,642,000 (2018:
HK$790,883,000) available for offset against future profits.
A deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of
such losses amounting to HK$8,156,000 during the year
ended 31 December 2017 and being fully utilised during
the year ended 31 December 2018. No deferred tax asset
has been recognised in respect of the remaining tax losses
due to the unpredictability of future profit streams during
the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018. Included in
unrecognised tax losses are losses of HK$77,814,000 (2018:
HK$106,462,000) that will expire from 2020 to 2024. Other
losses may be carried forward indefinitely.

RMEAR AEBEZEFARBAHRIE
/&5 18 49 833,642,000 7T (:Z@—/\i :
790,883,000 7r) A] A LA $5 R CE ) o
HEZZ—tHF+=-A=+— Etiﬁﬁq
W% 55§58 8,156,000/ ST HERIE LT 1B &
ETYREZz-_Z—N\F+=-_A=+—8H1
FEANEERSA REBEE-_ZT—NLEE=
T-N\F+_A=ZF—HLEFER BHR
RAHFHOR 2 AR FERIME - iR BB T
MIBEERRECENEEE - AERIEE
BEIEEET7,814, 0005%7‘5 (:; —NEF:
106,462,000/ 7T) #% 8 = TFEE_F
ZPOF R o E@Fﬂa‘fﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ%%
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z —FE—hFE+=-A=+—BItFE

35. DEFERRED TAX (Continued) 35. B FEBIH (4
Under the EIT Law of the PRC, withholding tax is imposed BEFRCEMSHE B2 N\F—H
on dividends declared in respect of profits earned by —H BAEEzPBINEARBFRRZ 5
the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC from 1 January 2008 MERZKEEBEERR R_2F—NL4F
onwards. Deferred taxation has not been provided for in the TZA=1+—H  WARREGEMBREAR
consolidated financial statements in respect of temporary Hh B B /B8 A ) R B 2 R BB e R P A R
difference attributable to the retained profits earned by BA =R IR fE B 78 49 552,143,000/ ¢ (==
the subsidiaries in the PRC amounting to approximately — J\4F : 532,864,000 7T) © A AN & B 4 49
HK$552,143,000 as at 31 December 2019 (2018: EHER R BOREEZE R IEEE
HK$532,864,000) as the Group is able to control the timing TER 78 B8 R g N Al gEFE [B] o
of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable
that the temporary differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.
Under the Provisional Regulations of LAT ({FF 2 A R H A1 BEE - NANANFE—A—BERZ((FE
4 3B {E 7R B 1T 15451)) effective on 1 January 1994, and the ARZEMBE T8 EREGTHRMN) & E
Detailed Implementation Rules on the Provisional Regulations —hAWNEF-—AZTEBERZKREAR
of the PRC on LAT ({HR 2 A LA B £ b 38 E R B 17 1§ HANE + R ERETIEROIBERBAAD) - Fr
I & e 48 B ) ) effective from 27 January 1995, all income EREHESEETERE T FERE &
from the sales or transfer of state-owned land use rights, F R E M8 % i 2 WA ZE AR BR 4 b IR (B B iR
buildings and their attached facilities in the PRC is subject to N F30% E60% 2 GERET R - ANEH
LAT at progressive rates ranging from 30% to 60% of the EMEMBRIBRMHEERRAMEELE 2K
appreciation value, being the proceeds of sales of properties wmZAERAE BT NE—A—Hie
less deductible expenditures in relation to the gains arising AR e THIEETRERBE AR FEZ
from sales of properties in the PRC effective from 1 January DERFELEZRENMEZIBEREE Y
2004. Deferred taxation of LAT has been provided for in the TSR AT IR -
consolidated financial statements in respect of appreciation
value of investment properties classified as held-for-sale
located in the PRC.
36. LEASE LIABILITIES 36. HEAE
2019
HK$'000
—E-hF
FTER
Lease liabilities payable: ENHEERE:
Within one year —FR" 1,853
Within a period of more than one year but not HRBR—FETEAMF
more than two years 290
Within a period of more than two years but not HR BB E AT BB T EF
more than five years 938
3,081
Less: Amount due for settlement within 12 months W OREBBEBRETARERTZEA
shown under current liabilities WAEE 2 B B IE (1,853)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months shown FRBEBETARARNTZEAZ
under non-current liabilities ‘EEF 2 EIAIFIA 1,228
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fre PR ER R P T
For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z—F—hF+-_A=+—HIFE
37. SHARE CAPITAL 37. BRA
Number of Share
shares capital
i = [
HK$'000
FHET
Authorised ordinary shares ZBR0.05ETZEEERBR

at HK$0.05 per share
At 1 January 2018, 31 December 2018 and
31 December 2019

Issued and fully paid ordinary shares
at HK$0.05 per share

At 1 January 2018, 31 December 2018 and
31 December 2019

Authorised preference shares
at HK$0.05 per share

At 1 January 2018, 31 December 2018 and
31 December 2019

Issued and fully paid preference shares
at HK$0.05 per share

At 1 January 2018, 31 December 2018 and
31 December 2019

R=Z—AF—H—H -
ZE-N\FTZA=t—HEK
ZE-NFTZA=+—H

BER0SETZERTR
BREAER

RZZE—NF—A—H"
—E-\FE+ZA=+—HK
“E-NE+ZRA=+—H

BER0.05BT ZEEEER

R-ZE-NF—A—H"
ZT-\F+ZA=+—HK
ZE-NEFTZA=+—H

BEEBROSETZERTR
BREELR

R-ZZE—NF—A—H"
“E-\F+ZA=+—HK
—E-NE+ZA=+—H

34,566,666,668 1,728,333
5,250,019,852 262,501
5,433,333,332 271,666
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R BTEImRARMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z —FE—hFE+=-A=+—BItFE

38. OPERATING LEASES
The Group as lessee

Minimum lease payments paid under operating lease
in respect of office premises during the year ended 31
December 2018 was approximately HK$26,302,000. Leases
for office premises are negotiated for a term ranging from
one to five years with fixed rentals.

The Group had commitments for future minimum lease
payments under non-cancellable operating leases in respect
of office premises which fall due as follows:

38. X&MLY
AEBER/EABEA

REBE_ZE—N\E+-—A=+—HIEERA -
BELLHARNAZDEZENRERAS
7 5% 4926,302,00078 7T - W AEWEHEK
EREFHNT—Z1F  HEETETE -

AEBREBETATHHEKEHORBRIENE
AT HAR B H 2 R R ERAK TR & 5 SRR HE -

2018
HK$'000
—E—N\&F
T

Within one year
In the second to fifth years inclusive

The Group as lessor

Property rental income earned during the year ended 31
December 2019 was approximately HK$6,588,000 (2018:
HK$95,366,000). The investment properties are expected to
generate rental yield of 0.82% (2018: 4.53%) on an ongoing
basis. The Group had not contracted with any tenants for
the future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable
operating leases in respect of investment properties as at 31
December 2019.

The Group had contracted with lessees for the following

—FR
F_EFRF (BREEREMF)

16,806
4,902

21,708

AEBE/EEA

REBE-_Z-—NE+-_A=+—HIEEERX
BRER 2 M € WA A #6,588,0007%8 7T (=
T — J\4F : 95,366,00078 7T) ° I EYETEH
B EES0.82% (ZF— )\F : 453%)H
HelWamz -R-_T—NFE+-A=+—8 "
REEWERBETAIBECEANGRHIRE
M A RFEASNRREERFFILEH

AEBECEABARTOZARRRERERK

future minimum lease payments: mE :
2018
HK$'000
—F-N\F
FHT
Within one year —FR 90,177
In the second to fifth years inclusive E_EERF(REEEMF) 360,708
After five years hFE 270,531
721,416
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A PR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE-FT—hF+-A=+—HILFE

39. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

Other than as disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated
financial statements, the Group has following transactions
and balances with related parties:

(a) Transactions with related parties

30. B I E

BazSma B EmEamEEE N
AEBEBFHABEENTR S MES

(a) EBEL X5

2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$'000
—ZE-hEF —ZE-N\F
FET FHT
Interest expense on other loan EMERZHMESH

(Note 33) (KIE33) - 9,014

Disposal of financial assets at FVTPL ) Solls Capital Limited HH &%
to Solis Capital Limited AABEFABRZEREE - 2,359,817

(b) Compensation of key management
personnel

The remuneration of executive directors, being the key
management personnel, are set out in Note 14, which
is determined by the remuneration committee having
regard to the performance of individuals and market
trends.

40. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to shareholders, to support the Group’s
stability and growth, and to strengthen the Group’s financial
management capability.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debts,
which includes borrowings, other loan and lease liabilities
disclosed in Notes 32, 33 and 36, respectively, net of bank
balances and cash and equity attributable to owners of the
Company, comprising issued share capital and other reserves.

The Directors actively and regularly reviews its capital
structure and make adjustments in light of changes in
economic conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital
structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payables to
shareholders, issue new shares or raise and repay debts. The
Group's capital management objectives, policies or processes
were unchanged from previous year.

(b) TEEEAE ZH M

HITES(AFEEEAS) 2HHER
MizE14 EFB I HFWEaegERE
BARBEETGBERBET -

40. EXERERE

AEBEEEELN FEHEARARENER
ARERE  TRABRRGERKNE®R -
AEBOIBEMER - U RIEEA KBRS
BERRES) ©

AEBMNEARBREREFE (DRERE
MizE32 - 33 R36FEEMEE - At ER KM
EBE)  MBRBTEBKEBESRAQRE
EAEGLES (BREEBITRAREAHE) -

%%Fﬁ&m%%@ﬁ§$ A WREA
BERRNBEHELFE - BEFRABER
% AEEHEFHBIRN TRENOERES

THRRBEES REEET - En&i

Eu%'$%ﬁﬁﬁﬁ$%5%‘ﬁ%iﬁ

P 15 488 A ) 2

AFZERARDT — T NLFFR
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#r e TS ERR M

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z —FE—hFE+=-A=+—BItFE

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(a) Categories of financial instruments

41. €T H
() EMIT EMER

2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000
—E-hE —E-)N\F
FTHET FHT
Financial assets SRMEE
Financial assets at FVTPL BARBEFABR EREE
Distressed debt assets TREBEE - 10,247
Listed equity securities ETRAFES 10,112 -
Unlisted equity securities FELEMRAES 571 584
Structured deposits ERE TR - 200,143
10,683 210,974
Financial assets at amortised cost BHENATECEREE 1,624,452 1,178,582
Financial liabilities SRAE
Amortised cost B 3E AR 405,499 595,367

(b) Financial risk management objectives

and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include financial
assets at FVTPL, accounts receivable, other receivables,
bank balances and cash, accounts payable, other
payables, borrowings, other loan and lease liabilities.
The risks associated with these financial instruments
include market risk (currency risk, interest rate risk and
other price risk), credit risk, liquidity risk and distressed
debts assets risks. The policies on how to mitigate these
risks are set out below. The management manages
and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate
measures are implemented on a timely and effective

manner.

(i) Currency risk

I -

() E#¥mE

(b) HBEEREEERERBER

AEENFESRITABERERAA
Bt ABR EREE  BUKEN H
i BARIR - RITEBR MBS - B
FHMEARE BE EERR
HERE BAZZeRTERENER
BERETERAR(EERR
HERRR)  EERR -
REETREBEERR - G@NRE
BEZFRBROBRENTX -EEEE
1B R B2 R B LA B AR % B B B e

k1173

Several subsidiaries of the Company have the
foreign currency purchase and bank balances,
which also exposes the Group to foreign currency
risk. Approximately 100% (2018: 99.0%) of the
Group’s purchases is denominated in currencies
other than the functional currency of the group
entities making the purchases. In addition, the
subsidiary of the Company has intra-group
balances with a subsidiary denominated in foreign
currency which also expose the Group to foreign
currency risk.
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AREBRBHA100% (ZZT—N
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A PR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z = F—hFE+-A=+—BIFE

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) M. eRMITE@
(b) Financial risk management objectives (b) BB EMREEBFERBER #)

and policies (Continued)

(i)  Currency risk (Continued) () E#%mEp (&)

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign
currency denominated monetary assets and
monetary liabilities at the end of the reporting
period are as follows:

RIREIR - REBLASMNEFHER
EREENERABENREENT

Liabilities Assets
& BE
2019 2018 2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000
—E-hEF —T-\F =B —TNF
FET THET FER FHET
uss$ £TT - - 26,933 640,579
RMB AR® - - 1,894 1,830
GBP R - - 6 26
HK$ BT = = 14 530
Singapore Dollar s T - - 353 646
Inter-group balance S B H
HK$ BT 945,000 1,110,000 - -
The Group currently does not have a foreign 7R £ [ 35 B I 4 (T {n] 9N FE ¥ 0 B
exchange hedging policy. However, the F o R AEEETIEESES RN
management of the Group monitors foreign ERRYERNEEESEZEETE
exchange exposure and will consider hedging KONE LB o

significant foreign exchange exposure should the
need arises.

AMZERBRRE —T—NFFR
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#r e TS ERR M

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #HZE —=

—NAFT=ZRA=+—HLFE

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

()

Currency risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis

The Group is mainly exposed currency risk related
to US$, RMB and HKS.

For the entities of which their functional currency
is HK$ while holding assets denominated in US$,
the Directors consider that as HK$ is pegged to
US$, the Group is not subject to significant foreign
currency risk from change in foreign exchange rate
of HK$ against US$ and hence only consider the
sensitivity of the change in foreign exchange rate
of HK$ against currencies other than US$.

The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding
monetary items which are denominated in relevant
foreign currencies and adjusts its translation at
the year end for a 5% change in relevant foreign
currencies exchange rates.

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity
to a 5% (2018: 5%) increase and decrease in the
functional currency of the group entities against
the relevant foreign currencies. 5% (2018: 5%)
is the sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign
currency risk internally to key management
personnel and represents management’s
assessment of the reasonably possible change
in foreign exchange rates. It did not take into
consideration the foreign currency forward
contracts outstanding at the end of each reporting
period as the Directors consider that the relevant
currency risk exposure is minimal. The analysis
illustrates the impact for a 5% strengthening of
the functional currency of the relevant group
entities against the relevant currency and a
positive and negative number below indicates a
decrease and an increase in loss respectively. For
a 5% weakening of the functional currency of
the relevant group entities against the relevant
currency, therefore would be an equal and
opposite impact on the loss or profit.
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41. €@ T B @)
(b) BEEMREEEERBE @)

()

#
AEBET2EGESET  ARER
BT FE’]E%H&“

HETRE ER BB T M A AR

AHEMBEZER EFRR 8
TLESTTH - REBAFEETT

HRTTIMEE R B E B AINE R
B B EZ BB T ETIAIN
Z B HNERE R B B 0 BURE
1 °

FREDITEBRERAREER 2 AR
SNEEHEMERIRE - WRF R
BRASNEERER 2 5% AR EK

H o
Ft

TRFAVNBEAEBUEBEENN
BEEEHEAEENEFABS% (ZF

—\EF 1 5%) ZBURRE - R A AP
EEE A BMEINE R ER

ZHRELERS% (ZF—\F:
5%) REREHINEEXSIER
REEE 2 Hh - AU R RERE
HIRZ M AREBINEEIEH -
REREERAEREERRE
e DMHBEREEERNIIEE
ERHABEEAESYNRE
T XEERZRFD B AERDN
A RIEM - HAREEERNI
EEBHEREERRES% B
HEBRIGNBEFERBRNTE
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A PR
For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z = F—hFE+-A=+—BIFE

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

(i)  Currency risk (Continued)

41. €@ T B @)
(b) BEEMREEBEERBE @)

() Exmp (&)

Sensitivity analysis (Continued) BRESIT (HE)
RMB Impact? HK$ Impact®
AREES &0 BTEEO
2019 2018 2019 2018
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000
—ZE-hE —ZT-)N\F =ZEBE-hFE =ZZ=—N\F
FET FET FHT FHET
(Increase) decrease in loss [ 7314 518
after tax (32 h0) Rk > (79) (76) 35,437 41,603

(i) This is mainly attributable to the exposure on
bank balances denominated in RMB at the
end of reporting period.

(i) This is mainly attributable to the exposure on
bank balances and an inter-group balance
denominated in HK$ at the end of reporting
period.

In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is
unrepresentative of the inherent foreign exchange
risk as the year end exposure does not reflect the
exposure during the relevant years.

i) TEHARREHARUAARE
FHERRITAESRAEL R -

(i) TEHRREARABILS
B RITAESR M EBR AR
B BE 3[R

EEERR  ARFRORRILT
EERRIBEFERR - MEURED
AR KRE A SMNER KR -
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R BTEImRARMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE—-T—hF+—-A=+—HILFE

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) M. €@ T E @)
(b) Financial risk management objectives (b) BA SR b B B B R BUR (&)

and policies (Continued)

(ii) Interest rate risk (i) FEE@EE
The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate AEEEBRHE36IFEENE S
risk in relation to lease liabilities as disclosed in HEBENAREMNERR - A&
Note 36. The Group is also exposed to cash flow & 75 G Y s E 28 T W EE M B B F
interest rate risk in relation to variable-rate bank BIRTTA R MM 32 AT i B8 0 /%
balances as disclosed in Note 28 and variable-rate SEREReREMNERR - AEH
borrowings as disclosed in Note 32. The Group's E’Jfﬁﬁ/miﬂtﬂﬁ FEEHFRAK
cash flow interest rate risk is mainly concentrated SEAEEABNEREEN B
on the fluctuations of LIBOR arising from the HRITRIFESFE N RS - NEEHEA
Group’s GBP denominated borrowings. It is the BEABRFEEERZEF R
Group’s policy to keep its borrowings at floating B A ARENERR &ML
interest rate so as to minimise the fair value RNEBEERFEER LA R BB
interest rate risk. The Group manages its interest HERNEREHELENBELES
rate exposures by assessing the potential impact BHEF =@ -

arising from any interest rate movements based on
interest rate level and outlook.

The Group currently does not use any derivative AEEBRFWENBEMITELR
contracts to hedge its exposure to interest rate G #) ¥ H AT E BR A R R LB o A
risk. However, the management will consider - EEREFNE S ERZEREH
hedging significant interest rate exposure should BAMEER o

the need arise.

Total interest revenue/income from financial assets REHER AT EZ SREE 2 BT
that are measured at amortised cost is as follows: Bl AT
2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$'000
—E-hF —E-)N\F
F#ET FET
Interest revenue IS
Financial assets at amortised cost TREHER SR, eMEE - 130,579
Other income Eap g A
Financial assets at amortised cost TREER SR, e MEE 50,087 8,389
Revenue/interest income under BEBRFZREFTEN
effective interest method Wz T B A 50,087 138,968
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE—T—hE+—-A=+—HIEE

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

(ii) Interest rate risk (Continued)

Interest expense on financial liabilities not

41. €@ T B @)
(b) BEEMREEBEERBE @)

(i) FEmpE (&)

WIRAREFABRRZEREE

measured at FVTPL: ZHBZ T
2019 2018
HK$’'000 HK$'000
—E-hEF —E-N\F
FET FET
Financial liabilities at amortised cost REHEKAS Rz emaE 15,291 71,695
Sensitivity analysis BRRE T

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates at the end
of the reporting period. The analysis is prepared
assuming the financial instruments at the end of
the reporting period were outstanding for the
whole year. A 50 basis points (2018: 50 basis
points) increase or decrease which represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably
possible change in interest rates is used. Bank
balances are excluded from sensitivity analysis as
the Directors consider that the exposure of cash
flow interest rate risk arising from variable-rate
bank balances is insignificant.

If interest rates had been 50 basis points (2018: 50
basis points) higher/lower and all other variables
were held constant, the Group’s pre-tax loss for
the year ended 31 December 2019 would increase/
decrease by approximately HK$1,407,000 (2018:
pre-tax loss increase/decrease by approximately
HK$2,133,000).

The Group’s exposure to variable-rate bank
balances was not included in the above analysis as
the management considers that the exposure to
these risks for bank balances are insignificant.

TY@%E%MB#%¢%$mﬁ
FIREBRMET - DI THERENHK
SHIRMS B T ARBEERZ A
EEm4RER - 80k R 450 8 &
B(ZZE—NF:50EE AT
BEHMRANF RSB EED
2 - AREZERBBIFBRTT
HHELEZRSREFERRHA
WAEKX - WHEMES T EIE
RITHE

R LA RSO EEE (= F

—/\4F : SOfEEEL) - MAAA EfM

BRRETE  AAEERE=
—hE+-AS+—ALFEZR

Tt AT EsIE 58 00,9 49 1,407,000

BT (ZZE—N\F: B ATEIEE
hn,/ R 4 492,133,0008 1) ©

DA ARBIEREERITE L
ﬁ?ﬁﬁ@ﬁunZﬂ Elﬁﬁfi
n/uﬁfETT AP R 2 B g I T~
ESp N

AFZERARDT — T NLFFR
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z —FE—hFE+=-A=+—BItFE

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives

and policies (Continued)
(iii) Other price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk through
its investments in listed equity securities. The
Directors manage this exposure by maintaining a
portfolio of investments with different risks. The
Group's equity price risk is mainly concentrated on
equity instruments of entities which are quoted
in stock exchange in Hong Kong. The Group
currently does not use any derivative contracts to
hedge its exposure to other price risk. However,
the management has appointed a team to monitor
the price risk and will consider hedging the risk
exposure should that needs arise.

No sensitivity analysis is presented for the years
ended 31 December 2019 and 2018 as the
management considers that the Group’s exposure
to other price risk is insignificant.

Credit risk and impairment assessment

Credit risk refers to the risk that the Group’s
counterparties default on their contractual obligations
resulting in financial losses to the Group. The Group’s
credit risk exposures are primarily attributable to
accounts receivable, other receivables, bank balances
and cash. The Group does not hold any collateral or
other credit enhancements to cover its credit risks
associated with its financial assets, except that the credit
risks associated with disposal receivable of Hangzhou Tai
Rong include in the other receivables is greatly reduced
because such balances are secured over properties.

The Group performed impairment assessment for
financial assets under ECL model. Information about the
Group’s credit risk management, maximum credit risk
exposures and the related impairment assessment, if
applicable, are summarised as below:
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(b) BEEMREEEERBE @)

(i) R AfEER @b

AEBRER EMBRABHFNERE
MEREAERRR - EEBBE
FHATRER 2 REEEEERZ
R - AEEZBRAERRREE
STPREBBNBIMBENERS
BATR - NG ERE I EFERE
5T & T RS K8 H b B 1% E
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B ATEER 2 £t ERERLTE
K o

=B BB R B E S

FERREASRERHFIEREEZ
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EYEMEESHMEERBIEERR
FREEMERRIEBEREA DD
HE B AT A A U BR SR Z H B UM K &R
FEWSRIAAABE 2 15 B LB AR R AKER S -
RERBBGEHRIIRE TYRREHRER

AEECREBEHEEFREAH SR
BEETRENE FRAKEZEE
Rk ER  HAEERRKRA MAEBR
EFHE (RER) 2ER BT



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A PR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z = F—hFE+-A=+—BIFE

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

Accounts receivable arising from contracts with
customers

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management
of the Group has delegated a team responsible for
determination of credit limits and credit approvals and to
determine any debt recovery action on those delinquent
accounts receivable arising from contracts with
customers. Before granting credit to these customers,
the Group reviews the credit quality and defines credit
limits by these customers. Limits attributed to these
customers are reviewed once a year and each customer
has a maximum credit limit. The Group maintains a
defined credit policy to assess the credit quality of these
customers and seeks to maintain strict control over its
outstanding receivables so as to minimise credit risk.
In this regard, the Directors consider that the Group’s
credit risk is significantly reduced.

The Group’s concentration of credit risk by geographical
locations is mainly in the PRC, which accounted for
100% (2018: 100%) of the total accounts receivable as
at 31 December 2019.

In addition, the Group performs impairment assessment
under ECL model on accounts receivable based on
provision matrix. Accounts receivable are grouped
under a provision matrix based on shared credit risk
characteristics by reference to repayment histories for
customers. Impairment of HK$26,000 is reversed (2018:
HK$183,000 was recognised) during the year ended 31
December 2019. Details of the quantitative disclosures
are set out below in this note.

41. €@ T B @)
(b) BEEMREEBEERBE @)

EEm R E TS (F)

KEEFERZ BRI

RBEERRRERE AEEERE
ERXR—HABRREEEERERE
EfEMIZERMNRETFANZ
FE R A HHE AU B IRAT B © IR
ZEEFPRLGEERN  AEEEFEE
FZREEEZRRAEFERB - RT%
EREFPZRBEBFRI —ARBREF
VEEREERSE -AKBEREREE
ERRAFEZEETPZEEERRS
SRETH () R AEIE B W IB B H B B

N EERRERERE LT E &
ERREAEENEERRD KRIERE -

AEBZRWBEVEE D ZEERRE
EETRFER ER_T—NF+=A
=+ —BHIERBERFBE 2 100% (=&
—\%F : 100%) °

SEON - AEEH EUERRIRETEREE
iR E RN B EEEETRENR -
EWERRT2ERE 2 NREL ER &
R B R RSB BEEmETSE -
REBEEZZE—NF+-A=+—HLHF
€ B AR E 26,0008 7T (= — N
183,000 T EHRRMME) - BT
ERBZFBHNULMET -
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z —FE—hFE+=-A=+—BItFE

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

Accounts receivable arising from property rental income
classified as held-for-sale

The management of the Group has conducted credit
checks on tenants and requested rental deposits from
the tenants as part of their normal leasing process.
Stringent monitoring procedures are in place to deal
with overdue debts. In addition, the Group regularly
reviews the recoverable amount of each individual
debtor to ensure that adequate impairment losses
are recognised for irrecoverable debts. The Group
performs impairment assessment under ECL model on
such accounts receivable individually. Impairment of
HK$16,819,000 is reversed (2018: HK$10,340,000 was
recognised) during the year ended 31 December 2019.
Details of the quantitative disclosures are set out below
in this note.

Other receivables and deposits

For other receivables and deposits, including disposal
receivable of Hangzhou Tai Rong, the Directors make
periodic individual assessment on the recoverability
of other receivables and deposits based on historical
settlement records, past experience, and also
quantitative and qualitative information that is
reasonable and supportive forward-looking information.
Except for the disposal receivable of Hangzhou Tai
Rong, the Directors believe that there are no significant
increase in credit risk of these amounts since initial
recognition and the Group provided impairment based
on 12m ECL. For the disposal receivable of Hangzhou
Tai Rong, the counterparty is not able to the settle
its outstanding balances in accordance with New
Settlement Arrangements and result in significant
increase in credit risk. However, the credit risk of the
disposal receivable is greatly reduced because such
balances are secured over properties. Impairment of
HK$56,486,000 is recognised (2018: HK$7,637,000 is
reversed) and impairment of HK$5,568,000 (2018: Nil)
is eliminated on disposal of subsidiaries during the year
ended 31 December 2019. Details of the quantitative
disclosures are set out below in this note.
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41. €@ T B @)
(b) BEEMREEEERBE @)

EEm R E TS (F)

SEBIFFHEZYRHERAELZ
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AEBEEEDHAFPETEERER
TRWBRAFHCKESEARERE
AR o AN E B AR E B AR M EERAR A
BRIR i AR TS o oAb - A E T HAZE BT
BAEBAS B Z T U E SR ARERE
FA] Yz Bl M EF R T D H R E 8 -
AEEREEMHEESEEXNEEH
FEW R FGETTEBIRER S - RBEZ
TE-—hEFE+_A=+—BLFE " ERF
{E#[116,819,0008 - (Z T — N\F ¢
10,340,000/8 T E R REE) - BT
ERBZFBHALMET -

HE ER A RIE T

HEMERERRIES (BFELEMM
REEWHIEB)ME  EFREBEBAE
Bk BAEKBUKRAER SEARRE
M2 EEREMEER Y E e R
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ZECHEIZEERRITEBERA K
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MINKREWRFEMS - HFHRER
BFAMMmLEEE S REEEHR LA
IHEREERRAREM AW HE
EWHBZZERBRDAERK  REE
AEBESRTRE TYERMER - R
BHEZZ-NFTA=+—BILFE
B HE 2R {E 56,486,000/8 7T (— & — )\
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iR e TS ERR M A

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z = F—hFE+-A=+—BIFE

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 41.

$RMITE @

(b) Financial risk management objectives

and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

Bank Balances

Credit risk on bank balances is limited because the
counterparties are reputable banks with high credit
ratings assigned by credit agencies. The Group assessed
12m ECL for bank balances by reference to information
relating to probability of default and loss given default
of the respective credit rating grades published by
external credit rating agencies. Based on the average
loss rates, the 12m ECL on bank balances is considered
to be insignificant.

The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment

(b) MK EREERFEREE @

EEm R E TS (F)

RiTA AR

HRHEFTREERBRTREENR
WAEBLERT  WRITEBRZEERR
BER -AKBE2EHRINBEEFRE
BEMENEEREETRSRNEOEE
MEHNBENER  HRITHESRETI2
EABREEERNME - ERFHER
X RITHER 12 A BRMEEE R

BRI EE -

REE 2 NEMEE AR AT R E 24 A

comprises the following categories: THER -

Internal Accounts Other financial

credit rating Description receivable assets

RS E R AR it FE W BR X HitbE@EE

Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default Lifetime ECL — not 12m ECL
and does not have any past-due amounts credit-impaired

EVENE RGUFHENRREEBEUREIME 2HEHEEBE- 2EARREES
He 5 REAFEERE

Watch list Debtor frequently repays after due dates but  Lifetime ECL — not 12m ECL
usually settle in full credit-impaired

BReE EBABXRBRBEREER HEATE 2HEHEEERE- 2EAEREES
SE REEEERE

Doubtful There have been significant increases in Lifetime ECL — not Lifetime ECL — not
credit risk since initial recognition through credit-impaired credit-impaired
information developed internally

RER FRABRHEN  BYSHREREE 2HEBEEEE- 2HEBEEEE-
[E\F2 B Kt _EF REEFEERE REEFEERE

Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is Lifetime ECL — credit- Lifetime ECL — credit-
credit-impaired impaired impaired

18 BEEBBREECEEEERE 2HEREEEE- 2HEBEEEE-

BEREFEERE BERLEEERE

Write-off There is evidence indicating that the Amount is written off Amount is written off
debtor is in severe financial difficulty and
the Group has no realistic prospect of
recovery

85 EEBBETNES ABARENFRBERA MiESHE WiHE R

SEYEBEMHERNR

AMZERBRRE —T—NFFR
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z —FE—hFE+=-A=+—BItFE

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) M. €@ T E @)
(b) Financial risk management objectives (b) BA SR b B B B R BUR (&)
and policies (Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment =B R f R A ETE ()
(Continued)
The table below details the credit risk exposures of TREFMAE B EETHBAEEEET
the Group’s financial assets, which are subject to ECL hrzemEEmERZEERR
assessment:
2019 2018
ZE-1f “EN\E
Notes Internal creditrating  12-month or lifetime ECL Gross carrying amount (Gross carrying amount
Wit ASBEETR ARG HRGEEEE BEEE BEEE

HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
Tén  TEn  TEr  TER

Financial assets at amortised cost

RERAATIE ERER
Accounts receivable from contracts with 25 (Note 1) Lifetime ECL (provision matrix) 4,401 7147
customers
REBFANZENER iR3) LERAEEEE (REER)
Accounts receivable arising from property 29 Watch List (Note 2) Lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired) - 85377
rental income classified as held-for-sale
ARBRELEZNFRSRAEEL BE2E (W) LHRNEERE
U (REEEERB)
Other receivables and deposits 26 (Note 3) 12mECL 2,058 3,646
A EWTIE kRS (Bt3) NEARBEES
Doubtful Lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired) 1,108,828 -
A& 2EEHEERE
(REEEERE)
Loss Lifetime ECL (credit-impaired) - 10,027
B rERNEERE
(RERENE)
Write-off Amount is written off 10027 1,120,913 - 13673
ok HHeR
Bank balances 28 Low risk 12mECL 560,208 1,167,954
RiTER ERR NEARHEES
1,685,522 1,274,151
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z = F—hFE+-A=+—BIFE

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

Notes:

1. For accounts receivable from contracts with customers,
the Group has applied the simplified approach in HKFRS
9 to measure the loss allowance at lifetime ECL. The
Group determines the expected credit losses on these
items by using a provision matrix, grouped by internal
credit rating.

2. For accounts receivable arising from property rental
income classified as held-for-sale, the Group uses past
due status and historical settlement arrangement to
assess whether credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition. The management of the Group
concluded that such receivables were classified as “Watch
List” based on internal credit rating as at 31 December
2018.

3. For the purposes of internal credit risk management, the
Group uses past due information to assess whether credit
risk has increased significantly since initial recognition.

41. €@ T B @)
(b) BEEMREEBEERBE @)

EEm R E TS (F)

B -

1. BRARPANZEBUERME  £f
BEEERAEBMBREEANFEIFAZ
i AR R EREE R 2ER
B AEEEBRABBREEEZS
HEBERAGEERE  LUREER
AEARETT O

2. BoBERBELEZMEBESWAEE
Z FEWBRSRIM E - AR E A B
MESFERFGEEEEERREY
REERARCBEEM - AREEERE
BrE  ZEWFER-_Z-N\F+_-A
=+t BERABEEFEOERTE
REE] -

3. HAMEERREEMS  AEEER
EAMER A EEERR S ML ER
PATRZE KE BTt -

No fixed
repayment
2019 Past due terms Total
—E-h#F Al SEECHEED st
HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$°000
FHE T F#E T F#ET
Other receivables H h fE U R IE 1,108,828 2,058 1,110,886
No fixed
repayment
2018 Past due terms Total
—E-)N\F Bai mEEEEH #Et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET
Other receivables E At R IE 10,027 3,646 13,673

As part of the Group’s credit risk management, the
Group applies internal credit rating for its customers in
relation to its operation. The following table provides
information about the exposure to credit risk for
accounts receivable from contracts with customers
which are assessed based on provision matrix within
lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired).

ERAEEEFEERRERZ —#H &
SEHRERZERBEFERANEE
B - TRAREHBEHEREER (R
FEFEERE) SEARNBIEREE
FEREZRBEEFP AN BURRER]
BEHREERBREEZER -

AMZERBRRE —T—NFFR
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z —FE—hFE+=-A=+—BItFE

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) M. eRMITE@
(b) Financial risk management objectives (b) BB EEEB & RBER (&)

and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

Accounts receivable arising from property rental income
classified as held-for-sale with gross carrying amounts of
HK$85,377,000 as at 31 December 2018 were assessed

EEm R E TS (F)

RZEBE—N\F+_A=+—8H " #EH
185,377,000/ T Z DA RIFELE Z
YIRS WA EE 2 BIRGIBEHE @R

individually. HEATRTAR ©
Gross carrying amount AR E A
2019 2018
“E-NE —E-N\F

Average Accounts Average Accounts
Internal credit rating loss rate receivable |oss rate receivable
ABEETR FHBRE P W R FHERX JEUHR R
HK$'000 HK$'000
TET T
Low risk i¥EN S 1.42% 1,185 0.95% 3,368
Watch list ERLE 3.94% 106 3.25% 1,247
Doubtful iR 439% 3,110 4.35% 2,532
4,401 7,147

The estimated loss rates are estimated based on
historical observed default rates over the expected
life of the debtors and are adjusted for forward-
looking information that is available without undue
cost or effort. The grouping is regularly reviewed by
management to ensure relevant information about
specific debtors is updated.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group
reversed of HK$26,000 (2018: provision of HK$183,000)
impairment allowance for accounts receivable based on
the provision matrix.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group
reversed of HK$16,819,000 (2018: provision of
HK$10,340,000) impairment allowance for accounts
receivable arising from property rental income classified
as held-for-sale.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A PR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z = F—hFE+-A=+—BIFE

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL
that has been recognised for accounts receivable and
accounts receivable arising from property rental income
classified as held-for-sale:

41. €@ T B @)

(b) MK EREERFEREE @

EEm R E TS (F)

TRIRBL KR RIER 2 2 HAFEHE
EBERZEHEIBRFIELEZME

HEWAEEZ BRERR

Lifetime ECL  Lifetime ECL  Lifetime ECL
- provision - individual - individual
matrix assessment assessment
(not credit- (not credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired) impaired) Total
2 2HEH 2HES
FEBR FEFR FEFR
-BEER — @B — {8 Bl
(BREERE) (BEERE) (F&HE) @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THT THT THT
As at 1 January 2018 R-ZB-NF-A—8 3 6,479 36 6,515
Changes due to finandial instruments A =% —\F— A —B#ER
recognised as at 1 January 2018: ZeMmIAmHE
— Eliminated on disposal of —HENB D AR #
subsidiaries (Note 43(d) (HI5E43() - = (36) (36)
New financial assets originated REZTEREE
- Impairment losses recognised -ERRAZREEE 183 - - 183
— Impairment losses recognised —EMHEABELE
for the assets reclassified as BELEHBRZ
held-for-sale BEEE - 10,340 - 10,340
As at 31 December 2018 RZE-N\F
+=A=+-H 183 16,819 - 17,002
Changes due to finandial instruments R =ZF—hF—F— A2
recognised as at 1 January 2019: ZEBTAMHE
~ Impairment losses reversed -BEBZAEEE (183) = = (183)
— Impairment losses reversed for —EMOEARELE
the assets reclassified as EEZEREYZ
held-for-sale REEE - (16,819) - (16,819)
New financial assets originated REZHERERE
~ Impairment losses recognised -BRBZAEEE 157 - - 157
As at 31 December 2019 R-F-NF
+=ZA=1+-H 157 - - 157
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R BTEImRARMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z —FE—hFE+=-A=+—BItFE

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

Changes in the loss allowance for accounts receivable
are mainly due to the reversal of impairment allowance
for accounts receivable arising from property rental
income classified as held-for-sale with a gross carrying
amount of HK$85,377,000 upon full settlement during
the year ended 31 December 2019.

The Group writes off accounts receivable when there
is information indicating that the debtor is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, e.g. when the debtor has been placed under
liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings,
or when the accounts receivable are over two years past
due, whichever occurs earlier. None of the accounts
receivable that have been written off is subject to
enforcement activities.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z = F—hFE+-A=+—BIFE

41. €@ T B @)
(b) I EMEEEERBE &)

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

1= Em B R s E T 1 ()

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

TRINTERBEERE RN E MK
FIRMER < BRBRE Bk

The following tables show reconciliation of loss
allowances that has been recognised for loan note
receivable and other receivables:

Lifetime ECL  Lifetime ECL
(Not credit- (credit-
12m ECL impaired) impaired) Total
2HEH 2HEH
FEF#R FEF#E
12{8A (RBER (B84%
AHEEER ERE) FEHE) @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT FHET T FAET
As at 1 January 2018 R-E—N\E—f—B 10,010 - 7,750 17,760
Changes due to financial instruments N =ZF—\F—A—A#ER
recognised as at 1 January 2018: LEBRIAMBE
— Impairment losses reversed —BREEHEESE (10,010) - - (10,010)
New financial assets originated REZHERER
- Impairment losses recognised -ERRARESR 467 - 1,906 2,373
— Transfer to credit-impaired ~BREEERE (467) = 467 -
— Exchange realignment —EHBE = = (96) (96)
As at 31 December 2018 RZB-N\F
+=A=1+-H - - 10,027 10,027
Changes due to financial instruments A =F—NF—A—H#ER
recognised as at 1 January 2019: LEBRIAMBE
- Written off — 43 - - (10,027) (10,027)
New financial assets originated REZHERER
- Impairment losses recognised -ERAREESE - 50,918 - 50,918
— Impairment losses recognised -BNNEARBELE
for the assets reclassified as BEZEHERL
held-for-sale REEE - 5,568 - 5,568
— Eliminated on disposal of ~REEHRBRRK
subsidiaries il - (5,568) - (5,568)
As at 31 December 2019 RZT—NF
+=ZA=1+-H - 50,918 - 50,918

Changes in the loss allowance for other receivables of
the Group are mainly due to the provision of impairment
allowance for disposal receivable of Hangzhou Tai Rong
with a gross carrying amount of HK$1,108,828,000
during the year ended 31 December 2019.

Changes in the loss allowance for loan note receivable
of the Group are mainly due to the settlement in full of
loan note receivable with a gross carrying amount of
HK$1,472,118,000 during the year ended 31 December
2018.

RNEE 7 Hib fERIR G BEE LIRS
B rEHREBEE-_Z-hhE+_-A
—t—BHIEFERREHENINAKERE
U ks (BRI 4818 4 1,108,828,000 7% 7T )
ZREREFTER -

REE-Z-N\F+-A=+—AL
FEAN AEEERERERR ZEBER
BEH T EHRBHEELREER
1,472,118,000 8 T2 FEWERFIE ©
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R BTEImRARMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z —FE—hFE+=-A=+—BItFE

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk

In management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of bank balances and cash
deemed adequate by the management to finance
the Group’s operations and mitigate the effects of
fluctuations in cash flows. The management monitors
the utilisation of borrowings and ensures compliance
with loan covenants.

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial
liabilities. The table has been drawn up based on the
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on
the earliest date on which the Group can be required
to pay. Specifically, bank borrowings with a repayment
on demand clause are included in the earliest time band
regardless of the probability of the banks choosing to
exercise their rights. The maturity dates for other non-
derivative financial liabilities are based on the agreed
repayment dates.

The table includes both interest and principal cash
flows. To the extent that interest flows are floating rate,
the undiscounted amount is derived from weighted
average interest rate at the end of reporting period.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z—F—hF+-_A=+—HIFE

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) M. e TR
(b) Financial risk management objectives (b) BB EMREEBFERBER #)
and policies (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued) hEBELEE (E)
Liquidity table MEEE K
As at 31 December 2019 R=B-hE+=A=+-—H
Weighted  On demand Total
average  or less than 3 months to undiscounted  Carrying
interest rate 1month  1-3 months 1year  1-5years  cashflows amount
nE  REXY =f@A AERRS

FEHE  FR-BR -E=f@A E-§  -EIf RE8E HEE
% HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
% TiEx TR Tz AT TiEn TiEx

Non-derivative financial FTEERERE

liabilities

Other payables Ef IR - 3,070 - - - 3,070 3,070
Borrowings g 3.56 283,976 - - - 283,976 281471
Other loan EER - 120,958 - - - 120,958 120,958
Lease liabilities HERE 6.18 26 499 1,165 1,658 3,568 3,081
408,250 499 1,165 1,658 411,572 408,580

As at 31 December 2018 RZE-—N\F+=ZA=+—H

Weighted On demand Total
average or less than  undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 1 month cash flows amount
onE BERY  KMBRED
THME AR—EA mE A REE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
% TET FET FET
Non-derivative financial FTEEHAE
liabilities

Accounts payables FE TR FR - 737 737 737
Other payables H fth JE A 5RIE - 44,419 44,419 44,419
Borrowings BE 3.52 426,626 426,626 426,626
Other loan HiE® - 123,585 123,585 123,585
595,367 595,367 595,367
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R BTEImRARMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE—-T—hF+—-A=+—HILFE

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) M. 2T H@m

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

Borrowings with a repayment on demand clause are
included in the “on demand or less than 1 month”
time band in the above maturity analysis. As at 31
December 2019, the aggregate principal amounts of
these borrowings amounted to HK$281,471,000 (2018:
HK$426,626,000). Taking into account the Group’s
financial position, the Directors believe that it is probable
that the banks will not exercise their discretionary rights
to demand immediate repayment. The Directors believe
that these borrowings will be repaid in accordance
with the scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan
agreements, details of which are set out in the table

(b) b EE R REREEK#@)

mBELmE (F)

Wﬁ/,\i;zﬁmaaaﬂ%?xm%%&i

MBI BA DM ATRERS TR —
fHJZH%F'aEJ%ﬁW cHR-ZE—NF
+ZA=+—8 ZEREZ2AEH
%4 5281,471,0008 ¢ (ZF — \F :
426,626,0008 70) © & 5T R A K E 2 B
BRI EZRAB|RITIAAIBEITE
HERARERZWIEE EZRA -
ZEBEBRBERGZASZEEENX
HEAER - AFFBER Tk o

below.
Maturity Analysis — Borrowings with
a repayment on demand clause
based on the scheduled repayments
EMAM-MEREEERKEA
RERBEGRRZEE
Total Total
Less than undiscounted carrying
1 year cash flows amount
RERER
RERE IREE
PR—F FEE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FTET FTET
As at 31 December 2019 RZB-NAF+ZA=+—H 283,976 283,976 281,471
As at 31 December 2018 RZB-NF+ZA=+—H 441,373 441,373 426,626

The amounts included above for variable interest rate
instruments are subject to change if changes in variable
interest rates differ to those estimates of interest rates
determined at the end of the reporting period.

Tai United Holdings Limited Annual Report 2019

7S HIR 2 BEBA RN MERRAE
rtZﬂEquﬂT ERFRIAHAZE
RATEN -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A PR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z = F—hFE+-A=+—BIFE

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Risk management of distressed debt assets

()

(ii)

Overview

Risk of distressed debt assets represents the
potential loss that may arise from counterparty’s
failure to meet its obligation or changes in
market conditions that lead to decline in asset
value. Risk of distressed debt assets can also arise
from operational failures due to unauthorised or
inappropriate purchase, disposal or management
activities, which result in the recoverable amount
of the distressed debt assets lower than their
carrying amounts. The Group’s distressed debt
assets risk arises from distressed debts which the
Group classifies as financial assets at FVTPL.

Risk management of distressed debt assets

The Group exercises standardised management
procedures, including project initiation, due
diligence investigation, design and approval
of recovery plan and continuous monitoring
and management. The Group enhances its risk
management by strengthening investigation,
review and approval procedures before taking
up the distressed debt assets, and monitoring
measures after taking up the distressed debt
assets; enhancing risk mitigation effect through
collateral; and continuously upgrading the
management system of distressed debt assets.
Specifically, the risks to which distressed debt
assets at FVTPL mainly comprise valuation risk,
legal title risk and to certain extent credit risk.

41. €@ T B @)
(b) BEEMREEBEERBE @)

TREKEENEREE
(@) =

(ii)

TREBEENRREANR S
FHENIMSERNEEMSEE
EEERENEEER - TRER
BERRGAEHRRERRS
B mAREREXTRENEE -
REXERAES|ENAEKEER
EREKEEE - ARENTRE
BEERBRBENAKENGED RS
BAREHABRSZEREE -

TREFEENEREE

AEEYHBERATIE FHHASL -
WER 7 R BIE FIERAL - RAE R
MEEFRABTRBLEER - A
SEBEBRECWERNRLE  BEHE
B WERRERRE  EeEFm
RBREBERR  HETREBEE
BEERGARBESTE  2EEE
FAREENRERERKFE - B
s HEAKENBRRARERA
BREZ TREBEERREIEZRE
HERR  EEARAR -FIEE
MiEERR -
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z —FE—hFE+=-A=+—BItFE

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives

and policies (Continued)

Risk management of distressed debt assets

(Continued)

(i)~ Valuation risk

Valuation risk is the risk of negative impact arising
from the difference between actual results and
value estimations that the Group would use in its
management of distressed debt assets at FVTPL,
due to variance in factors including future cash
flows, collection period, repossession discount rate
and disposal cost, etc. Measures the Group takes
to minimise the valuation risk include:

o Perform investigation strictly on the parties
involved in the transaction (including the
debtors and the guarantors), collateral
provided, repayment sources, etc.; and

o Adopt conservative estimation on
repossession discount rate and disposal
cost when performing valuation and review
the difference between actual results and
estimation after the completion of the
disposal of distressed debt assets to improve
the accuracy of future estimations.

The Group has established an independent
valuation process for distressed debt assets.
The Group has engaged on independent
qualified professional valuer for the valuation
of distressed debt assets and the Directors
performs an independent review of the valuation
methodologies, inputs, assumptions and valuation
results. The finance department records these
items and prepares the disclosure of the distressed
debt assets, based on the independently reviewed
valuation.
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41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Risk management of distressed debt assets
(Continued)

(iv) Legal title risk

Legal title risk is the risk of loss, arising from the
decrease of recoverable amount when the legal
rights to claim was partially or entirely lost due
to inappropriate daily management of distressed
debt assets such as expiry of claim period without
taking proper legal actions on time. Measures the
Group takes to minimise the legal title risk include:

° Set up alert management system to ensure
the expiry of legal claim periods related
to distressed debt assets are managed
effectively;

o Set up periodic revisiting mechanism to
monitor the conditions of collateral. Maintain
regular investigation report properly to
ensure the Group has access to the most
updated information; and

o Set up reporting mechanism of significant
event to ensure immediate recovery action
be taken when certain risk elements emerge.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
R BTEImRARMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE—-T—hF+—-A=+—HILFE

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Risk management of distressed debt assets
(Continued)

(v)  Credit risk

Certain distressed debt assets at FVTPL may be
subject to credit risk. Depending on the status of
the obligor of distressed debt assets, the Group
may decide to pursue repayment from the obligor
instead of disposing it to third party, credit risk
arises in such situation.

Credit risk represents the potential loss that may
arise from a customer or counterparty’s failure to
meet its obligation. Measures the Group takes to
minimise the credit risk of distressed debt assets
include:

o Manage the creditworthiness of
counterparties using independent credit
rating on the counterparties as reference;

e Select counterparties with appropriate
creditworthiness and repayment capability;

and

o Require counterparties to provide collateral
to cover the credit exposure.
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41. €@ T B @)

(c) Fair value measurements of financial (c) ERMITENAREE

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

instruments

This note provides information about how the Group
determines fair values of various financial assets and
financial liabilities.

Fair value measurements and valuation processes

Some of the Group’s financial instruments are measured
at fair value for financial reporting purposes. The
Directors are responsible to determine the appropriate
valuation techniques and inputs for fair value
measurements.

In estimating the fair value, the Group uses market-
observable data to the extent it is available. Where
Level 1 inputs are not available, the Group engages
third party qualified valuers to perform the valuation.
The Directors works closely with the qualified external
valuers to establish the appropriate valuation techniques
and inputs to the model. The management reports the
valuation committee’s findings to the board of directors
of the Company to explain the cause of fluctuations in
the fair value.
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R BTEImRARMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z —FE—hFE+=-A=+—BItFE

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(c) Fair value measurements of financial
instruments (Continued)

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that are
measured at fair value on a recurring basis

Some of the Group’s financial assets are measured
at fair value at the end of each reporting period. The
following table gives information about how the fair
values of these financial assets are determined (in
particular, the valuation technique(s) and inputs used).

41. €@ T B @)

(o)

ERMTANDAAETE @

FEFUBEMEER A ETEHE
BEENAAE

AEEHBHTMEENEREHARZA
REFE - TR BRIAIEEZF
TREENDAEBELERMERNMG
B R B ABE) ER -

Financial assets/ Fair value Relationship of key inputs

financial liabilities Fair value as at 31 December hierarchy ~ Valuation technique(s) and key inputs ~to fair value

CRHEE/SRER RTZB=t-ANAAE MESE HFERFREIEBARE IERAHBRLANENER

2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000
ZE2-N0E —E-)N\%
TiEn TAL

Financial assets at FVTPL 571 584 Level2 Asset-based approach Assignificant increase in the net
- unlisted equity asset value used would result in a
securities Derived based on net asset value of the significant increase in fair value, and

unlisted invested entities Vice versa.

BAREH ARG EER AEEWE FRNEEFENABENFERA
HEE-F LIRA AEHABEN R4
B REERELTREBRARBELE

Financial assets at 10,112 - levelt Quoted bid prices in an active market N/A
FVTPL - listed equity
securities

BAREHARGZE E-EfR  ERTSHBREAE MR
HEE-LTRAE
%

Structured deposits - 200,143 Level3 Discounted cash flows Asignificant increase in bank interest

rates used would result in a
Expected yields of 3.2% to 4.1% of money significant increase in fair value, and

market instruments and debt instruments
invested by banks and a discount rate that
reflects the credit risk of the banks (Note)

vice versa.

Asignificant increase in discount rate

BEEER EZER
Financial assets at FVTPL - 10,247 Level2

- distressed debt

assets
BAREABRL E_ER

EREE-TR
ERAE
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used would result in a significant

decrease in fair value, and vice versa.
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BHEIAN32%E41% URRBE
TEERBNHEER ()

ARANERENARLARELR
RERETR  R2HHA

Market comparable approach N/A

Reference to the recent transaction price of
the distressed debt assets
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE-FT—hF+-A=+—HILFE

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(c) Fair value measurements of financial
instruments (Continued)

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that
are measured at fair value on a recurring basis
(Continued)

Note: The Directors consider that the impact of the fluctuation
in expected yields of the money market instruments
and debt instruments and discount rate to the fair
value of the structured deposits was insignificant as the
structured deposits have short maturities, and therefore
no reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements of
financial assets is presented.

There were no transfers in different levels of the fair
value hierarchy between Level 1, 2 and 3 during the
reporting period.

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and
financial liabilities that are not measured at
fair value on a recurring basis (but fair value
disclosures required)

The Directors consider that the carrying amounts of
financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at
amortised cost in the consolidated financial statements
approximate their fair values based on discounted cash
flows analysis.
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R BTEImRARMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z —FE—hFE+=-A=+—BItFE

42. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

The Group has retirement plans covering a substantial portion
of its employees. The principal plans are defined contribution
plans.

The Company’s subsidiaries in Hong Kong participate the
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme under the rules and
regulations of the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Authority. The Group’s employees are required to join the
scheme. The assets of the schemes are held separately from
those of the Group, in funds under the control of trustees.
The Group has followed the minimum statutory contribution
requirement of 5% of eligible employees’ relevant aggregated
income with a cap of HK$1,500 per employee per month.

The Company’s subsidiaries in the PRC, Singapore and
the UK, in compliance with the applicable regulations of
respective jurisdictions, participated in various pension
schemes operated by the relevant municipal and provincial
governments. These subsidiaries are required to make defined
contributions to these schemes at a fixed percentage of their
covered payroll. The Group has no other obligations for the
payment of its staff's retirement and other post-retirement
benefits other than the contributions described above.

The total contributions in respect of the year ended 31
December 2019 charged to consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income amount to
HK$1,822,000 (2018: HK$4,024,000).
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE-FT—hF+-A=+—HILFE

AMZRBRAT —

43. DISPOSAL AND DEREGISTRATION OF 3. HERFTHMEB LR - BRE
SUBSIDIARIES, A LIMITED PARTNERSHIP, AR - EEUHERE BB
A STRUCTURED ENTITY AND AN = N F
ASSOCIATE
(a) Disposal of Hangzhou Tai Rong (a) HEMIMAL

The Group had entered into a sale and purchase REESHR_Z—NFALATNBR
agreement and supplemental agreement on 18 —NFENAZ+RAREERIVE
September 2018 and 25 August 2019, respectively, EfZEERmE  UEEERIMNA
with the Purchaser to dispose of its entire equity L(ANEMERETEY) 2 23k -
interest of Hangzhou Tai Rong, which engaged in H& R (E A AR 1,550,000,0007T (48
property investment activities, at a cash consideration Z A 491,727,320,00058 7T) (15 &
of RMB1,550,000,000 (equivalent to approximately RHEE29) RE D REE TS UAER
HK$1,727,320,000) as details disclosed in Note 29 f% 5 & 5 869,232,000/ 5T - ANEE
and part of consideration were paid for settlement of R-FE—hE+A=+—BERMN AL
shareholder loans amounting to HK$869,232,000. The IR E T B T RN AL
Group transferred all of its equity interests in Hangzhou R EEFENT
Tai Rong to the Purchaser on 31 October 2019 and the
net assets of Hangzhou Tai Rong at the date of disposal
were as follows:
HK$'000
FHT
Analysis of assets and liabilities over which & EZRFIENEEREEDS 7 :
control was lost:
Investment properties wEYE 1,560,160
Loan receivables B E R 61,077
Other receivables, deposits and prepayments H W KIE - ke KA FKIE 47,536
Bank balances and cash RITEHR KRR 74
Accrued liabilities and other payables EETRAEREMENRIE (8,354)
Deferred tax liabilities RIEFIEEE (92,557)
Shareholder loans RERER (869,232)
Net assets disposed of BEHEEEFE 698,704
Consideration paid for settlement of shareholder EEBREER 2 ERRE
loans 869,232
1,567,936
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R BTEImRARMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z —FE—hFE+=-A=+—BItFE

43. DISPOSAL AND DEREGISTRATION OF 43. HEREHNB AR - ARG
SUBSIDIARIES, A LIMITED PARTNERSHIP, B EEMEERK—EE
A STRUCTURED ENTITY AND AN (=FNCIRE ),
ASSOCIATE (continued)
(a) Disposal of Hangzhou Tai Rong (a) HEMMALE &)
(Continued)
HK$'000
FHBT
Gain on disposal of Hangzhou Tai Rong: HERMARZ WS :
Consideration received EER(E 1,727,320
Net assets disposed of EHEBEFE (1,567,936)
Cumulative exchange differences in respect of the A EIK B A &7 &E FEN R
net assets of the subsidiary reclassified from BB ERE RFELER
equity to profit or loss 8,740
Gain on disposal included in other gains and losses Hi & Wz (FF A Uiz &5 18) 168,124
HK$'000
FHET
Net cash inflow arising on disposal of HEMMNAREEZRSRATE
Hangzhou Tai Rong:
Cash consideration RBENRE 1,727,320
Deposits received from disposal of Hangzhou Tai  HHEMM K&z B Wiz E
Rong (172,732)
Less: disposal receivable W R SRIE (1,108,828)
Less: bank balances and cash disposed of W BHERITESRRRS (74)
Net cash inflow RERANFRE 445,686

Details of the above disposal were set out in the
Company's announcement dated 15 June 2018, 28
August 2018 and 25 August 2019.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A PR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE-FT—hF+-A=+—HILFE

43. DISPOSAL AND DEREGISTRATION OF 43. HEREHNBAR - ARG
SUBSIDIARIES, A LIMITED PARTNERSHIP, BAE - HRUERK —EB
A STRUCTURED ENTITY AND AN =—INEINE ),
ASSOCIATE (continued)
(b) Disposal of the subsidiaries (b) HEHEB A=)
During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group RBE_ZE-NF+_A=+—8H ¢¢
had entered into three sales and purchase agreements B AEBETRBVE=FIY=
with different independent third parties to dispose of BE&E & L/(Hﬁ’%ﬁbv‘/mi)ﬂ?ﬁﬂ?xﬁm
its entire equity interests in R ZRE I EEBE R ABRAF - HIARMEEERERA
A 8] (Shenzhen Hong Rong Investment Consulting Al K Tai Un|ted Investments I Limited 2 &
Co. Ltd*), AT I A gt & &= B 12 B IR A 7] (Zhejiang Tai B B A &) Tai United Asset Management
Rong Asset Management Co. Ltd*) and Tai United Pte. Ltd. (i BB L EMB AT 22
Investments Il Limited and its subsidiaries, Tai United HExw - BRELA2,0008TT - BE
Asset Management Pte. Ltd. (collectively referred to as EREBZE_ZE-NF+-_A=+—HIt
the “Disposed Subsidiaries”) at total considerations of FEATK BHEMBRAAIREES
approximately HK$2,000. The disposals were completed BEZHEBHZBEFENT :
during the year ended 31 December 2019 and the net
liabilities of the Disposed Subsidiaries at their respective
dates of disposals were as follows:
HK$'000
FHET
Analysis of assets and liabilities over which & EZ4IECEEREBEIH :
control was lost:
Property, plant and equipment ME - B RFRE 64
Right-of-use assets EREEE 11,273
Other receivables, deposits and prepayments HigUsiE - Ze RBEAK 2,394
Bank balances and cash RITHBREER® 1,437
Accrued liabilities and other payables FEET B & R H A A IR (6,930)
Lease liabilities HEAE (11,391)
Net liabilities disposed of BEHEABFEE (3,153)
HK$'000
:F/%E
Analysis of gain on disposal of the Disposed HECHEWB AR ZWEDH :
Subsidiaries:
Consideration received (B 2
Net liabilities disposed of EHEBEFE 3,153
Cumulative exchange differences in respect of AEmsEfoEEEzs
the net liabilities of the Disposed Subsidiaries EHEMBATAEFEZ
reclassified from equity to profit or loss RETEHZR 180
Net gains on disposal of the Disposed Subsidiaries & 2 H&EME Q& 2 WE %
included in other gains and losses (GFAE MUz R EE) 3,335
* The English names are for identification purpose only.
AMERERAT —T— L FFHR
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z —FE—hFE+=-A=+—BItFE

43. DISPOSAL AND DEREGISTRATION OF 43. HEREHNB AR - ARG
SUBSIDIARIES, A LIMITED PARTNERSHIP, BNT - HREMERE BB
A STRUCTURED ENTITY AND AN (=FNCIRE ),
ASSOCIATE (continued)
(b) Disposal of the subsidiaries (Continued) (b) HEMB QT (&)
HK$'000
FHBT
Net cash outflow arising on disposal of the HECHENBAREEZRE R FEE
Disposed Subsidiaries:
Cash consideration ReRE 2
Less: bank balances and cash disposed of B BHERITESRRAS (1,437)
Net cash outflow WRE M F 5 (1,435)

(9]

Disposal of Excel Fine Holdings Limited
("Excel Fine")

On 23 October 2017, the Group had entered into a sale
and purchase agreement with an independent third
party to dispose of its entire equity interest of Excel Fine
at a cash consideration of HK$738,000,000 and the
principal asset of Excel Fine is the commercial property
units located on 79th Floor of The Center, Central,
Hong Kong. As at 31 December 2017, the Group
received disposal deposits amounting to approximately
HK$110,700,000, equivalent to 15% of the total
cash consideration. The remaining consideration of
HK$627,300,000 was received on 28 March 2018 and
the disposal was completed on the same date in which
the Group lost control of Excel Fine. The net assets of
Excel Fine at the date of disposal were as follows:

(c) HEExcel Fine Holdings
Limited ([ Excel Fine)

R-ZE—+F+A-+=H AEFHE
—EBIYE=HAIVEERHEANBRER
{& 738,000,0007% 7T i & E 7 Excel Fine
7 2 EPRRAE - Excel Finev T BEE AL
MREBRRFPIERALTENDED X
B RZT—tF+=-A=+—80"
AN 5 E U B & % € £9110,700,000 7%
T HEERBRSKREN15%) B TR
627,300,000 TR =_F—\F=H
—+tNB¥KE  BREEREETKZ
B [7 B 25 2= ¥ Excel Fine 2 #22 %I # © Excel
Fine R E B EEFAENT

HK$'000
FHET
Analysis of assets and liabilities over which k& EZEZEHENEERBEI T
control was lost:
Investment properties wEWZE 738,000
Deferred tax liabilities BERIBEE (976)
Net assets disposed of BHELEEFEE 737,024

Tai United Holdings Limited Annual Report 2019
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R BTERARMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 B ZE—T—hF+-A=+—HItFE

43. DISPOSAL AND DEREGISTRATION OF 43,

SUBSIDIARIES, A LIMITED PARTNERSHIP,
A STRUCTURED ENTITY AND AN
ASSOCIATE (Continued)

(c) Disposal of Excel Fine Holdings Limited
("Excel Fine") (Continued)

HERZHEWBAR ARG
%/L\\E.I nl:l*g’l\g':g ;& FEﬁH%
=NCINE ),

(c) % Excel Fine Holdings
Limited ([ Excel Finel) (#&)

HK$'000
FHET
Gain on disposal of Excel Fine: i & Excel Fine 2 W 3% :
Consideration received 2 UEKE 738,000
Net assets disposed of BEHELEEEE (737,024)
Gain on disposal included in other gains and losses H & Utz (FF A E b U5 2 E518) 976
HK$'000
FHET
Net cash inflow arising on disposal of Excel & Excel Fine B 2B &R AFE -
Fine:
Cash consideration BENRE 738,000
Less: disposal deposits received W BRI E 2 Rke (110,700)
Net cash inflow HERANFHE 627,300

Details of the above disposal were set out in the
Company’s announcements dated 21 September 2017
and 28 March 2018.

FRHE HERRARDANASE
—tERAS+—AR=F—N\EZA
—HNBZRE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE—-T—hF+—-A=+—HILFE

43. DISPOSAL AND DEREGISTRATION OF 43. HERFIHEHWE LT - BRE
SUBSIDIARIES, A LIMITED PARTNERSHIP, BAT HEUHEBER BB
A STRUCTURED ENTITY AND AN =FNCIRE )
ASSOCIATE (cContinued)
(d) First disposal of Best Future d RZZE—N\EFE—B+NHEAR
Investments Limited (“Best Future”) on i ’Ehﬂéﬁiﬁﬁlﬁ NG (KES
18 January 2018 1)

On 17 January 2018, the Group had entered into sales
and purchase agreements with two independent third
parties to dispose of its 67% equity interest in Best
Future, which engaged in provision of securities and
margin financing, trading and brokerage of futures
contracts, asset management and money lending
business in Hong Kong at a total cash consideration
of approximately HK$104,940,000. The disposal was
completed on 18 January 2018, on which date the
Group lost control of Best Future. The net assets of Best
Future at the date of disposal were as follows:

R=F—N\F—A++tH AEEER
%ﬁi% FEINEBW#E  NRHRS
X 8 #49104,940,000 78 7T HH & A E#
(ERBARBIREESRRESHE
HEANRIRER BEETERNK
BEK) 7% 2BRE - ZLEBER T
—N\F—A+NBZEK ' ~&BRZE
KEHEBOEFIE - EiFR TS A H
WEEFEMT :

HK$'000
FHBT
Analysis of assets and liabilities over which & EZRFIENEEREBES T :
control was lost:

Property, plant and equipment W - BB REE 2,233
Goodwill HE
Intangible assets BREE =
Other non-current assets HinFEREEE 6,356
Accounts receivable JiE W BR 3K 76,019
Other receivables, deposits and prepayments HhEWKIE - ke RIERFKIE 2,886
Bank balances and cash RITHEB KRR 158,881
Accounts payable R BRE IR (96,746)
Accrued liabilities and other payables EsraEREAaEN KA (3,375)
Tax payable FEfI A1 (44)
Net assets disposed of BHEEEFE 146,210

Tai United Holdings Limited Annual Report 2019
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE-FT—hF+-A=+—HILFE

43. DISPOSAL AND DEREGISTRATION OF 43. HEREHNBAR - ARG
SUBSIDIARIES, A LIMITED PARTNERSHIP, BoE ABRMERR B
A STRUCTURED ENTITY AND AN =—INEINE ),
ASSOCIATE (continued)
(d) First disposal of Best Future d R=Z2—NF—A+NBERX
Investments Limited (“Best Future”) on HEEBKREEGRAAE ([F
18 January 2018 (Continued) % 1) (&)
HK$'000
FHET
Loss on first disposal of Best Future on 18 RZZE-NE—A+N\BERHEEEKZ
January 2018: B
Consideration received 2 UWERR(E 104,940
Fair value of the remaining 33% equity interest of & T {E#533% x4 2 A& (KisE)
Best Future (Note) 31,000
Net assets disposed of BEHEEEFE (146,210)
Loss on disposal included in other gains and losses Hi & > &8 (FF A E x5 M EE) (10,270)
Note: The Group retained significant influence over Best Future fizE: AEBR-_Z—N\F—A+N\HZEK
upon completion of the disposal on 18 January 2018 and HERNMHEEHEFEATE  BX
the Group has accounted for the remaining 33% equity SEEEHRTER33%RIE - 1IEAR—
interest in Best Future as interest in an associate whose MEtE R Rz HARBEREE
fair value at the date of disposal was HK$31,000,000. H 8 431,000,000 7T °
HK$'000
FHT
Net cash outflow arising on first disposal of HBEXHEEKEEZRSRE FE
Best Future:
Cash consideration received on 18 January 2018  H=Z—N\F— A+ BB ZzREKE 104,940
Less: bank balances and cash disposed of B BHEZRITEREIRS (158,881)
Net cash outflow ReEnEFE (53,941)

AFZERARDT — T NLFFR 217



218

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A PR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE—-T—hF+—-A=+—HILFE

43. DISPOSAL AND DEREGISTRATION OF
SUBSIDIARIES, A LIMITED PARTNERSHIP,
A STRUCTURED ENTITY AND AN
ASSOCIATE (cContinued)

(e) Second disposal of Best Future on
1 June 2018

On 1 June 2018, the Group had entered into another
sale and purchase agreement with another independent
third party to dispose of its remaining 33% equity
interests in Best Future at a cash consideration of
HK$31,000,000. The disposal was completed in June
2018 and the Group has recognised a gain on disposal
of approximately HK$394,000 in profit or loss which
was calculated as follows:

43,

t
%
=

‘>> ‘>> ¥

REEME AR - BERE
E.I N nl:l*gﬁg g;&_FEﬁﬂgﬁ
a) (%)

(e) RAZE—NFXRA—HEZX

E%&%

RZE—NFAA—H AEEEHS
—BBUEBE=FMNEE RS AH
EEBZHETBRERE REREA
31,000,000 7L c HERZ=ZZF—/\FE X
A e R A S BN E R AR & s
#9394,000/8 7T * sTEMF :

HK$'000
FHBT
Gain on second disposal of Best Future on RZZB-NERA—HBHEZRHEEKZ
1 June 2018: Wz
Cash consideration fﬁ/fﬁ{ﬁ 31,000
Carrying amount of interest in Best Future at the ~ R & B EIAERG 2 ESREE
date of disposal (30,606)
Gain on disposal included in other gains and losses H & Uz (FF A E b Ui z5 2 E518) 394
HK$'000
FHET

Net cash inflow arising on second disposal of HF - XHEEKEENRESRAFE

Best Future:

Cash consideration received on 1 June 2018 n=

Tai United Holdings Limited Annual Report 2019
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A PR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE-FT—hF+-A=+—HILFE

43. DISPOSAL AND DEREGISTRATION OF
SUBSIDIARIES, A LIMITED PARTNERSHIP,
A STRUCTURED ENTITY AND AN
ASSOCIATE (cContinued)

(f) Disposal of Tai United Insurance
Brokers Limited (“Tai United
Insurance”)

On 26 June 2018, the Group had entered into sales and
purchase agreements with an independent third parties
to dispose of its entire equity interest in Tai United
Insurance, which engaged in provision of insurance
brokerage in Hong Kong at a total cash consideration
of approximately HK$2,880,000. The disposal was
completed on 31 October 2018, on which date the
Group lost control of Tai United Insurance. The net
assets of Tai United Insurance at the date of disposal
were as follows:

43,

EREHEMBELR  BRE
/L\\E.I N nl:l*g’l\g':g ;& FEﬁH%
— NN )

() HEANRRELERAR

(T RFMEREZ D)

R-ZEBE—NEAXA-+<8 AEEH
—EBUEZFERIVEE RS LIRS
R %92,880,0007% 7T & H 7 K MR
B (REBNBRBELER) 22BR
E-HEER T N\E+A=+—8
TR RZ B AEEXEAH KRR
ZIEHIE  AFRBAR L EBHANEE
SFEMT

HK$'000
FHET
Analysis of assets and liabilities over which & EZRFIENEEREBES 7 :
control was lost:
Property, plant and equipment W - BB REE 207
Intangible asset BVEE 500
Accounts receivable JE W BR 3K 120
Other receivables, deposits and prepayments Hith eI RIE ~ L& RIER I 6
Bank balances and cash RITEHBR KRR 580
Accounts payable R BRE IR (517)
Accrued liabilities and other payables EsraEREAmEN KA (294)
Net assets disposed of BHEEEFE 602
HK$'000
FHET
Gain on disposal of Tai United Insurance: HERRRBAWE :
Consideration received BB 2,880
Net assets disposed of EHEBEEFE (602)
Gain on disposal included in other gains and losses & Uz (5F A b Uk 25 & E518) 2,278
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#r e TS ERR M

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #HZE —=

43. DISPOSAL AND DEREGISTRATION OF
SUBSIDIARIES, A LIMITED PARTNERSHIP,

A STRUCTURED ENTITY AND AN
ASSOCIATE (Continued)

(f) Disposal of Tai United Insurance

(9)

Brokers Limited (“Tai United
Insurance”) (Continued)

—NAFT=ZRA=+—HLFE

43. Hj%&%ﬁ‘ér!ﬁ%gﬂ BERE
&N T (@)

() HEANRRELERAT
TARRB) 80

HK$'000
FHT
Net cash inflow arising on disposal of Tai HEAMRBRELENRSRANFE
United Insurance:
Cash consideration ReRE 2,880
Less: bank balances and cash disposed of B BHERITESRMRES (580)
Net cash inflow HERAFHE 2,300
Deregistration of subsidiaries, a limited (g) FEMBLAT -  BREELTE

partnership and a structured entity

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group
had deregistered i/ R BIREBE R AR (AR

RiGBHER

REE-ZT—NF+A=+—H8H1
¢§'$%E%%ﬁwﬁﬁiﬁﬁﬁé

& %) (Hangzhou Hong Nong Limited Partnership*), %1% (BIRE ) - Haitong Dynamic
Haitong Dynamic Fund and ESR A= Z 5 AR A & Fund R ERAZEHBER AT (MBEIE
(Guangdong Tai Chong Trading Co. Ltd*) (collectively FIHERE]) o
referred to as the “Deregistered Entities”).
HK$'000
FET

Cumulative exchange differences reclassified
from equity to profit or loss and net gains

on deregistration of the Deregistered Entities

included in other gains and losses

AHEEHEREE ZHERENHER
B R F R RETELZE GTAR
i W25 K &5 18)
1,045

* The English names are for identification purpose only.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A PR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z = F—hFE+-A=+—BIFE

44. CHARGES ON ASSETS

45.

The Group has the following charges on assets for borrowings
as set out in Note 32 at the end of the reporting period:

44. EEEKH

REBRHERRER AT BEFRFER
YA E R (LN P TE 32 Pk ) -

2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000
—ZE-hEF —E-N\F
FET FHET
Investment properties KEMZE
— Residential property units located in the —REBEZ EEYHEEN
UK (Note) (BftE) 806,985 856,463

Note: The investment properties, insurance proceeds and together
with a floating charge over all the assets of certain subsidiaries
of the Group were pledged to a bank to secure for a bank
borrowing with an outstanding amount of approximately
HK$282,445,000 (2018: HK$427,573,000).

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The purpose of the share option scheme is to enable the
board of directors to grant options to selected employee or
proposed employee (whether full time or part time employee,
including any director) of any member of the Group or
any invested entity, any supplier of goods or services,
any customer, any person or entity that provide research,
development or other technological support, any shareholders
or any participants who contribute to the development and
growth of the Group or any invested entity (the “Eligible
Participants”) as incentives or rewards for their contribution
or potential contribution to the Group and/or to recruit and
retain high calibre Eligible Participants and to attract human
resources that are valuable to the Group.

MisE : AEBEREDE - REABREERS TH
BRAAMBEERMZEFDLIERT
R17 - E B KREEIRITEE 4 282,445,000
BT (=T — )\ : 427,573,000/ 7T) 2 #&
Re

45, fE IR REST &l

BEETESENAREFTRURAMEENRN
SEEMKE QAN EMRE B RN EME
BdFEER (THE2BAFRBMESR BT
MER) EAEMHRBHER  EEAEP
TR B SR E MR SOR M E A L E RS
EARRABSEEEANEMREERNER
RERFELERNEASEE ((REKR2E
EDROBERE FREBURE  REH
HASEELAATRELOTR - &R
FRBEEAHRNEERSEERBREIHA
SEEEENANER -

AMZERBRRE —T—NFFR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
R BTEImRARMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z —FE—hFE+=-A=+—BItFE

45. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed by the shareholders
on 17 September 2015, the Company adopted a new share
option scheme (the “New Share Option Scheme”) on 17
September 2015 and shall be valid and effective for a period
of ten years commencing on the date of adoption of the
New Share Option Scheme (i.e. 16 September 2025) unless
terminated earlier by shareholders in general meeting. The
number of shares which may be allotted and issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted under the New
Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes
of the Company must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the
total shares in issue on the date of approval of the New Share
Option Scheme by the shareholders at the annual general
meeting (i.e. 125,091,243 shares) (the “Scheme Mandate
Limit”) unless the Company obtains a fresh approval from
shareholders to renew the Scheme Mandate Limit on the
basis that the maximum number of shares in respect of which
any options outstanding and yet to be exercised under the
New Share Option Scheme and any other schemes shall not
exceed 30% of the issued share capital of the Company from
time to time.

The Scheme Mandate Limit was changed to 525,001,985
as at the date of passing of the ordinary resolution granted
the refreshment of the Scheme Mandate Limit (i.e. 5 June
2017). The refreshed Scheme Mandate Limit represents 10%
of the total number of ordinary shares of the Company in
issue amounted to 5,250,019,852 shares as at 5 June 2017.
The options may be granted under the refreshed Scheme
Mandate Limit do not include options that are outstanding,
cancelled or lapsed as at 5 June 2017.

The terms of the New Share Option Scheme provide that in
granting options under the New Share Option Scheme, the
board of directors may offer to grant any options subject to
such terms and conditions in relation to the minimum period
of the options to be held and/or the performance criteria to
be satisfied before such options can be exercised and/or any
other terms as the board of directors may determine in its
absolute discretion. The board of directors will also have the
discretion in determining the subscription price in respect of
any options, provided that the relevant requirements in the
Listing Rules are complied with.

Tai United Holdings Limited Annual Report 2019

45, fE IR REST &l m)

BERER-_ZE—RAFNAT+EtHBBEN—
BEEBERER ARRIER-_ZE—HELA
+t BEA— BB S ([T
2D FEFBERESEEMABHEIZZ
—RFALATAB)RER  BHTF BIE
MRRMR IR A S EIRAIAR L o 4RI BE 37 A%
T B ]2 7R A &) 4F fA] E A BE AR R 5T S &Y
BT M RAT{ERE AR AR AT 1 AT T AR 28 R B
THROHEE  EHTHBARRAKREA
FERe FHEFERETE BHERTRS
B EE10% (BN 125,091,243 % A% 1) ([5t 2]
BAEREE])  BRIEADAERREHAES
TR R B EEABRIEFERETEI R
FEAE AT BB R B & R 1T/ E {7 5B A%
AT RO BREEE TSBBAR AT
A E TR AN 2 30% ©

FTEIRERENBARLEFTEIRERE
ZEBREREAA_ZE—+tEARA)
BT 5525,001,985 % o &L B a8 R T
EARRRZ BBITERBRRMDBEZ10%
R —+F;Xx AR HES,250,019,852 B A%
Do ARBIRIBLTE 25 B ERFE A X
HERE ETeRER-_Z—tFARA
MATTE BrEHE R BEARHE

¥R BOE R 81 IRSRE - IRIBFT B AEST
ARLBERER EERAUBNRLEME
Pk WiEMBRAITEBRENARER
BRENZREHR R RAEINREBED
GERREGER/SEERA2ENBEEEN
R E A 6K - - LW AR A BRI
T EZRTHAENBRERBEMER
RNREE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z = F—hFE+-A=+—BIFE

45. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 45. BB ESTEl ()

The exercise price of the option is to be determined by the
board of directors provided always that it shall be at least
the higher of (i) the closing price of the shares as stated in
the daily quotations sheet issued by the Stock Exchange
on the date of offer for the grant of the option (which is
deemed to be the date of grant if the offer for the grant of
the option is accepted by the Eligible Participant), which must
be a business day; (ii) the average closing price of the shares
as stated in the daily quotations sheets issued by the Stock
Exchange for the five business days immediately preceding
the date of grant, provided that the exercise price of the
option shall in no event be less than the nominal amount of
one share; and (jii) the nominal value of a share.

An offer for the grant of options must be accepted within
twenty one days inclusive of the day on which such offer was
made. The amount payable to the Company on acceptance
of the offer for the grant of an option is HK$1.00. The
maximum number of shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of options granted and to be granted under the New
Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of
the Company to any Eligible Participant (including cancelled,
exercised and outstanding options), in any 12-month period
up to the date of grant shall not exceed 1% of the Shares
in issue from time to time. Any further grant of options
in excess of such limit must be separately approved by
shareholders with such Eligible Participant and his close
associates abstaining from voting.

No share options were granted under the New Share Option
Scheme during the years ended 31 December 2019 and
2018.

BEENTEEREZRETE  HAEZLR
TIH=FFNEEE  (\NBORHOBERE
ER(AR/RXRHH) (HENRLBREES
BERsRERR  AEAREAH) BMRME
HEERMIIA RO KTE : () ZREE A
WA A EEX AR E R RERMAIEK
FHRTHE  EBRENTEEETME
AT PSER B EE K (i) R EVEE °

ROBRENENARENBEHE_+—R
(BHEZB) AEER - AR AREMARLE
MEBRENENERNARBNSER1.008
TLe REERL AHIEMEMI12(EARE
AR 43 B AR AR AT B R AR 1 B R EL At BB A
AEREMNEERSEERHEE TREN
BRE(BEDEE SITERHRITENE
M) BITEME BT RESETHRN K
SHE  THREBBTREETRNE1% © i
AE-—TREBHZRBNERE VAL
BREIUHME MEREEERSEEREY
BAHERRER -

RBEE-F-NAFR-F-NE+=7
=t —HLEFE SEREE R A RERE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z —FE—hFE+=-A=+—BItFE

46. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES
ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities
arising from financing activities, including both cash and non-
cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are
those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be,
classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows

from financing activities.

46. REEFBHELENEEHNHR

TRV AEEREZHELNAE

ERSREHLH

MEBETIER

Py}
EnE

NN =R
FLE

28 (8
)2 FiE - MEEEEL

BRLY EE) RERE

RenERTOPRMETHRENEZARE -

Amount
due to
Tai Capital
Dividends (HK) Other Lease Other
payable Limited loan Borrowings liabilities liabilities Total
Eff A%
Bx(5%)
ARAR
ERRE ZRE HHER %8 HESE HtER @it
HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
Thn AL THL T Thn AL THL
At1 January 2018 RZE-\E-A-H = 192 121847 2,824,756 - 1203767 4,150,562
Financing cash flows (Note) RERE TS (W) (1,500,456 (19) (593) (2,441371) - (1254157)  (5,196,769)
Non-cash transactions: HRERS:
Foreign exchange translation HERE - - (6,683  (19440) - 4974 (21,149)
Profits attributable to the third parties' interestin -~ B=FRNGALENRERY
consolidated structured entities EREGE - - - - - 45416 45416
Dividends declared BEERRE 1,500,456 - - - - - 1500456
Finance costs HBRE - - 9014 62,681 - - TI6%
At 31 December 2018 RZZ-\FtZA=1-H - - 13585 426,626 - - 550211
Adjustment on HKFRS 16 HERMBREENZ 6%
g - - - - 1901 - 190
At 1 January 2019 (restated) RZE-NE-A-R(BE5) - - 13585 426626 19,014 - 569,205
Financing cash flows (Note) BEREHE(NR) (1,050,004) - - (170532) (6,620) - (1,227,156)
Non-cash transactions: HReRS:
New leases entered/lease modified BRIFEE/BIHE - - - - 1511 - 151
Foreign exchange translation HEHE - - (621) 10537 116 = 8,026
Dividends declared BERRE 1,050,004 - - - - - 1,050,004
Finance costs BHRA - - - 14840 451 - 159
Disposal of subsidiaries HERBRA - - - - (11391) - (11391)
At31 December 2019 R-Z-nE+-A=1-B - - 098 841 3081 - w5510
Note: The financing cash flows mainly represent repayment of Mist: MEREGREFTEREEERRHMERE

borrowings and other liabilities and payment of dividends and
exclude other capital contribution through disposal of financial

assets at FVTPL.
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A PR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z = F—hFE+-A=+—BIFE

47. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

47. KRR X EM B A RNFE

Details of principal subsidiaries at 31 December 2019 and RZB-NFRZZE-NEF+_A=+—8"
2018 are as follows: AEBEFZMBRATMFEET -

Issued and fully

Place of incorporation paid share capital/
or establishment/ registered and Effective equity interest
Name of subsidiary operation paid-up capital ~ attributable to the Group  Principal activities
BlEVET Ve BEARBERAE/
MEAREH EERY AMRARER rAEERGERRE TEXH
2019 2018
“2-hE Z—Z-)\f
Directly held subsidiaries
ERBEHNELA
Bestway Group International Limited BVI US$1,100 100% 100%  Investment holding
RBRARS 1,100%7T RERR
Tectron Pacific Limited BVI US$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
ERRLEHE 1%7 REER
Wide Flourish Investments Limited BVI US$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
BEREARAR EERLHS %7 REZR
Indirectly held subsidiaries
BREEHNEL A
Prolific Rich Limited BVI US$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
SHBRAH EERLHS %7 REZR
Grand Shining Limited BVI US$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
WERRAT ERRREHE 1%7 REER
Giant Silver Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% 100%  Investment holding and
trading husiness
FRERRA A 137 REBRREH%H
RRREER ORI BRAF* The PRC HK$400,000,000 100% 100%  Trading business
i 400,000,000 7 B5%%
Sino United Energy Pte. Limited Singapore US§1 100% 100%  Commodity trading business
(2018: US$25,000,000) and security trading
business
Gl (E BAmRHEBREFR D
(Z2-N\%: %
25,000,000 7T)
Tai United Asset Management Pte. Ltd. Singapore US$1,000,000 - 100%  Security trading business
(Note ¢
Gl 1,000,000% 7T (Bt c) EXRHEH
REHZAREEEERAT The PRC RMB500,000,000 100% 100%  Inactive
f AR %500,000,0007C EEXH
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z —FE—hFE+=-A=+—BItFE

47. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

47. X QB EMB QA BN FEE @)

(Continued)
Issued and fully
Place of incorporation paid share capital/
or establishment/ registered and Effective equity interest
Name of subsidiary operation paid-up capital ~ attributable to the Group  Principal activities
EMALHAL, BEARBERAE/
WEARERE EELY AMRARER FREEEERRE TEEH
2019 2018
“E-nE TN\
Indirectly held subsidiaries (Continued)
BEREEHNEL A (F)
Xizang Hongrong Assets Management The PRC RMB900,000,000 100% 100%  Distressed debt asset
Co, Ltd* management
BREREEERARAA! mE AR%900,000,0007C TREKEEER
RAEREEERAERAR The PRC RMB847,451,000 - 100%  Investment holding
(Note ¢)
el ARI847,451,00070 (zEc) REER
IRERRERRERAR" The PRC RMB10,000,000 75% 75%  Trading business
e AR 10,000,00070 B5EH
Kainarwolfram LLC Mongolia US$100,000 100% 100%  Mining and exploitation of
natural resources
FHE 100,000% 7T RERBERRER
Ilkh Uuliin Erdenes LLC Mongolia US$100,000 100% 100%  Mining and exploitation of
natural resources
G 100,000% 7 RERBEXRER
San Siu Company Limited Hong Kong HK$2 100% 100%  Inactive
Z)ERAT A 2B EELH
Citi-Elite Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% 100%  Inactive
EBERAT Bl 18T EELHK
Tai United Management Company Limited ~ The UK GBP1 100% 100%  Investment holding
e 1388 REER
RCBG Residential (UK) Limited The UK GBP0.01 100% 100%  Property Investment
HE 0.01 %4 NERE
MRB Residential Limited The UK GBP1 100% 100%  Property Investment
B 185 WERE
MRB Residential Partners LLP The UK - 100% 100%  Property Investment
(Note a)
EEEl UET) ESE
Haitong Dynamic Fund Cayman Islands US$200,000,000 - 100%  Fund investment
(Note d) (Note b)
g 200,000,000% 7T GET) (fiftp)  He%E
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47. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY
(Continued)

Notes:

(@)  This entity is a partnership established in the UK. No registered
share capital available.

(b)  The above-mentioned interest holding does not empower the
Group for any voting right since they are fund investment.

(c)  The equity interests of these subsidiaries were disposed or
deregistered during the year ended 31 December 2019.

(d)  Haitong Dynamic Fund has been deregistered during the year
ended 31 December 2019.

= Established as a wholly foreign owned enterprise in the PRC.

& Established as a limited liability company in the PRC.

All the principal subsidiaries operate predominantly in their
respective places of incorporation/establishment.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group which, in
the opinion of the Directors, principally affected the results or
net assets of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries
would, in the opinion of the Directors, result in particulars of
excessive length.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities subsisting
at the end of the reporting period or at any time during the
reporting period.

47. KRB EMB QA BN FEE @)

ZERBASNEBRINABEE - UEAH
FEM AR -

(b) LSRRI T AREEMEERE
REARKERESRE -

© BE-T-NE+-A=+-HLEE %
ZHBATRIED S R -

d BE-_Z-NF+_A=+—RBLEE"
Haitong Dynamic Fund 2 5 84 °

* RHPBERIRIEBERE -
f MBI ABRDF -

PrE X 2B ARG NEER ZEMRL,
PRI 2T IR EE T BET -

EEZRABRERIEAEEZHMBRE &
AEBRELREEFEREERE -E=F
RRAEIEMMBRAR ZHBTERRESB
RILEK °

150 BT BB A R 10 R o HA R Bk S o A R (E T B
BEEMFEERES -
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z —FE—hFE+=-A=+—BItFE

48. EVENT AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

An outbreak of respiratory illness caused by novel coronavirus
(the "COVID-19") has been expanded across the PRC and
globally. Since then, major cities in the PRC have taken
emergency public health measures and draconian measures
including travel restrictions in an effort to contain the
coronavirus outbreak.

IREBBREREBERAR, ZrEER ORI AR
A A and FAfE 2= B E EE 2 AR A A, indirectly wholly-
owned subsidiaries of the Company have been directed by
the local government to facilitate the prevention and control
measures of the novel coronavirus pneumonia epidemic
(the “Epidemic”), including expanding the Chinese New
Year holidays, and adopted safety reparations for resuming
operation under the guidance and approval of the local
government.

Further, the Group, including 4t R FEB @ EREGR A 7,
R EER ORI BR AR and AR EAREEEEA
R 2 7], have implemented prevention and control measures
for the Epidemic, such as keep close track of the employees’
health situation and the development of the Epidemic, to
ensure the Group’s continued capacity to operate its business.

The directors of the Company will continue to assess the
impact of the Epidemic on the Group’s operation and financial
performance and closely monitor the Group’s exposure to the
risks and uncertainties in connection with the Epidemic.
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49. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 49. KRR B MR R KR REE

AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

2019 2018
HK$’'000 HK$'000
—E-hHF —E-)N\F
FHExT FET
Non-current assets FRBEE
Interests in subsidiaries A S ENGIPA 3,061,600 3,970,568
Property, plant and equipment Y - BB R 1,864 3,308
Right-of-use assets ERAEEE 1,545 -
Other non-current assets HEIEmBEEE 6,000 6,000
3,071,009 3,979,876
Current assets REEE
Other receivables, deposits and prepayments E b EURFRIB « L& MFEF B 1,300 1,430
Financial assets at fair value through profit or LA ETABZZ EMEE
loss 10,112 -
Bank balances and cash RITHEBR LIRS 41,506 914,009
52,918 915,439
Current liabilities REAE
Accrued liabilities and other payables FEET B & R E M 5KIE 1,785 3,230
Amounts due to subsidiaries ARG B R 1,271,861 1,522,173
Lease liabilities HERE 1,583 =
1,275,229 1,525,403
Net current liabilities REBEEFE (1,222,311) (609,964)
Total assets less current liabilities HEERRBAES 1,848,698 3,369,912
Capital and reserves EXRHE
Share capital AR 7N 262,501 262,501
Reserves % 1,586,197 3,107,411
Total equity R 1,848,698 3,369,912
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z —FE—hFE+=-A=+—BItFE

49. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

49. 7N A B B Bk o 3k R ek 4 ()

(Continued)
Movement in the Company’s reserves AAEREED
Other
Contributed capital
surplus contribution Accumulated
reserve reserve losses Total
BazH Hix&
1 1 1 ag
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THT THx T
At 1 January 2018 RZZ-N\E-F—H 4,991,186 = (493,431) 4,497,755
Dividends recognised as distributions AEDELZRE (1,500,456) - = (1,500,456)
Other capital contribution EirE - 335,536 - 335,536
Loss and total comprehensive expense FERBREAMTES
for the year - - (225,424) (225,424)
At 31 December 2018 RZZ-\$t-A=t-H 3,490,730 335,536 (718,855) 3,107,411
Dividends recognised as distributions RRDILIEE (1,050,004) - - (1,050,004)
Loss and total comprehensive expense FEBRRZAMTES
for the year - - (471,210) (471,210)
At 31 December 2019 RZZ-NETZA=+-H 2,440,726 335,536 (1,190,065) 1,586,197
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Five-year Financial Summary

HFEHHEME

The consolidated results, assets and liabilities of the Group for the ~ AEEBT R MM S REBE 2GR EAEE B E
last five financial reporting periods as extracted from the audited ~ M B {& (B A EBEBEZ LG A P ERE)
consolidated financial statements of the Group are summarised W

below:
For the
nine months For the
ended year ended
31 December 31 March
BEtZA BE=ZA
For the year ended 31 December =+-H =t-H
BZ+-A=t-ALEE LA fEA IHEE
2019 2018 2017 2016 2016
“E-hE —Z-N\E e ZE-RE —E-RF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER FEL T T FHL
RESULTS E3
Revenue less net investment osses BEREEERTE 25,927 4127877 11,243,596 8,102,730 1,121,247
(Loss) profit for the year/period ER/ SR (BR) &R (246,770) (553,393) 312,091 41,107 (116,074)
Attributable to: AT ATEL :
Owners of the Company LNGIE =N (246,440) (553,243) 312,09 41,263 (116,204)
Non-controlling interests FERER (330) (150) (5) (156) 130
(246,770) (553,393) 312,091 41,107 (116,074)
As at 31 December As at 31 March
M+=A=1+-H R=A=1+-H
2019 2018 2017 2016 2016
“E-hE ZT-N\EF “E—tf ZERF S
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TAL FEL TAR FEL
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERER
Total assets BEE 2,642,309 4,372,770 11,169,022 10,274,019 1,887,077
Total liabilities agE (573,360) (999,748) (5,986,016) (6,041,789) (1,029,167)
Net assets FEE 2,068,949 3,373,022 5,183,006 4,232,230 857,910
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Particulars of Properties

22

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
REW=

Attributable interest
Location Usage Tenure of the Group
b 31k Jaikes FH FEBHELER
6 Buckingham Gate & Residential premises for rental and/or ~ Freehold interest 100%
Flats 1,2, 3 & 5 at capital appreciation KAFERE
7-9 Buckingham Gate, HREENERKEEAEE

London, United Kingdom
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